<u>Social, Technical and Policy Barriers in the Green Hydrogen</u> <u>Implementation: A Case Study of Pakistan</u>



By

Engr. Muqaddas Kamal

(Registration No: 00000364643)

Thesis Supervisor: Dr. Shahbaz Abbas

Department of Engineering Management College of Electrical and Mechanical Engineering (CEME) National University of Sciences & Technology (NUST) Islamabad, Pakistan

(2025)

THESIS ACCEPTANCE CERTIFICATE

Certified that final copy of MS/MPhil thesis entitled "<u>Social, Technical and Policy Barriers in</u> the Green Hydrogen Implementation: A Case Study of Pakistan" written by <u>Muqaddas Kamal</u> Registration No. <u>00000364643</u> of MS (Engineering Management) has been vetted by undersigned, found complete in all respects as per NUST Statutes/ Regulations, is free of plagiarism, errors and mistakes and is accepted as partial fulfillment for award of MS/M Phil degree. It is further certified that necessary amendments as pointed out by GEC members of the scholar have also been incorporated in the said thesis.

Signature:

Name of Supervisor: <u>Dr. Shahbaz Abbas</u> Dated: <u>17 Jan 2025</u>

Signature: Ahmad Name of HOD: Dr. Yasir Dated: 17 Jan 2025 Signature (Dean/Principal) Dated: -1 7 JAN 2025

DEDICATION

Dedicated to my exceptional parents, adored siblings and caring friends whose tremendous support and cooperation led me to this wonderful achievement

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Due praises are given to Allah Almighty, the Creator, and the Sustainer, without whose instruction not a single minute pass. He who has given us forte and blessed us with plenteousness without any measure. There are no words which can do justice to Him. I am empowered to Read and Write only by Him, who has bestowed upon me the knowledge I carry forward. I would first like to acknowledge EME College NUST that enabled me to conduct the research. I would like to extend much appreciation and gratitude to my advisor Dr. Shahbaz Abbas whose countless inspiration and guidance made it possible to complete my research work. In addition, Dr. Yasir and Dr. Sundus in the capacity of committee members; gave me guidance and feedback throughout the thesis process. I sincerely express my solemn gratitude with earnest sense of reverence to my parents for their encouragement, heartfelt prayers and kind wishes for successful completion of my studies along with this research work. Specially, I want to thank my siblings and caring friends from all my heart for always supporting and motivating me at every point of my research journey.

Engr. Muqaddas Kamal

Abstract

The transition to renewable energy systems demands innovative storage solutions to address social, technological, and policy challenges, as conventional storage methods drive emissions, compromising climate stability and energy security, making green hydrogen storage a pivotal alternative for a cleaner, resilient future. This research explores critical challenges hindering the efficiency and feasibility of green hydrogen storage systems through a comprehensive multimethod approach. Key challenges identified through comprehensive literature analysis, include economic recession, regional heterogeneity, cross-investor differences, political interference, digitalization and technological integration, and occupational health and safety. An agent-based model (ABM) is developed to identify the actors, agents and the decision makers who are responsible for the conducive implementation of green hydrogen storage system. After the simulation of ABM in NetLogo, an empirical validation is performed through 17 semi-structured interviews from the experts working in the manufacturing industry. The Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP) was employed to quantify results, ensuring robustness through consistency ratio checks. Sensitivity analysis, applied with 5% adjustments to the pairwise comparison matrix, reinforced the reliability of findings. The comparative analysis revealed a weak correlation (0.399) between NetLogo values and AHP weights that are further analyzed with hybrid validation indices. The outcomes emphasize actionable insights for addressing systemic social, technological and policy challenges in the adoption of green hydrogen storage system. This study contributes to the discourse on renewable energy systems by providing a structured framework to assess and mitigate the multifaceted challenges in green hydrogen integration, particularly in the manufacturing sector.

Keywords: Green hydrogen storage system, Agent-based modelling, Social challenges, Technological challenges, Policy challenges, Hybrid Validation Matrix, Sensitivity analysis.

Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	i
Abstract	ii
Table of Contents	iii
List of Figures	ix
List of Tables	X
List of Abbreviations	xi
Chapter 1: Introduction	
1.1 Types of Hydrogen	
1.2 Types of Renewable Energy Sources for Producing Green Hydrogen	7
1.2.1 Solar Energy	7
1.2.2 Wind Energy	
1.2.3 Hydropower	
1.2.4 Biomass Energy	
1.2.5 Geothermal Energy	9
1.3 Hydrogen Production Methods	9
1.3.1 Steam Methane Reforming (SMR)	9
1.3.2 Electrolysis of Water	
1.3.3 Thermochemical Water Splitting	
1.3.4 Biomass Gasification	
1.4 Green Hydrogen Storage Applications	
1.4.1 Electricity Generation	

1.4.3 Industrial Applications	16
1.4.4 Green Hydrogen Storage as a Sustainable Energy Solution	16
1.6 Climate Change Context in Pakistan	17
1.6.1 Vulnerability to Climate Change	17
1.6.2 Economic Impacts of Climate Change	17
1.6.3 Need for Climate Adaptation and Mitigation Strategies	18
1.7 Advantages of Green Hydrogen Storage Adoption	18
1.7.1 Decarbonization and Climate Targets	18
1.7.2 Socio-Economic Development Objectives	19
1.7.3 Addressing Energy Access in Rural Areas	19
1.7.4 Enhancing Energy Security in Pakistan through Green Hydrogen Storage	19
1.8 Research Rationale	20
1.9 Research Objectives	21
1.10 Research Questions	22
1.11 Research Gap	22
Chapter 2: Literature Review	24
2.1 Sustainability and Its Significance	25
2.1.1 What is Sustainability?	25
2.1.2 Role of the Manufacturing Sector in Sustainability	25
2.1.3 Diverse Academic Perspectives on Sustainability	27
2.2 Social, Technological, and Policy Challenges	28
	28
2.2.1 Social Challenges	20

2.2.1.2 Occupational Health and Safety	30
2.2.2 Technological Challenges	31
2.2.2.1 Economic Recession	31
2.2.2.2 Digitalization and Technological Integration	32
2.2.3 Policy Challenges	33
2.2.3.1 Cross-Investor Differences	33
2.2.3.2 Political Interference	34
2.3 Global Energy Trends and Pakistan's Energy Landscape	35
2.3.1 Energy Use Inequality	36
2.3.2 Emissions Inequality	38
2.3.3 Challenges in Pakistan's Energy Transition	38
2.4 Comparative Analysis of Green Hydrogen Adoption: Pakistan vs. International	
Context	39
Chapter 3: Methodology	42
3.1 Phase 1: Development of Agent-Based Model for Green Hydrogen Storage	45
3.1.1 Agent Based Modelling (ABM)	45
3.2 Phase 2: Expert Validation and Prioritization Using AHP	49
3.2.1 Collection of Primary Data	49
3.2.2 Applying Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP)	50
3.3 Validation of AHP Results	51
3.3.1 Consistency Ratio Check	51
3.3.2 Sensitivity Analysis	52
3.3 Phase 3: Construction of the Hybrid Validation Matrix	53
3.3.1 Why a Hybrid Validation Approach?	53

3.3.2 Construction of the Hybrid Validation Matrix	
3.3.3 Hybrid Validation Index Calculation	
3.3.4 Visual Presentation of Results	
3.3.5 Impact of the Hybrid Validation Matrix	55
Chapter 4: Data Analysis and Results	
4.1 NetLogo Simulations	
4.1.1 Economic Recession	
4.1.2 Regional Heterogeneity	60
4.1.3 Political Interference	
4.1.4 Lack of Digitalization	
4.1.5 Cross-Investor Differences	64
4.1.6 Occupational Health and Safety (OHS)	66
4.1.7 Combined Decision Variables	67
4.2 Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP)	
4.2.1 Population Estimation	69
4.2.1.1 Delphi Method	69
4.2.1.2 Sector Analysis Method	
4.2.1.3 Overlap Calculation for Assumptions	
4.2.1.4 Weightage for Reliability	
4.2.1.5 Final Population Weightage	
4.2.2 Sample Size Calculation	
4.2.3 Primary Data Collection: Selection Criteria	

4.2.4 Pairwise Comparison Matrix	75
4.3 Validation of Results	80
4.3.1 Calculating Consistency Ratio	80
4.3.2 Sensitivity Analysis	
4.4 Hybrid Validation Matrix	
4.4.1 Gap Analysis	
4.4.2 Calculation Correlation between NetLogo thresholds and AHP weights	85
4.4.3 Integration of NetLogo and AHP Results	
Chapter 5: Discussion, Limitation and Conclusions	
5.1 Final Rank Analysis	
5.2 Social Challenges	
5.2.1 Regional Heterogeneity	
5.2.2 Occupational Health and Safety (OHS): Workforce Vulnerabilities	
5.3 Technological Challenges	
5.3.1 Economic Recession: A Catalyst for Delays and Underfunding	
5.3.2 Lack of Digitalization: A Technological Gap	
5.4 Policy Challenges	
5.4.1 Political Interference: A Challenge to Continuity	
5.4.2 Cross-Investor Differences: Stakeholder Misalignment	
5.5 Cross-Cutting Insights for Pakistan	
5.6 Practical Implications	102
5.7 Limitations	108
5.8 Conclusion	110

5.9 Future Research	
References	

List of Figures

Figure 1: Schematic of traditional methane reforming unit for hydrogen production (Adapted
from Cecilia et al., 2022)
Figure 2: Hydrogen production through electrolysis
Figure 3: Production of Green Hydrogen through Thermochemical Splitting (Adapted from
Asundi, 2015)
Figure 4: Biomass Gasification
Figure 5: Methodological Framework
Figure 6: Agent based Model Overview (Author's Own Work,2024) 47
Figure 7: Agent Based Model Interactions (Author's own work, 2024)
Figure 8: Economic Recession Trend obtained from NetLogo Simulations (Author's own work,
2024)
Figure 9: Regional Heterogeneity obtained from NetLogo Simulations (Author's own work.
2024)
Figure 10: Political Interference Trend obtained from NetLogo Simulations (Author's own work,
2024)
Figure 11: Lack of Digitalization and Technological Integration Trend obtained from NetLogo
Simulations (Author's own work, 2024)
Figure 12: Cross-Investor Differences Trend obtained from NetLogo Simulations (Author's own
work, 2024)
Figure 13: Occupational Health and Safety Trend obtained from NetLogo Simulations (Author's
own work,2024)
Figure 14: Histogram of AHP Priority Vector (Author's own work, 2024)
Figure 15: Normalized Weights from AHP Priority Vectors (Author's own work, 2024)
Figure 16: : Sensitivity Analysis (Author's own work, 2024)
Figure 17: Gap Analysis (Author's own work, 2024)
Figure 18: Correlation between NetLogo Thresholds and AHP Weights (Author's own work,
2024)
Figure 19: Hybrid Validation Index Histogram (Author's own work, 2024)

List of Tables

Table 1: Potential of Renewable Energy in Pakistan (Adapted from Habib et al., 2021) 5
Table 2: Types of Hydrogen (Adapted from Davey, 2024)
Table 3: Comparative Analysis of Different Storage Technologies 14
Table 4: Random Index (RI) values for matrices of various sizes (Adapted from Saaty, 1987) 52
Table 5: NetLogo Simulations Showing Variables' Fluctuation Trends (Author's own work,
2024)
Table 6: Primary Data Collection Criteria (Author's own work,2024)
Table 7: Pairwise Comparison Matrix (Author's own work, 2024) 76
Table 8: Normalized Pairwise Comparison Matrix (Author's own work, 2024) 77
Table 9: Priority Vector (Author's own work, 2024)78
Table 10: Sensitivity Analysis (Decrease/ Increase by 5%) (Author's own work, 2024)
Table 11: Hybrid Validation Matrix (Author's own work, 2024) 88

List of Abbreviations

ABM:	Agent-Based	Modeling
------	-------------	----------

AHP: Analytic Hierarchy Process

AI: Artificial Intelligence SD: System Dynamics

- **ARL:** Attock Refinery Limited
- **BP:** British Petroleum
- **CBAM:** Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism
- **CCS:** Carbon Capture and Storage
- **CI:** Consistency Index
- **CO₂:** Carbon dioxide
- **CR:** Consistency Ratio
- **CSR:** Corporate Social Responsibility
- **DES:** Discrete Event Simulation
- **EEG:** Renewable Energy Sources Act (Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz)
- FAO: Food and Agriculture Organization
- FCEV: Fuel Cell Electric Vehicle
- FH2R: Fukushima Hydrogen Energy Research Field
- GHG: Greenhouse Gas
- **GW:** Gigawatt
- H2: Hydrogen
- **HESC:** Hydrogen Energy Supply Chain
- **HVI:** Hybrid Validation Index
- **IEA:** International Energy Agency

IoT: Internet of Things

KWh: Kilowatt-hour

MCDM: Multiple-Criteria Decision Analysis

METI: Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (Japan)

MW: Megawatt

NEPRA: National Electric Power Regulatory Authority (Pakistan)

OGDCL: Oil & Gas Development Company Limited

OHS: Occupational Health and Safety

RI: Random Index

SAIDI: System Average Interruption Duration Index

SAIFI: System Average Interruption Frequency Index

SDGs: Sustainable Development Goals

SDPI: Sustainable Development Policy Institute

SMR: Steam Methane Reforming

SMR: Steam Methane Reforming

T&D: Transmission and Distribution

TOPSIS: Technique for Order of Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution

UNFCCC: United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

OECD: Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development

Chapter 1: Introduction

This chapter provides a comprehensive introduction to green hydrogen storage, emphasizing its role as a sustainable energy carrier for global decarbonization efforts. The chapter begins by categorizing hydrogen types and highlighting the environmental advantages of green hydrogen produced through renewable sources such as solar, wind, hydropower, biomass, and geothermal energy. Various hydrogen production methods, including electrolysis, thermochemical water splitting, and biomass gasification, are discussed. A key focus is placed on green hydrogen storage technologies, with a comparative analysis of their technical efficiency, scalability, carbon emissions and applicability across sectors. The chapter also explores Pakistan's vulnerability to climate change, emphasizing the potential of green hydrogen storage to support energy security, industrial sustainability, and decarbonization goals. The research rationale, objectives, and knowledge gaps identified in the chapter establish a foundation for the literature review in the following chapter, which will critically analyze storage technologies and global advancements in the field, along with challenges in green hydrogen storage implementation.

Green hydrogen, also known as renewable hydrogen, is a clean and sustainable form of hydrogen produced using renewable energy sources such as wind, solar, or hydropower to electrolyze water. This process splits water molecules into hydrogen and oxygen, with the hydrogen being captured for use as a clean energy carrier. Unlike conventional hydrogen production methods, which often rely on fossil fuels and emit greenhouse gases, green hydrogen production generates net-zero carbon emissions, making it an environmentally friendly alternative. Net-zero refers to achieving a balance where the total CO_2 emissions from energy and industrial processes are reduced to zero, accounting for carbon capture and storage (Rogelj et al., 2015).

Hydrogen can be produced through three main methods: grey, blue, and green. Grey hydrogen is extracted from fossil fuels like coal, oil, or natural gas, resulting in significant carbon dioxide emissions. Blue hydrogen also uses fossil fuels but incorporates carbon capture and storage technologies to mitigate emissions by capturing and storing the emitted CO_2 . However, both grey and blue hydrogen are fundamentally reliant on fossil energy sources, making them less sustainable long-term solutions. In contrast, green hydrogen is produced from renewable energy

sources such as solar and wind, completely eliminating CO_2 emissions during both production and utilization, thereby aligning with decarbonization goals (Abdulla et al., 2021; Saha et al., 2024).

The carbon capture and storage (CCS) technologies used in blue hydrogen present additional challenges, particularly regarding the transportation of the captured CO_2 through pipelines. Pipeline networks are considered the highest-risk aspect of CCS infrastructure, necessitating extensive safety measures and regulatory oversight. While CO₂ and natural gas pipelines share similar construction and installation practices, their risk profiles differ significantly due to the unique properties of the gases. CO_2 is non-flammable but toxic and denser than air, whereas natural gas is lighter than air and explosive. Incident-based models for CO_2 pipelines have often overestimated the risks by 2-3 orders of magnitude compared to natural gas pipelines (Duncan & Wang, 2014). Furthermore, over 80% of CCS projects initiated in the past three decades have failed, further highlighting the limitations of blue hydrogen as a sustainable solution (Pingkuo & Junqing, 2024). In contrast, green hydrogen eliminates these risks entirely by avoiding the need for CO_2 capture and transportation infrastructure, as it does not rely on fossil fuels. This makes green hydrogen a more sustainable, efficient, and safer alternative, reinforcing its role as the focal point in the transition toward a low-carbon energy future. As the world continues to address the pressing challenge of mitigating climate change, the strategic deployment of green hydrogen, supported by a comprehensive understanding of its production, transportation, and integration within energy systems, will be crucial in driving the shift toward a more sustainable and resilient energy landscape.

One of the key advantages of green hydrogen is its ability to integrate seamlessly with renewable energy systems. Green hydrogen can serve as an energy storage medium, capturing excess electricity generated by renewable sources such as wind and solar during periods of low demand. This storage capability is particularly useful in Pakistan's rural areas, where local energy systems could be supported by green hydrogen to provide consistent power. By utilizing solar or wind energy to produce hydrogen, rural communities can store this energy for periods when renewable generation is insufficient, thereby enhancing energy access and reliability. This approach addresses the persistent challenges of energy shortages and limited grid infrastructure in remote regions, ultimately promoting sustainable development and resilience. Furthermore, this stored hydrogen can be converted back into electricity when demand peaks, addressing the intermittency issues associated with renewable energy generation and contributing to a more stable and resilient energy system.

Green hydrogen storage presents significant potential for decarbonizing sectors such as transportation, industry, and energy storage due to its high energy density (120 MJ/kg) and long-term storage capabilities without degradation, making it ideal for seasonal storage and energy-intensive processes requiring extreme heat (Jayaprabakar et al., 2024). It offers a zero-carbon, on-demand fuel supply, positioning it as a sustainable alternative to fossil fuels like natural gas and coke. The manufacturing sector, responsible for 30% of total energy use and 25% of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions in the United States as suggested by Metwally et al. (2024), remains a major contributor to global emissions, with conventional storage methods relying on carbon-intensive extraction and processing that heighten emissions and operational inefficiencies (Aouad et al., 2024; Y. Liu & Rui, 2022). Without effective intervention, inefficient storage alone could account for 1.7% of global carbon emissions by 2030 (Zuck & Tsafrir, 2023). Technological advancements, including underground hydrogen storage and integrated storage systems, have demonstrated improved energy flexibility, resilience, and resource efficiency (Bhardwaj, 2024a; Maka & Mehmood, 2024).

Existing studies on green hydrogen storage implementation in developing countries have primarily focused on challenges such as high investment costs, financing limitations, weak institutional frameworks, water scarcity, and the imbalance between local consumption and export demands, all of which could hinder development (Akomolehin et al., 2024; Komorowski & Grzywacz, 2023). Further research has addressed technical and economic evaluations of storage methods, emphasizing infrastructure adaptation, efficiency optimization, and the need for new transport and distribution systems to meet increasing energy demands and reduce emissions (Fan, 2024a; Kourougianni et al., 2024). Risco-Bravo et al. (2024) and Vallejos-Romero et al. (2022) have assessed risks, socio-environmental impacts, and public perception, for optimizing Power-to-Hydrogen-to-Power (P2H2P) systems whereas Rasul et al. (2022) and Ma et al. (2024)emphasized the critical role of government support and need for cost reduction through economies of scale. While these studies have effectively explored technological, social, and policy challenges, they focus mainly on surface-level issues such as supply chain limitations and infrastructure costs (Ikumapayi et al., 2024; Spatolisano & Pellegrini, 2024). Manufacturing sector

in developing countries is vulnerable to dynamic complexities which needs to be critically analyzed. However, existing research has not explored these economic, technological, and policy challenges in resource constrained settings (Mohamed & Abdulle, 2024; V, 2024). Agent-Based Modeling (ABM) has been widely applied in the energy sector, primarily focusing on local energy storage mechanisms, interactions among energy communities, battery-electric vehicles, and renewable energy sources to enhance self-sufficiency (Laugs et al., 2024; Wang & Blondeau, 2024). Ding et al. (2024) and Preziuso & Odonkor (2024) have used ABM to explore technology adoption patterns in commercial and residential buildings, while Saqib (2024) and Safarzyńska & van den Bergh (2022) have applied ABM to assess climate-energy policies and emissions reduction strategies. This study addresses this gap by applying a hybrid ABM-AHP framework to identify and prioritize the critical challenges hindering green hydrogen storage adoption, providing a novel contribution to sustainable energy research in developing economies.

Green hydrogen storage is particularly important for Pakistan's energy transition, offering a sustainable path to decarbonize the industrial and energy sectors. Pakistan has considerable potential for renewable energy production, supported by its rich solar, wind, and hydropower resources. Solar energy is the most accessible and affordable option, with an installed capacity of 2 GW. Wind energy is also growing in popularity, contributing 1 GW national electricity grid. However, hydropower is the least developed, with only 100 MW of installed capacity, indicating room for further development (Awais & Wajid, 2024). Table 1 provides renewable energy potential in Pakistan, emphasizing the vast opportunities for sustainable energy development.

Source	Potential
Wind Energy	360,000 MW
Solar Energy	2,900,000 MW
Hydro-power Energy	60,000 MW

Table 1: Potential of Renewable Energy in Pakistan (Adapted from Habib et al., 2021)

Source: Habib, S., Iqbal, K. M. J., Amir, S., Naseer, H. M., Akhtar, N., Rehman, W. U., & Khan, M. I. (2021). Renewable Energy Potential in Pakistan and Challenges in its Development for Overcoming Power Crises | The journal of contemporary issues in business and government. <u>https://cibgp.com/au/index.php/1323-6903/article/view/1547</u>

Pakistan faces unique challenges in transitioning to sustainable energy due to its substantial reliance on imported fossil fuels, which makes the energy sector highly vulnerable to international price fluctuations and economic instability. In addition to these challenges, Pakistan's limited financial resources and lack of infrastructure further complicate the transition, highlighting the need for targeted policies and investments in renewable technologies. In 2022, global oil prices surged by approximately 70%, causing significant economic strain on Pakistan (World Development Report, 2022). Such fluctuations not only increase production costs for industries but also undermine energy reliability, stalling economic growth and development.

Moreover, Pakistan is highly susceptible to climate change impacts, including rising temperatures, frequent flooding, and extreme weather events. The adoption of sustainable energy solutions, such as green hydrogen, is crucial for both environmental sustainability and socio-economic resilience.

1.1 Types of Hydrogen

Hydrogen can be produced through a variety of methods, each distinguished by its energy source and environmental impact. These production methods are categorized by different colors: green, grey, brown, blue, yellow, pink, turquoise, and white hydrogen. The key distinction lies in the amount of carbon emissions produced and the energy requirements involved.

Grey hydrogen is produced using natural gas through steam methane reforming. This process is cost-effective but generates significant carbon emissions, approximately 10 tons of CO_2 per ton of hydrogen produced, making it an unsustainable option. Grey hydrogen is mass-produced to meet 96% of the global hydrogen demand (Osselin et al., 2022). Similarly, **brown hydrogen** is produced from coal through gasification and is also cost-effective but carbon-intensive, contributing heavily to greenhouse gas emissions.

Blue hydrogen offers an improvement by incorporating CCS technology to reduce emissions. Though it is more environmentally friendly compared to grey or brown hydrogen, it comes at a higher cost due to the additional capture and storage processes.

Yellow hydrogen is produced through water electrolysis powered by renewable energy, such as wind or solar, making it a carbon-free option. However, its production is energy-intensive and costly. On the other hand, **pink hydrogen** is produced using grid electricity for electrolysis, with its carbon footprint varying based on the energy mix of the grid.

Green hydrogen is a type of hydrogen produced through electrolysis of water using electricity generated from 100% renewable energy sources, such as wind, solar, or hydroelectric power. This method ensures that no carbon emissions are released during the production process, making it a truly carbon-free and environmentally sustainable form of hydrogen. Table 2 shows different types of hydrogen with their description and characteristics.

Source	Description	Characteristics
Grey	Produced from natural gas using steam methane reforming	Lowest cost but emits ~10 tonnes of CO_2 per tonne of H2
Brown	Produced from coal using gasification	Low cost but not carbon- free
Blue	Produced from any fossil fuel with CCS	Carbon-free but higher cost

Fabl	le 2:	Types	of Hyd	rogen (Adapted	from	Davey,	2024)
------	-------	-------	--------	---------	---------	------	--------	-------

Yellow	Produced through water electrolysis using renewable-based electricity	High cost, carbon-free
Pink	Produced through water electrolysis using grid electricity	Varies depending on grid's carbon intensity
Turquoise	Produced through methane splitting (pyrolysis)	High cost, carbon-free
White	Produced as a by-product of industrial processes or in natural form	High cost, availability issues
Green	Produced through water electrolysis powered entirely by renewable energy	Zero carbon emissions, high cost, sustainable, ideal for decarbonization

Source: Davey, R. (2024). The Different Types of Hydrogen: An Overview. https://www.azocleantech.com/article.aspx?ArticleID=1894

1.2 Types of Renewable Energy Sources for Producing Green Hydrogen

Green hydrogen production relies on renewable energy sources that drive water electrolysis, splitting water into hydrogen and oxygen. The following renewable sources are essential for green hydrogen production:

1.2.1 Solar Energy

Solar energy is one of the predominant renewable sources for green hydrogen production. By capturing sunlight and converting it into electricity through photovoltaic panels, solar power serves as the driving force for water electrolysis, splitting water into hydrogen and oxygen. The global installed capacity for solar energy exceeded 1,150 GW in 2022, highlighting the rapid adoption of solar technologies worldwide (World Energy Outlook - IEA, 2022). For countries like Pakistan, with significant solar irradiance, solar energy provides a viable and scalable solution for green hydrogen production. A more sustainable approach involves generating hydrogen through water

electrolysis powered by renewable energy sources, including wind, hydroelectric, or solar power (Aissani et al., 2024).

1.2.2 Wind Energy

Wind power is another crucial renewable source for the production of green hydrogen. Wind turbines generate electricity, which can be used in the electrolysis process to produce hydrogen. According to the Global Wind Energy Council (2022), the global wind power capacity reached approximately 907 GW in 2022. Countries such as Denmark and Germany have already successfully integrated wind energy into their green hydrogen production frameworks, showcasing the potential of large-scale wind-to-hydrogen projects. With its favorable coastal and mountainous geography, Pakistan has significant untapped potential for wind energy development, making wind a promising option for renewable hydrogen production.

1.2.3 Hydropower

Hydropower is a stable and reliable renewable energy source that can be utilized for producing green hydrogen. The integration of hydropower with other renewable sources can create a robust energy framework that supports the transition to a hydrogen economy (Yilmaz, 2024). The electricity generated by hydropower plants is applied in the electrolysis process. As of 2022, global hydropower installed capacity was approximately 1,360 GW (Hydropower Status Report, 2022). Pakistan's vast river systems also present considerable hydropower resources, which could be leveraged to enhance green hydrogen production, contributing to both energy security and sustainable development (Hosseini & Wahid, 2016; Pantskhava & Jishkariani, 2024a).

1.2.4 Biomass Energy

Biomass energy is generated by burning organic materials such as agricultural waste or wood. The resulting electricity can be used in the electrolysis process for green hydrogen production. According to the Worldbioenergy Association (2022) report, the global biomass power capacity reached approximately 150 GW in 2022. Biomass is especially relevant in rural areas of Pakistan, where agricultural residues are abundant and can be harnessed to produce clean energy, supporting localized hydrogen generation and reducing rural energy poverty. Pakistan produces over 108 million tons of crop residues annually, generating 21,390 GWh of electricity (Fatima & Zeeshan,

2024; Wakeel et al., 2023). Technologies such as dark fermentation and photo fermentation are viable methods for bio hydrogen production, which can be integrated into rural energy systems (Fawad Saleem Satti et al., 2024). Hydrogen can be produced using renewable resources, such as biomass, though this process does result in some carbon dioxide emissions (Chmielniak et al., 2024).

1.2.5 Geothermal Energy

Geothermal energy, while less commonly employed, is also a viable renewable energy source for green hydrogen production. Geothermal heat is converted into electricity, which is subsequently used in the electrolysis of water (Chidire et al., 2023). Pakistan has significant geothermal potential, particularly in the Sindh province, where hot springs like Naing Shareef and Gaji Shah exhibit pool water temperatures of 43 °C and 45 °C, indicating promising geothermal energy resources yet to be fully utilized (Jamali et al., 2024).Geothermal energy could serve as a complementary renewable source in regions of Pakistan with geothermal activity, adding diversification to hydrogen production portfolios (Dincer & Ishaq, 2022; Gondal et al., 2017).

1.3 Hydrogen Production Methods

Hydrogen is a versatile energy carrier, and its storage plays a crucial role in managing energy supply and demand:

1.3.1 Steam Methane Reforming (SMR)

This is the most common method used for producing grey and blue hydrogen. It involves reacting methane with steam to produce hydrogen and carbon dioxide. In the case of blue hydrogen, carbon capture and storage technologies are used to prevent carbon emissions. Figure 1 shows schematic of traditional methane reforming unit used for hydrogen production.



Figure 1: Schematic of traditional methane reforming unit for hydrogen production

(Adapted from Cecilia et al., 2022)

Source: Cecilia, A., Tost, R. M., & Ghasem, N. (2022). A Review of the CFD Modeling of Hydrogen Production in Catalytic Steam Reforming Reactors. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 2022, Vol. 23, Page 16064, 23(24), 16064. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS232416064</u>

1.3.2 Electrolysis of Water

Green hydrogen is produced through electrolysis, where electricity is used to split water into hydrogen and oxygen. If the electricity comes from renewable sources, the entire process is carbonneutral. The efficiency of electrolysis varies, but typically, it requires around 50-55 kWh of electricity to produce 1 kg of hydrogen, which contains about 33.3 kWh of energy (World Energy Outlook - IEA, 2021). Despite the energy losses, green hydrogen remains a key component of decarbonization efforts due to its clean production process. Figure 2 shows electrolysis process done for hydrogen production.



Figure 2: Hydrogen production through electrolysis

Source: Hydrogen Production: Electrolysis | Department of Energy. Retrieved from https://www.energy.gov/eere/fuelcells/hydrogen-production-electrolysis

1.3.3 Thermochemical Water Splitting

This involves using high temperatures (often provided by concentrated solar power) to split water into hydrogen and oxygen. Although still under research and development, this technique holds potential for producing hydrogen in an energy-efficient manner. Figure 3 shows prediction of hydrogen through thermochemical water splitting.



Figure 3: Production of Green Hydrogen through Thermochemical Splitting

(Adapted from Asundi, 2015)

Source: Asundi, A. (2015). Thermochemical Water Splitting by Ceria. http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2015/ph240/asundi1/

1.3.4 Biomass Gasification

Biomass can be converted into hydrogen through gasification, a process that involves heating organic materials in the presence of limited oxygen to produce a mixture of hydrogen, carbon monoxide, and other gases. This method is considered renewable when sustainably managed biomass is used. Figure 4 shows Biomass Gasification unit used for hydrogen production.



Figure 4: Biomass Gasification

Source: Yuzhu, C., Abeysinghe, D. J., Jiawen, C., Boxi, G., & Qiang, D. G. (2024). Biomass Gasification | Chi-Hwa Wang Research Group. https://blog.nus.edu.sg/chbewch/gasificationtechnology/gasification-technology/biomass-gasification/

1.4 Green Hydrogen Storage Applications

Hydrogen storage plays a vital role across various sectors. It can be scaled easily for massive applications, such as grid-scale energy reserves and seasonal storage, without geographic constraints like pumped hydro or thermal energy systems. Unlike batteries, which are limited by short storage durations, hydrogen can address industrial decarbonization (e.g., steel production), long-term energy storage, and heavy transport. Hydrogen's zero-carbon emissions at the point of use make it the cleanest storage option. Competing technologies like batteries involve mining rare-

earth elements, resulting in habitat destruction and emissions during material extraction and processing. Table 3 shows a comparative analysis of different storage technologies.

Technology	Energy	Efficiency	Scalability	Applications	Carbon Emissions	Challenges
	Density					
Green	Very High	30-40%	Highly	Industry,	Low emissions	Lower efficiency.
Hydrogen	(120 MJ/kg)		scalable for	transport,	when produced via	Infrastructure
			long-term	seasonal	renewables; zero-	costs for
			storage	storage	carbon output at	production,
					point of use (Criollo	transport, and
					et al., 2024a).	storage.
Solid-State	High	> 90%	Limited to	Consumer	Moderate impact	Early-stage
Batteries			small-	electronics,	due to rare-earth	technology with
			medium	EVs	mining; less toxic	high costs.
			scale		than lithium-ion	
					(Machín et al.,	
					2024).	
Flow	Medium	~75%	Modular	Renewable	Low emissions;	Low energy
Batteries			scaling	energy	non-toxic vanadium	density. High
				integration	often used. Minimal	initial costs.
					environmental	
					degradation (Yadav	
					et al., 2024).	
Thermal	Application-	~70-90%	Application-	Industrial	Low emissions if	Highly context-
Energy	specific		specific	processes, solar	paired with	dependent; not
Storage				plants	renewable heat	universally
					sources; negligible	applicable.
					pollution	

Table 3: Comparative Analysis of Different Storage Technologies

					(Wickramasinghe &	
					Zhang, 2022).	
Flywheels	Low	~90%	Small-scale	Frequency	Negligible	Low energy
				stabilization,	emissions during	density. Limited
				grid services	operation but	long-term use.
					considerable during	
					manufacturing	
					stage; mostly	
					recyclable	
					components	
					(Cellura et al.,	
					2022).	

1.4.1 Electricity Generation

Hydrogen can be utilized in fuel cells to generate electricity, whereby a hydrogen fuel cell combines hydrogen and oxygen to produce electricity, water, and heat (Onalaja et al., 2024). This process is highly efficient, with an energy conversion efficiency of around 60% (Bektaş & Arpa, 2024). Such fuel cells have practical applications in stationary power generation, backup power supplies, and grid balancing, providing reliable energy during outages (Abdin, 2024; Trachte & Fumey, 2024). Large-scale hydrogen fuel cell installations in South Korea are now providing stable power, demonstrating the viability of hydrogen as a reliable electricity source (KEA - Korea Energy Agency, 2022; Shin, 2022).

1.4.2 Transportation

Hydrogen is increasingly being employed as a fuel for vehicles, particularly in fuel cell electric vehicles (FCEVs)(C. Li & Wu, 2024). These vehicles offer zero emissions, with water vapor as the only byproduct, making them an environmentally friendly alternative to conventional fossil

fuel-based transportation. Prominent examples include the Toyota Mirai and Hyundai Nexo, which are leading the market in hydrogen-powered vehicles (Fan, 2024b; Hydrogen Council, 2022; Li & Wu, 2024). The infrastructure for hydrogen refueling is growing globally, enhancing the feasibility of hydrogen as a mainstream transportation fuel.

1.4.3 Industrial Applications

Manufacturing companies are utilizing green hydrogen as an energy storage medium, converting surplus renewable energy into hydrogen for later use. Hydrogen is extensively used in industrial processes such as ammonia production, steelmaking, and refining (Hassan et al., 2024). This production of electricity has shown costs ranging from 43 to 79 ct/kWh (Kalchschmid et al., 2023). In Italy, green hydrogen is injected into the natural gas transmission network, enhancing storage capabilities and reducing CO_2 emissions by 32.348 tonnes annually (Arpino et al., 2023). Such applications highlight the potential of green hydrogen to replace fossil fuels and support industries in meeting stringent emission reduction targets.

1.4.4 Green Hydrogen Storage as a Sustainable Energy Solution

Green hydrogen is a clean and versatile energy carrier that plays a crucial role in achieving sustainability, particularly for industrial applications. In the context of Pakistan, sustainability is not only an environmental objective but also an economic necessity. Challenges such as energy insecurity, high dependence on imported fossil fuels, and the adverse impacts of climate change highlighting the need for green hydrogen storage as a viable solution (Tunio, 2024).

The shift towards sustainable energy solutions, such as green hydrogen storage, is driven by the need to address climate change and environmental degradation associated with conventional energy storage (Criollo et al., 2024b). Recent advances in electrolysis systems have achieved higher efficiency rates while reducing production costs, making green hydrogen increasingly viable for industrial applications (Fan, 2024c). Storage technology improvements include enhanced materials such as nanomaterials and solid-state electrolytes and containment designs that offer better energy density and safety features (Chandrakala et al., 2024; Osman et al., 2024). These combined developments are particularly significant in the manufacturing sector, where

improved electrolysis efficiency and storage solutions directly impact the economic feasibility of green hydrogen adoption (Kim et al., 2024; Razmi et al., 2023).

1.6 Climate Change Context in Pakistan

1.6.1 Vulnerability to Climate Change

Climate change has severely affected the world, with South Asia being especially vulnerable due to limited public awareness and adaptation efforts. Pakistan, as a key South Asian country, has experienced significant impacts, including rising temperatures, droughts, pest outbreaks, health issues, and changes in seasons and lifestyles, with these challenges expected to continue(Peter et al., 2024). Pakistan ranks 23rd in the Inform Risk Index and 8th in global vulnerability to climate change (Idris, 2024; Sherin, 2023). The country has been facing severe and frequent climate-induced events that have devastating impacts on its population and economy. Rising temperatures, unpredictable rainfall patterns, and increasingly intense weather events underscore the urgency for robust mitigation and adaptation strategies. Studies conducted on Pakistan highlighted that climate change has the potential to significantly harm the country, with substantial environmental, economic, and social impacts (Makki et al., 2024; Shahbaz et al., 2024).

1.6.2 Economic Impacts of Climate Change

The destruction caused by climate-induced events has led to increased food insecurity and economic instability, as agriculture remains a major source of income for much of Pakistan's population. The Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) reported significant losses in the agricultural sector, further exacerbating food insecurity across the country (FAO,2022). Additionally, infrastructure damage, including the destruction of over 2 million houses and 13,000 kilometers of roads, has severely hindered mobility and economic activities. According to the World Bank, recovery from the damage to infrastructure will take years, placing significant strain on economic development (World Development Report,2022). The vulnerability of the agricultural sector is a major global concern, as changes in weather patterns threaten the stability of production and food supplies. This challenge impacts global feeding patterns, particularly in countries where agriculture is a key part of their economy and overall productivity (Lakshmi et al., 2024). Due to widespread impact of climate change on economic growth, this has become a

major concern for both local and international environmental policymakers. The 2022 floods were among the most severe in Pakistan's history, affecting over 33 million people and resulting in damages and economic losses exceeding \$30 billion. The floods destroyed homes, displaced millions, and severely affected agricultural productivity, damaging an estimated 1.5 million hectares of crops, including rice, cotton, and wheat (National Disaster Management Authority Report, 2022).

1.6.3 Need for Climate Adaptation and Mitigation Strategies

An examination of historical climate data reveals the undeniable reality that climate change is an ongoing process in Pakistan. The rate and nature of these changes are expected to fluctuate over time and across different geographical regions, leading to profound effects on various aspects of society, including the environment, economy, and social dynamics (Hakovirta, 2023). The extreme events that Pakistan faces highlight the urgent need for robust climate adaptation and mitigation strategies. Green hydrogen storage is one such solution that offers significant potential for mitigating greenhouse gas emissions, ensuring a stable energy supply, and fostering economic resilience against climate-induced disruptions (Han et al., 2021).

1.7 Advantages of Green Hydrogen Storage Adoption

1.7.1 Decarbonization and Climate Targets

The primary motivation for adopting green hydrogen storage lies in its potential to achieve decarbonization and contribute to sustainable development. According to the International Energy Agency (IEA), hydrogen could contribute up to 20% of the world's CO_2 reduction needs by 2050 if implemented at scale (World Energy Outlook - IEA, 2021). The industrial sector, particularly in countries like Pakistan, is a significant contributor to greenhouse gas emissions. Transitioning to green hydrogen storage offers a viable pathway to significantly reduce the carbon footprint of these industries, thereby supporting the achievement of global climate targets and meeting international climate commitments.

1.7.2 Socio-Economic Development Objectives

The adoption of green hydrogen storage also aligns with Pakistan's socio-economic development objectives. Research indicates that investment in green hydrogen infrastructure could create over 700,000 jobs globally by 2030, with significant potential for job creation in developing countries like Pakistan (IRENA, 2021; Pantskhava & Jishkariani, 2024b). Investment in green hydrogen storage technology has the potential to stimulate economic growth, create new job opportunities, and promote technological innovation (Bhardwaj, 2024b). By developing local capabilities in hydrogen production, installation, and maintenance, Pakistan can foster employment opportunities and skill development in emerging green technologies, thereby contributing to broader economic development.

1.7.3 Addressing Energy Access in Rural Areas

Pakistan's electricity sector suffers from outdated infrastructure and inadequate transmission and distribution systems, leading to frequent outages (H. Ahmad & Jamil, 2024). Approximately 45 million people in Pakistan lack access to the electricity grid, indicating a significant portion of the population does not have reliable electricity. Despite an increase in installed capacity to over 40,000 MW, the country still faces a power shortfall of 6,000 to 6,500 MW, indicating inefficiencies in the system (Chughtai et al., 2023). This situation contributes to the country's ranking of 110th among 135 countries for electricity provision (Aized et al., 2021). Through localized production using small-scale renewable energy installations, such as solar or wind power, green hydrogen storage can serve as a clean and versatile energy solution for electricity generation, as well as a fuel for cooking and heating (M. Ali et al., 2023; Chirosca et al., 2024; J. Zhang & Li, 2024). This approach can help bridge the energy access gap in rural areas, reduce dependence on traditional biomass, and enhance the quality of life for these communities by providing a sustainable and reliable energy source.

1.7.4 Enhancing Energy Security in Pakistan through Green Hydrogen Storage

Green hydrogen storage represents a pathway to enhancing energy security in Pakistan by offering a domestically produced clean energy option that reduces dependence on imported fuels and mitigates climate impacts (Sharma et al., 2024). Additionally, green hydrogen storage can help diversify Pakistan's energy mix and improve resilience to global energy market fluctuations

(Oluwadayomi Akinsooto et al., 2024). This diversification is crucial, given Pakistan's vulnerability to both climate change and energy price volatility. By integrating green hydrogen storage into its energy portfolio, Pakistan can move towards a more sustainable and secure energy future, addressing both environmental and economic challenges.

Green hydrogen storage provides an opportunity for Pakistan to enhance its energy security. Pakistan's reliance on imported fossil fuels constitutes nearly 28% of its energy consumption, making it highly vulnerable to global energy price fluctuations (Triantoro et al., 2023; Ul Arafeen et al., 2018). This reliance incurs substantial economic costs, with over \$3.7 billion spent annually on imports (Asghar et al., 2023). By diversifying energy sources and utilizing indigenous resources, like Thar coal, and syngas production, the country may reduce reliance on imported fossil fuels and enhance energy stability (Kanwal et al., 2022). The implementation of green hydrogen storage using domestic renewable energy resources, such as solar and wind, can further strengthen Pakistan's energy independence and reduce vulnerability to price volatility in international energy markets (Khatri et al., 2022).

1.8 Research Rationale

The significance of the energy sector in driving economic growth and ensuring sustainable development cannot be overstated. However, the transition towards green energy storage solutions, such as hydrogen, is fraught with numerous challenges, including economic, political, and technological uncertainties. Despite the increasing focus on green energy storage systems, the decision-making processes required to overcome these challenges remain poorly understood, especially in the context of integrating expert opinions with model-based simulations. This gap in knowledge limits the ability of energy stakeholders to effectively prioritize critical variables and mitigate risks.

Existing research primarily addresses the technical and economic aspects of green hydrogen storage adoption but often overlooks the interplay between stakeholder perspectives and simulation-based thresholds. For instance, expert opinions obtained through methods like the Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) provide valuable qualitative insights, but they lack the quantitative rigor needed for precise threshold determination. Conversely, simulation models such as Agent-Based Modeling (ABM) generate quantitative thresholds but fail to incorporate the nuanced priorities of human experts. This disconnect between qualitative judgments and quantitative analyses poses a significant challenge to effective decision-making in the energy sector. This study seeks to bridge the gap by integrating AHP and ABM methodologies to develop a hybrid decision-making framework. By conducting simulations using NetLogo and validating the results through expert interviews and AHP, the research aims to uncover the alignment (or misalignment) between simulated thresholds and expert-determined weights. Additionally, sensitivity analyses and gap analyses will be conducted to refine the prioritization of variables and identify key inconsistencies. The findings will be further validated through the development of a Hybrid Validation Index (HVI), providing a robust mechanism for comparing the outputs of the two approaches.

The rationale for this research lies in its potential to enhance decision-making processes in the energy sector. By combining quantitative simulations with expert insights, the study will provide energy stakeholders with actionable frameworks for prioritizing variables such as economic recessions, political interference, and technological challenges. These insights will not only aid in the adoption of green hydrogen storage technologies but also contribute to a broader understanding of hybrid validation approaches in complex decision-making environments. Ultimately, this research aims to align technical innovations with stakeholder priorities, paving the way for more resilient and sustainable energy systems.

1.9 Research Objectives

The primary objective of this study is to identify and analyze the significant challenges associated with green hydrogen storage. By conducting a comprehensive literature review and expert consultations, the study aims to highlight critical variables that impact the scalability, efficiency, and safety of green hydrogen storage technologies. This identification process will contribute to a deeper understanding of challenges hindering the advancement of green hydrogen infrastructure.

A core objective of the research is to design and implement an ABM that simulates the identified challenges in green hydrogen storage. The ABM will model the interactions between key variables, providing insights into how different factors influence system behavior under
various scenarios. This simulation-based approach will support the validation of theoretical findings and assist in visualizing the impact of complex dynamics on green hydrogen systems.

The study further aims to gather and analyze expert opinions and stakeholder insights from Pakistan's energy sector through semi-structured interviews. This objective focuses on capturing industry-specific challenges and validating model assumptions with real-world perspectives. The inclusion of expert feedback will ensure the model's relevance and practical applicability in the context of Pakistan's energy transition towards sustainable hydrogen solutions.

1.10 Research Questions

This study addresses the following key research questions:

- 1. What are the major challenges to green hydrogen storage implementation in Pakistan's manufacturing sector?
- 2. How can ABM be utilized to model challenges arising from the actions of government agents and technology developers in implementing green hydrogen storage in Pakistan?
- 3. What are the opinions of hydrogen experts in Pakistan about the identified challenges in ABM model?

1.11 Research Gap

Despite the increasing focus on green hydrogen and its potential for sustainable energy solutions globally, there is limited research specific to Pakistan on the socio-technical and policy challenges that impede the adoption of green hydrogen storage in the manufacturing sector. While technological infrastructure, social awareness, and acceptance have been studied, Pakistan presents unique challenges that go beyond the commonly explored variables. Challenges such as regional heterogeneity, cross-investor differences, political interference, economic recession, digitalization and technological integration, and occupational health and safety (OHS) require in-depth analysis in the Pakistani context. Pakistan's issues are distinct due to the country's naturally diverse education levels, political landscape, resource distribution, and regional opportunities. Countering these challenges is crucial, as understanding the impact of each challenge is necessary for framing

effective policy solutions. Unlike other regions, Pakistani stakeholders prioritize economic survival over climate change, which adds another layer of complexity. Therefore, developing policies that incorporate and address all these potential challenges is essential. This study uniquely utilizes Agent-Based Modeling (ABM) to analyze the socio-technical and policy challenges, offering insights that were previously unattainable. ABM enables a more nuanced exploration of interactions among diverse stakeholders, providing a detailed understanding of how individual behaviors and systemic dynamics influence the adoption of green hydrogen. By simulating different policy scenarios, the study aims to identify the most effective strategies for promoting green hydrogen adoption, making a significant contribution to both academic literature and practical policymaking.

In summary, this chapter has established the foundation for the study by providing a comprehensive exploration of green hydrogen storage technologies, production methods, and renewable energy sources, alongside the climate and energy security challenges faced by Pakistan. The discussion has highlighted the potential of green hydrogen storage in supporting decarbonization, industrial sustainability, and long-term energy resilience. Additionally, the research rationale and existing knowledge gaps have been identified, underscoring the need for further investigation into optimal storage applications and policy frameworks. The next chapter will critically review the existing literature on green hydrogen storage technologies and their practical implementations, offering a theoretical basis to support the research objectives and methodological framework of this study

Chapter 2: Literature Review

This research is grounded in a comprehensive review of academic literature to explore the challenges and variables influencing the development and adoption of green hydrogen technologies. A systematic approach was employed to collect, analyze, and synthesize relevant literature, ensuring a strong theoretical foundation for the study. The search process began with the identification of specific keywords related to the topic. Key terms included: "green hydrogen supply chain challenges," "agent-based modeling in renewable energy systems," "challenges to green hydrogen adoption," "Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) in energy decision-making," "validation techniques for hybrid energy models," and "sensitivity analysis in energy modeling." These keywords were combined with Boolean operators (AND, OR, NOT) to improve search precision and capture a broad range of perspectives. The literature search was conducted using prominent academic databases and search engines, including Scopus, Web of Science, Google Scholar, ScienceDirect, and institutional resources available through Cardiff Metropolitan University's MetSearch and MetLibrary systems. The selection criteria focused on peer-reviewed publications from the last decade to ensure the research incorporates contemporary advancements. Additionally, seminal works in renewable energy systems and green hydrogen storage technology were reviewed to provide historical and theoretical context. The screening process involved evaluating abstracts, methodologies, and findings for relevance to the study's objectives.

Priority was given to studies that addressed the integration of green hydrogen into energy systems, the use of ABM for simulating energy supply chains, and the application of multi-criteria decision-making tools such as AHP. The review also included literature on validation frameworks, particularly those blending quantitative and qualitative approaches for evaluating model outputs. To ensure a comprehensive understanding of the topic, additional keywords were refined to align with the core focus of the research. These included terms such as "social acceptance of hydrogen energy technologies," "technological challenges to hydrogen storage," "policy frameworks for green hydrogen adoption," "agent-based modeling for energy storage technologies," and "optimization of hydrogen supply chains through ABM." This broader set of keywords captured the multidimensional challenges—social, technological, and policy-related—of green hydrogen storage systems and their modeling through ABM. Such an approach allowed the review to

encompass diverse perspectives and methodologies, establishing a robust basis for subsequent analysis and discussion.

2.1 Sustainability and Its Significance

2.1.1 What is Sustainability?

Sustainability refers to the ability to meet present needs without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. It involves balancing economic growth, environmental protection, and social equity. The concept of sustainability has evolved from a localized, technical focus to a broader, value-driven global issue, encompassing diverse interpretations and definitions. Today, most sustainability frameworks include environmental, social, and economic dimensions, but different stakeholders emphasize these aspects differently based on their perspectives and goals (Jackson & Holm, 2024).

2.1.2 Role of the Manufacturing Sector in Sustainability

Manufacturing is a process that uses available resources, such as machines, manpower, materials, and money, to produce market-ready products (Davim, 2024). While manufacturing typically refers to the creation of products, Zhang et al. (2024) suggests using the term more broadly to encompass all forms of physical production, including processing industries and energy generation. Hence, the term "manufacturing" represents entire value chain of physical production, ranging from ideation and design to final fabrication.

The manufacturing sector, as one of the largest contributors to greenhouse gas emissions, plays a critical role in achieving sustainability. Sustainable manufacturing focuses on reducing the ecological impact of production processes by evaluating and improving its practices. It involves enhancing manufacturing systems and processes while maintaining both performance and environmental sustainability. A system cannot be considered sustainable if it depletes natural resources, generates waste, or harms the environment. In fact, a sustainable system is one that operates in a closed loop, where what is extracted is effectively returned or reused by the system. Therefore, sustainability and manufacturing can coexist by prioritizing environmental balance alongside economic growth (Pu et al., 2024). Green manufacturing can be defined as the design, development, and implementation of processes that minimize or eliminate the use and generation of substances harmful to human health and the environment. Similarly, green marketing and green supply chains focus on promoting and managing products and services in ways that prioritize environmental sustainability and reduce ecological impact (Abel & Kenechukwu, 2024; Fagan, 2024). Toyota's implementation of lean manufacturing practices, combined with renewable energy sources, has led to significant reductions in emissions and energy consumption in its production facilities (Toyota USA Newsroom, 2021; Wiese et al., 2015). By optimizing energy use and incorporating solar power into its production lines, Toyota has successfully minimized its environmental footprint while maintaining high productivity levels.

In 2018, the manufacturing sector was the largest contributor to energy system emissions. The sector is a major contributor to poor environmental performance due to high emissions *of NOx*, CO_2 , and SO_2 from metal, chemical, and cement production (Ramli & Munisamy, 2015). Pakistan's manufacturing sector plays a substantial role in the country's environmental challenges, with data indicating that it generates approximately half of the nation's total pollution (S. N. Shah et al., 2022). This significant environmental impact stems from various industrial activities across different manufacturing subsectors. The sector's environmental footprint is particularly evident in key industries. The textile industry, cement production, and leather tanning operations pose serious environmental concerns through their discharge of untreated effluents into natural water bodies. This practice leads to widespread water contamination, affecting both aquatic ecosystems and communities that depend on these water sources (Baig et al., 2022).

Energy consumption patterns in manufacturing activities directly contribute to increased carbon emissions. The relationship between industrial energy use and carbon emissions is particularly concerning given the sector's reliance on fossil fuels and often inefficient energy utilization practices. This creates a cycle where manufacturing growth, while economically beneficial, leads to heightened environmental degradation through increased carbon emissions (Tanveer et al., 2021).

In addition to environmental concerns imposed by industry, reliance on imported fossil fuels makes Pakistan highly vulnerable to international price fluctuations, which directly affect manufacturing costs and energy access (Fazal et al., 2022). Rising fuel prices can lead to increased costs for raw materials and production, especially in energy-intensive industries such as cement and steel manufacturing (Sikandar & Chaudary, 2023). These price fluctuations can also result in energy shortages, affecting productivity and disrupting supply chains. Economic instability due to fluctuating energy costs discourages long-term planning and investment in cleaner technologies like green hydrogen, as businesses become hesitant to allocate resources amid uncertainty (N. Ali, Karl Butzbach, et al., 2024).

Sustainable manufacturing aims to reduce the ecological impact of production processes by evaluating and improving practices (Awasthi et al., 2020). The US department of Commerce defines sustainable manufacturing as processes that minimize negative environmental impacts, conserve resources and ensure safety for employees, communities, and consumers (Gbededo et al., 2018; Peter et al., 2024). Sustainable manufacturing can hence be concluded as adoption of practices focusing on minimizing negative environmental impacts, conserving energy and natural resources, and ensuring safe working environments.

2.1.3 Diverse Academic Perspectives on Sustainability

The diversity of sustainability perspectives is evident in academia, where different disciplines employ unique methods to define and approach sustainability (Singha & Singha, 2024). While environmental sustainability focuses on reducing the depletion of natural resources and minimizing ecological damage, social sustainability emphasizes the importance of equity, well-being, trust, accessibility, community development, and improving quality of life (de Fine Licht & Folland, 2024; Rajendran et al., 2024). Economic sustainability, on the other hand, involves ensuring long-term economic viability without compromising environmental and social aspects (Shayed et al., 2024).

2.1.4 Socio-Technical Megatrends

The socio-technical megatrends contributing to climate change are primarily driven by rising greenhouse gas emissions from multiple sectors, including energy, industry, and land-use changes. Industrial activities have seen a marked rise in emissions, driven by strong demand for materials and energy services, especially in Eastern and Southern Asia (Lima Abreu et al., 2024). Land use changes account for approximately 44% of emissions, with deforestation and agricultural

expansion being major contributors (Lamb et al., 2021). Soil management practices can either exacerbate or mitigate these emissions Application of organic matter such as compost and biochar can reduce N_2O emissions by 25% and 33%, respectively, particularly when not combined with mineral nitrogen fertilizer. Whereas, co-application with mineral fertilizers can increase N_2O emissions by 14% (Valkama et al., 2024). Developed countries have seen a reduction in emissions, while low to medium-income countries have experienced a 130% increase since 1990, highlighting the need for region-specific policies (Oreggioni et al., 2021). Table 4 provides a snapshot of key global economic, demographic, and energy trends today and forecasts where these metrics might be in 50 years. It highlights the substantial growth anticipated in population, urbanization, global GDP, and energy consumption, with significant implications for policy and financial planning.

2.2 Social, Technological, and Policy Challenges

The transition to green hydrogen storage in Pakistan's manufacturing industry faces significant challenges, categorized into social, technological, and policy challenges. Social, technological, and policy challenges has direct impact on the feasibility and scalability of green hydrogen storage technologies, particularly in developing countries (Abidemi Obatoyinbo Ajayi et al., 2024; Adebola Folorunso et al., 2024). The emphasis on these specific dimensions stems from their interconnected nature and cumulative impact on project success (Alragabah & Ahmed, 2024). Together, these factors were prioritized as they capture both structural challenges and implementation risks that can obstruct successful green hydrogen storage adoption in manufacturing industry (Haris & Yang, 2023a). Addressing these challenges is essential for ensuring the successful implementation of green hydrogen storage in Pakistan's manufacturing sector.

2.2.1 Social Challenges

Social challenges arise from societal factors such as public perception, community engagement, regional disparities, and workplace safety (Denham, 2020; Kipāne & Vilks, 2023). These challenges influence how well innovative storage technologies are accepted and implemented within communities or regions. Social sustainability involves focusing on aspects such as equity, ethics, health, gender balance, and empowerment, all within a broader sustainability framework (Leal Filho et al., 2022).

2.2.1.1 Regional Heterogeneity

Regional heterogeneity encompasses the diverse socio-economic conditions, development levels, and resource availability across various regions, significantly influencing the adoption of green hydrogen storage technologies (Baizholova & Nuralina, 2024; Duc et al., 2024). In Pakistan, regions with higher economic activity and better infrastructure are more likely to adopt innovative technologies, whereas rural and underdeveloped areas often face significant challenges related to energy access, economic viability, and infrastructural limitations (N. Ali, Butzbach, et al., 2024; Jawwad Riaz, 2024). These disparities critically shape where and how green hydrogen projects can be sustainably implemented.

The importance of understanding regional disparities is highlighted by Beenstock & Felsenstein (2008), who emphasize the need to consider socio-demographic differences and variations in living costs across regions when analyzing adoption patterns. Identifying these differences is crucial for uncovering potential obstacles and opportunities in green hydrogen implementation. Mili & Martínez-Vega (2019) further argue for the necessity of tailored sustainability indicators that consider diverse regional conditions and priorities, thereby addressing inequalities in sustainability research and ensuring context-specific development approaches.

Q. Liu et al. (2024) discuss how geographical variations, development disparities, and diverse natural environments complicate the adoption of green hydrogen storage, necessitating localized approaches that effectively address unique regional challenges. Similarly, Brelsford et al. (2017) note that disparities in income, access to services, and socio-economic conditions across regions contribute to differing levels of inequality and variations in sustainable development outcomes, particularly in urban areas. These complexities necessitate a deeper understanding of regional contexts to devise effective strategies for hydrogen storage implementation.

Despite these challenges, regional heterogeneity also presents unique opportunities (Morton & Cook, 2022). Bolz et al. (2024) argue that although challenges to hydrogen transition are often discussed at the federal level, regional actors have significant opportunities to drive this transition by leveraging local decision-making processes and capitalizing on regional strengths. L. Li et al. (2022) demonstrate that regional integration policies can dynamically influence green innovation, though the effects may vary based on factors such as city size, location, and pollution levels.

Understanding these dynamics is crucial for identifying the pathways through which regional efforts can advance the adoption of green hydrogen.

De Laurentis & Pearson (2021) provide an analysis of how regional actors interact with energy systems, resource flows, and infrastructures to achieve their sustainability goals. Their study emphasizes the importance of resource availability and infrastructure renewal as key factors in the successful adoption of green hydrogen technologies. Roussafi (2021) introduces the concept of the "renewables pull" effect, suggesting that differences in renewable energy conditions across regions can influence business location decisions, potentially leading to industrial shifts based on renewable resource availability.

These factors collectively demonstrate that while regional disparities pose substantial challenges to the implementation of green hydrogen storage, they also create opportunities for targeted interventions and localized solutions that leverage unique regional strengths. Effectively addressing these disparities requires tailored strategies that align green hydrogen projects with the specific socio-economic and infrastructural conditions of each region, transforming potential obstacles into opportunities for sustainable innovation and growth (Cheilas et al., 2024).

2.2.1.2 Occupational Health and Safety

Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) are the systems of technical, operational, and organizational elements that reduce the possibility of vulnerability of various hazards, or accidents, or limit their intensity in the manufacturing industry. These can be physical, non-physical, or human actions based on specific procedures (Qiao et al., 2022). The effectiveness of these measures is influenced by their design, implementation, and ongoing assessment, which is crucial for ensuring their reliability and performance in emergency situations (Barkhatov et al., 2022). Green hydrogen gases highly susceptible to ignition from even the smallest spark, and hydrogen production facilities often have hydrogen gas present in the atmosphere which creates a high probability of ignition scenarios (Davies et al., 2024; Suwa, 2024).Additionally, hydrogen exhibits the highest self-diffusion rates compared to larger molecules like methane and nitrogen, particularly in Nano pores (Chang et al., 2024). Green hydrogen facilities should meet all the conditions for potential explosions, especially in storage and gas pressure areas, making effective preventive measures crucial to mitigate these risks (Alfasfos et al., 2024; Gordienko & Shebeko,

2022). Managing hydrogen process safety throughout the lifecycle of a project—from commissioning to operation—poses unique challenges, requiring adherence to safety standards that meet or exceed those expected by asset owners, regulators, and the surrounding community (Raghavendra Rao et al., 2024). The concept of risk encompasses both the frequency or probability of a harmful event occurring and the consequences of that event (Accastello et al., 2022; Sven Ove Hansson, Risk - PhilPapers, 2008). The integrated approach proposed by Soltanzadeh et al. (2024) emphasizes the need to analyze safety and security risks concurrently, identifying four dimensions: occurrence probability, severity, vulnerability, and securing. A preventive approach to OHS, rather than a reactive one, is crucial to effectively manage safety risks (Akerstrom et al., 2024).

By fostering a culture of safety and emphasizing preventive measures, organizations can enhance their operational resilience and contribute to the broader goal of sustainable industrial practices (Tayab et al., 2024).However, while companies tend to emphasize their overall management approach to OHS, they often fall short in providing comprehensive quantitative and qualitative information beyond the conventional metrics of occupational injury rates (Berthet et al., 2024). Additionally, OHS training programs are inadequately analyzed in quantitative terms, making them the least reported indicator in sample reports (El Kholti et al., 2024). This suggests that however significant progress has been made in adopting OHS policies and practices, there are still gaps in comprehensive reporting and implementation.

2.2.2 Technological Challenges

Chester & Allenby (2020) demonstrates technological challenges as the integration of innovative storage technologies into physical infrastructure, operational complexities arising from new capabilities and vulnerabilities, and the need for infrastructure managers to adapt to rapidly changing systems governed by software and artificial intelligence.

2.2.2.1 Economic Recession

Economic recession is characterized by a significant decline in economic activity, impacting key macroeconomic indicators such as GDP, employment, investment spending, household income, and industrial production (Christiano, 2017; Verma & Dutta, 2013). These declines typically persist for several months whereas green hydrogen storage technology often require

substantial upfront investment and time to develop, making them less attractive during economic uncertainty (Kumar et al., 2023). The cyclical nature of recessions disrupts long-term planning, affecting industries' ability to invest in innovative solutions like green hydrogen storage (Ibrahim, Lanhui, & Habibi, 2018).

Mazurek & Mielcová (2013) suggested that during prolonged economic downturns, industries deprioritize investments in costly emerging technologies. Peimani (2022) also confirmed that during economic downturns, investments in renewable energy and green hydrogen technologies are impacted, as industries prioritize immediate financial stability over uncertain, long-term projects. The establishment of green hydrogen infrastructure requires substantial investment in storage technologies such as compressed hydrogen, cryogenic liquid hydrogen, and solid material storage (Xie et al., 2024). Limited access to capital exacerbates the challenge, as investors are often hesitant to fund projects with uncertain returns and high initial costs (N. Ma et al., 2024).

Economic recessions lead to a shift in public perception, where immediate economic survival takes precedence over environmental issues which can be seen in Pakistan's perspective as well (Waheed et al., 2022). Studies, such as those conducted, indicate a decline in public belief in climate change, presenting additional challenges for garnering support for green hydrogen storage projects.

2.2.2.2 Digitalization and Technological Integration

Digitalization includes digital platforms that enhance collaboration and efficiency, enabling enterprises to optimize productivity and improve coordination across value chains (Kovtunenko & Lozan, 2024; Peiró et al., 2024). These tools facilitate real-time communication and decision-making, contributing to innovative development and competitive advantages in a dynamic economic environment (Rajan et al., 2024).

The lack of technological integration in manufacturing limits the ability to foster open innovation and effectively utilize resources (Hakaki et al., 2021). Lack of technological integration in manufacturing can hinder open innovation practices, limiting access to external knowledge and skills, which are crucial for resource utilization and accelerating product innovation in the Industry 4.0 context (Gradillas & Thomas, 2025; Mubarak et al., 2024). The absence of technologies such

as artificial intelligence (AI) and big data impedes continuous improvement, reducing competitiveness and stalling progress in manufacturing (Masod & Zakaria, 2024).

Limited availability of smart technologies, including wireless communication and energy storage, hampers the deployment of smart grids and the integration of renewable energy resources in the developing countries (M. A. Raza et al., 2022). IoT sensors are crucial for real-time monitoring of hydrogen production and storage, ensuring operational safety by detecting leaks and anomalies (H. J. Hwang & Hwang, 2024). The lack of AI-driven analytics and predictive maintenance capabilities makes optimizing hydrogen production processes challenging, increasing downtimes and reducing the feasibility of green hydrogen storage projects (Peng et al., 2023). Without predictive maintenance, the likelihood of system failures is higher, compromising the safety of hydrogen facilities (Buttner et al., 2024). The integration of reliability data, such as that from the Hydrogen Component Reliability Database (HyCReD), supports risk reduction and failure rate analysis in hydrogen facilities (Gusev et al., 2024). Digital tools like Big Data, AI, IoT, and Distributed Ledgers are essential for efficiently balancing supply and demand, enhancing grid capacity, and integrating renewable Distributed Energy Resources (DERs) (Catalina Spataru et al., 2024). Their absence significantly hampers the transition to a sustainable energy system (Komala et al., 2024).

2.2.3 Policy Challenges

Policy challenges due to religion-based politics, inefficiencies, corruption, and interventionism hinder investment and economic potential, particularly in rural areas and among the poor (Ray-Chaudhuri, 2013). Stable political environments foster robust economic policies, while instability can lead to downturns (He & Tang, 2024). Regulatory unpredictability often deters investment, as entrepreneurs fear sudden policy changes that could adversely affect their businesses (Brunetti et al., 1997; Zhou et al., 2024).

2.2.3.1 Cross-Investor Differences

Different investor groups exhibit distinct motivations, influenced by factors such as risk tolerance and ethical considerations (Signori, 2020). Eckert et al. (2024) highlight that differences in behavior and motives among investors influence investment decisions, potentially affecting

renewable energy project funding. According to Bhardwaj (2024b), cross-investor differences can influence investment flows and the adoption of storage technologies, affecting the scale and nature of investments in renewable energy projects. Differences in investor confidence regarding the technological maturity of hydrogen storage solutions can lead to varied investment levels (Palmer et al., 2024).

Sustainability-oriented investors are more inclined to prioritize non-financial returns, such as environmental impact, which affects their investment amounts and the number of campaigns they support (Hermesmann et al., 2023; Hornuf et al., 2022) . Wins & Zwergel (2014) emphasize that investor motives and attitudes are crucial determinants of investment decisions. In emerging markets, investor behavior can vary significantly, leading to differences in risk-sharing and contributing to additional risk premiums (Jung et al., 2009). Linnerud & Holden (2015) observed that concerns about capacity challenges varied based on investor experience, with experienced investors expressing greater concern regarding abrupt policy changes compared to local landowners with limited energy sector experience. Kilinc-Ata & Dolmatov (2023) provide insights into how various factors influence renewable energy investments across OECD and BRICS countries. Tale & Rege (2024) emphasize that investors' beliefs about the technical viability of technologies often outweigh policy effectiveness, particularly for those with short investment horizons who are vulnerable to external pressures. Understanding these diverse investor dynamics is essential for developing tailored investment strategies that attract both local and foreign investors to green hydrogen storage initiatives.

2.2.3.2 Political Interference

Political interference is a significant challenge to the adoption of green hydrogen storage technologies (Oluwadayomi Akinsooto et al., 2024). Political interference in the administration leads to poor performance, inefficiencies, and corruption, ultimately hindering effective resource allocation in renewable energy initiatives (Mngomezulu, 2020). Masoud (2023) also suggested that this interference negatively influences procurement performance, particularly in contract awards and legal framework implementation, leading to inefficiencies. Critics such as Romm (1993) have highlighted how politicians, special interest groups, and lobbyists use political arguments to justify continued investments in fossil fuels and nuclear power under the guise of

"clean" energy. This mislabeling is often used to support long-term research and development in fossil fuel and nuclear technologies, promoting them as environmentally friendly alternatives (Monyei & Jenkins, 2018; Sperling & Cannon, 2004).

In Pakistan, political factors have been identified as major obstacles that weaken the capability of project organizations to effectively implement renewable energy initiatives (Haris & Yang, 2023b). Political environment in Pakistan is characterized by fragmentation and elite capture, which hampers effective governance and resource allocation (Mirza & Munir, 2023). Public resources are often allocated based on political allegiance rather than need, leading to disparities across regions (Ahmed, 2023).

Oluwadayomi Akinsooto et al. (2024) highlights that political interference can hinder the development of hydrogen technologies by creating uncertainty, which discourages investment. Political uncertainty, such as government official turnover, leads firms to reduce environmental investment (Niu & Zhou, 2023). A clear and realistic strategy is essential to minimize investment risks and promote green hydrogen storage implementation (Ajanovic et al., 2024; Das, 2023).

After conducting a comprehensive literature review on energy transition challenges in developing countries, six critical variables were identified: **economic recession, regional heterogeneity, cross-investor differences, political interference, digitalization and technological integration, and occupational health and safety (OHS)**. These variables emerged as recurring challenges highlighting their significance in shaping the resilience and sustainability of energy storage systems in developing economies. Each of these play a crucial role in shaping its efficiency and scalability, particularly in the context of a developing country like Pakistan. Understanding how these variables interact provides insights into the complex social, technical, and policy challenges that must be addressed to support green hydrogen adoption in the manufacturing sector.

2.3 Global Energy Trends and Pakistan's Energy Landscape

Global energy trends reveal significant disparities in energy consumption and emissions across regions and countries. As of 2017, countries like Saudi Arabia, Venezuela, and Canada hold the largest oil reserves, while Saudi Arabia, Russia, and the United States are the top producers and

consumers of oil globally (Johnston, 2014). Saudi Arabia is a leading oil producer, leveraging its vast reserves to maintain a pivotal role in global markets. United States surpassed both Saudi Arabia and Russia in oil production by 2018, largely due to the shale revolution, which has reshaped global supply dynamics (Zolina et al., 2019). Similar trends are observed in natural gas, where Russia holds the largest natural gas reserves, followed by Iran and Qatar. In terms of production, the United States and Russia are the dominant players, with the U.S. producing 728 billion m³ and Russia 579 billion m³ in 2014 (Breeze, 2016; "Natural Gas Production," 2022). On the other hand, coal reserves are heavily concentrated in the U.S., Russia, and China, with China playing a pivotal role in global energy dynamics as both the largest producer and consumer. In 2018, China accounted for 45.4% of global coal production while also being the leading importer, primarily due to its reliance on coal for electricity generation, which makes up 68% of its energy mix ("China," 2023; Yang et al., 2020). Similarly, the U.S. and Russia hold significant coal reserves, supporting their domestic energy needs and export activities (X. Liu & Song, 2024; L. P. Thomas, 2013).These disparities highlight entrenched dependencies on fossil fuels, presenting significant hurdles for the transition to cleaner energy systems.

Pakistan's hydrocarbon reservoirs, comprising oil, gas, and coal, present a complex landscape of production levels and potential. The country has significant reserves, yet faces challenges in optimizing production. Pakistan has crude oil reserves of 27 billion barrels (22.6 million barrels produced), natural gas reserves of 8 trillion cubic meters (93 million cubic meters produced), and coal reserves of 185 billion tons (4.6 million tons produced) (Rasool et al., 2022). Natural gas is expected to peak in 2024 at 32.70 million toe, and coal production is anticipated to peak in 2080 at 134.06 million toe (Ur Rehman et al., 2017). Gypsum production is forecasted to increase by 45%, and oil production is projected to increase eightfold (Saadat et al., 2021).

2.3.1 Energy Use Inequality

Energy access and consumption patterns reveal significant global and domestic inequalities. Current data shows stark disparities between developed and developing nations, with US and Europe exhibiting much higher per capita energy consumption compared to Pakistan, India, and Bangladesh, emphasizing the need for renewable energy focus (A. Khan et al., 2024). China, while having a high energy consumption structure, particularly in clean energy utilization, still faces challenges in achieving carbon reduction goals, indicating disparities in energy consumption patterns compared to developed nations like the United States (H. Li et al., 2022). The factors driving energy consumption also exhibit distinct patterns between developed and developing economies. In developing nations, the primary determinants center around fundamental economic indicators such as GDP growth and capital investment levels, along with seasonal factors like winter temperatures that affect energy demand. In contrast, developed nations show a different set of influencing factors, where energy consumption patterns are more closely tied to international trade dynamics, institutional factors such as corruption levels, and technological advancement through innovation (Dokas et al., 2022).

Research consistently demonstrates a strong positive correlation between the Human Development Index (HDI) and energy consumption levels, highlighting energy's crucial role in societal development and economic advancement (Pham et al., 2024). HDI in Moldova, Europe indicates that a one-percentage-point increase in renewable energy leads to approximately a 1.6% increase in HDI, emphasizing energy's critical role in human development (Dokas et al., 2022). Nations with higher energy consumption generally exhibit improved living standards, better healthcare outcomes, and stronger economic indicators. However, this relationship also underscores the challenges faced by countries with limited energy access (Bonhomme & Treiner, 2024).

Pakistan's energy landscape reflects these broader challenges. As of 2020, only 49.3% of Pakistan's relied on clean fuels for cooking, with only 26% of rural areas having access, indicating significant portion of the population, estimated at 110 million people, lacks access to cooking fuels (M. S. Khan & Khan, 2023). Multidimensional Energy Poverty Index reveals that 32% of households in Punjab experience energy poverty, with significant disparities across divisions (Gill et al., 2022). These statistics highlight the fundamental challenges Pakistan faces in its green energy transition efforts, particularly when considering the complex interplay of economic constraints, political dynamics, and infrastructure limitations (Zafar & Raja, 2022). The country's energy transition challenges are further complicated by existing infrastructure gaps, regional development disparities, and resource allocation issues. These factors create additional obstacles in implementing comprehensive energy solutions, particularly in rural and economically disadvantaged areas (Riaz & Perdhana, 2024). Understanding these disparities is crucial for

developing effective policies that can address both energy access and environmental sustainability goals simultaneously.

2.3.2 Emissions Inequality

Emissions inequality is another pressing concern. The majority of these emissions originate from wealthier nations, exacerbating global inequality in both energy access and emissions. The world's wealthiest 1% contribute more than twice the carbon emissions of the poorest half of the global population (Bhattacharya, 2022). This imbalance complicates global efforts toward emission reductions and highlights the disproportionate burden on developing countries, where energy poverty coexists with the need to reduce carbon emissions (Skare et al., 2024). The emissions inequality raises important questions about climate justice and fair transition pathways. Developing nations argue that their path to economic development should not be constrained by emissions restrictions, given that developed countries achieved their current economic status without such limitations (Chancel, 2022; Rauner et al., 2024). This perspective emphasizes the need for substantial financial and technological support from developed nations to enable sustainable development pathways in emerging economies.

The situation in Pakistan exemplifies these challenges. As the country strives to improve living standards and industrial capacity, it must balance increasing energy demand with environmental responsibilities. This balance becomes particularly critical when considering that many Pakistanis still lack access to reliable energy sources, making the transition to cleaner alternatives more challenging without compromising development goals (Muhammad et al., 2024). Demand-side management (DSM) can help Pakistan balance increasing energy demand with environmental responsibilities by potentially saving 10.0%–15.0% of primary energy (Chughtai et al., 2024).

2.3.3 Challenges in Pakistan's Energy Transition

Pakistan's energy transition confronts significant challenges rooted in its existing infrastructure and heavy reliance on fossil fuels. The transmission and distribution network suffers from substantial T&D losses, which burden the system's operational and financial performance (Abdullah et al., 2024). These losses stem from aging infrastructure, technical inefficiencies, and persistent gaps in revenue collection through bill recovery. System reliability metrics highlight critical operational challenges (Ajenikoko et al., 2022). The System Average Interruption Duration Index (SAIDI) and System Average Interruption Frequency Index (SAIFI) demonstrate concerning levels of power outages across the network (Aslami et al., 2024). These interruptions significantly impact industrial productivity and create uncertainty for potential renewable energy investors who require stable grid infrastructure.

The integration of renewable energy sources, particularly solar and wind power, presents additional complexities. The variable nature of these energy sources demands sophisticated grid management capabilities that the current infrastructure lacks. This technical limitation, combined with logistical challenges in establishing renewable projects in resource-rich but infrastructure-poor regions, complicates the transition to sustainable energy solutions (Greig, 2023).

The path forward requires comprehensive infrastructure modernization and policy reforms. This includes upgrading transmission networks, implementing advanced grid technologies, and developing supportive policy frameworks to attract renewable energy investment (Janjua et al., 2023). Success in this transition depends on addressing these challenges while maintaining system reliability and financial sustainability.

2.4 Comparative Analysis of Green Hydrogen Adoption: Pakistan vs. International Context

The adoption of green hydrogen storage in Pakistan contrasts significantly with international trends due to differences in economic capacity, policy frameworks, and technological readiness. While developed countries like Germany and Japan have made substantial progress in integrating green hydrogen into their energy systems through strong government support, targeted financial incentives, and advanced infrastructure (Waheed et al., 2022). Pakistan faces considerable challenges such as economic recession, political interference, and limited technological integration. The lack of consistent policies and investment incentives further exacerbates these challenges (Oryani et al., 2021)

In terms of digitalization, developed countries have leveraged advanced digital technologies, including IoT and AI, to enhance the efficiency and safety of hydrogen storage systems (De Felice & Petrillo, 2021; Wu et al., 2022). In contrast, Pakistan is still in the early stages of digital adoption,

with significant gaps in infrastructure and digital literacy hindering progress (M. A. Raza et al., 2022). Additionally, political stability and transparency are crucial factors that have enabled countries like Denmark and the Netherlands to attract substantial investments in renewable energy projects, whereas Pakistan struggles with political interference and regulatory inconsistencies (W. Li & Zhang, 2010; Rogger & Oliver, 2018).

Countries like Denmark, Japan, and Germany have demonstrated the potential benefits and challenges of transitioning to sustainable energy in the manufacturing sector. Denmark has integrated wind energy, which now accounts for nearly half of the nation's electricity production (The Danish Energi Agency | Energistyrelsen, 2022). Japan has invested heavily in hydrogen technology, combining public and private sector efforts as part of its energy diversification strategy (METI Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry, 2021). Germany have successfully begun integrating green hydrogen into their energy systems, particularly in heavy industries such as steel and cement production, demonstrating its potential to decarbonize high-emission sectors. This example highlights how a systematic approach to green hydrogen adoption can facilitate significant emissions reductions in challenging industrial sectors, providing a template for similar initiatives in developing countries like Pakistan. Germany's Renewable Energy Sources Act (EEG) and the National Hydrogen Strategy have been instrumental in this integration (Federal Gazette, 2021; Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Climate Action, 2022). These initiatives have contributed to substantial emission reductions, with Germany reporting a decrease in carbon emissions of approximately 35% from 1990 levels, partly due to renewable energy adoption, including green hydrogen (BMUV: Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation, Nuclear Safety and Consumer Protection, 2022). These cases illustrate that targeted government policies, financial incentives, and long-term planning are key to overcoming challenges and achieving successful energy transitions. North Africa is witnessing remarkable progress across several nations, each carving a distinct path toward development and sustainability. Morocco stands out for its groundbreaking achievements in renewable energy, setting a benchmark for the region through large-scale projects such as the Noor Ouarzazate Solar Complex. Algeria is exploring significant opportunities for economic diversification, leveraging its natural resources and strategic position to reduce reliance on hydrocarbons. Tunisia remains steadfast in its commitment to sustainability, emphasizing green initiatives and progressive environmental policies. Egypt continues to assert itself as a leader in the region, driving forward ambitious

infrastructure projects and renewable energy investments while fostering collaboration across Africa and the Middle East. Meanwhile, Mauritania is emerging as a key player, capitalizing on its untapped potential and strategic initiatives to strengthen its role in the regional and global energy landscape (Bayssi et al., 2024). To strengthen the applicability of these lessons to Pakistan, it is essential to consider how these approaches can be adapted to the country's unique socio-economic context, ensuring that similar successes can be achieved despite regional differences.

Addressing these disparities requires Pakistan to learn from successful international strategies, such as creating stable policy environments, offering targeted financial incentives, and promoting digital integration to overcome technological challenges. By adapting these practices, Pakistan can create a more favorable environment for the adoption and scaling of green hydrogen storage technologies.

Chapter 3: Methodology

To ensure a comprehensive analysis of energy transition challenges, this study incorporates Pakistan as a case study, reflecting the unique challenges within a developing country context. Pakistan's energy landscape was evaluated based on key variables identified through literature review and expert interviews focusing on storage limitations that exacerbate economic instability, energy dependency, climate vulnerability, and underutilization of renewable capacity. The selection of Pakistan was justified due to its significant reliance on imported fossil fuels, economic constraints, and inadequate infrastructure, all of which influence its sustainable energy trajectory. Recent economic reports and climate vulnerability assessments were included to analyze the impact of global energy trends. Climate vulnerability was incorporated using global risk indices, where Pakistan ranked 23rd in the Inform Risk Index and 8th in global climate vulnerability (Aleha et al., 2024; Idris, 2024).

The study is grounded in pragmatism, which emphasizes practical solutions by selecting methods that best address the research problem. Pragmatism avoids rigid adherence to a single philosophical stance and focuses instead on actionable outcomes (Bergman, 2012; Tashakkori & Teddlie, 2010). The methodological framework for this study was structured into three interconnected phases to ensure a comprehensive analysis of the energy transition challenges in Pakistan as shown in Figure 5.

^{1st} Phase Step 1: Identifying Research Variables Step 3: Agent-Based Modeling (ABM) Analyze challenges from Design and create an ABM framework to existing literature, simulate scenarios Define key variables relevant to green hydrogen storage Step 2: Comprehensive **Step 4: NetLogo Simulation Literature Review** Implement the model using NetLogo, Explore academic papers and Test and refine the model based on realcase studies, world dynamics Utilize diverse research platforms (Google Scholar, Scopus, IEEE Xplore, SpringerLink), Ensure a multidisciplinary phase approach to gather insights **Step 3: Validating Results** Compare AHP weights with Step 1: Conducting Expert NetLogo thresholds Interviews Engage industry professionals and academic experts, Collect qualitative data on challenges Step 3.1. Step 3.2. Calculating **Sensitivity Analysis Consistency Ratio** Step 2: Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP) Quantify qualitative data using AHP methodology, Prioritize challenges based on their impact 3rd Phase and relevance. Step 1: Step 4: Analyzing Analyze Data for Alignment Comparison Step 2: Step 5: Perform Prioritize Correlation Variables Analysis Step 3: **Construct the** Step 6: Figure 5: Methodological Framework Hybrid Visualize and Validation Conclude (Author's own work, 2024) Matrix

The research adopted a mixed-methods approach, integrating qualitative and quantitative methods to explore the challenges associated with green hydrogen storage comprehensively. The research strategy combined multiple methods to achieve a holistic understanding of the problem. ABM provided quantitative insights by simulating real-world scenarios and generating threshold values for critical variables in green hydrogen storage, while AHP allowed for the prioritization of challenges based on expert opinions. By incorporating these methods, the study leveraged the strengths of both qualitative and quantitative approaches to create a robust framework for decision-making in the green hydrogen storage sector. Hybrid Validation Matrix (HVM) is constructed for findings of ABM and AHP. ABM is a computational approach that simulates interactions of autonomous agents within a virtual network, allowing for the exploration of individual dynamics and global system characteristics (Rand, 2024). On the other hand, AHP, is a multi-criteria decision-making method that involves pairwise comparisons to evaluate alternatives based on various criteria, facilitating structured decision-making in complex scenarios (Rodrigues de Oliveira & Duarte, 2024).

The study's approach to theory development is primarily inductive, beginning with an extensive review of existing literature to identify key decision variables influencing green hydrogen storage. Inductive reasoning is characterized by the development of theory based on observed patterns, which aligns with the study's goal of identifying variables through literature and stakeholder dynamics (Sukma & Saragih, 2017). However, elements of deductive reasoning emerged in the validation phase, where hypotheses about variable relationships were tested using expert input, creating a mixed approach to theory development.

Pragmatism approach allowed for flexibility, enabling the integration of secondary data analysis through literature review and primary data collection through expert interviews, ensuring a balanced exploration of the research problem. The data collection was divided into two distinct phases.

• In the first phase, secondary data from existing literature formed the foundation for the development of the ABM framework. This phase utilized academic journals, case studies, and technical reports to model the dynamic behaviors of stakeholders within the green

hydrogen storage ecosystem. Secondary data analysis is a key tool for model development, particularly when exploring under-researched areas (Johnston, 2014).

• In the second phase, primary data was collected through semi-structured interviews with experts from academia, industry, and the energy sector. These interviews served to refine the variables identified earlier, quantify their importance using AHP, and validate the simulation results.

The research strategy was shaped by a **cross-sectional design**, which focuses on analyzing data at a single point in time to understand relationships among variables (Flick, 2022). This approach was particularly relevant to this study, given the dynamic but temporally constrained context of green hydrogen storage adoption challenges in Pakistan. By capturing variables and their interdependencies at a specific time, the study was able to simulate realistic scenarios and derive actionable insights.

3.1 Phase 1: Development of Agent-Based Model for Green Hydrogen Storage

3.1.1 Agent Based Modelling (ABM)

The first phase of this research focused on employing ABM to explore the dynamics of green hydrogen storage adoption. ABM is a computational model that simulate interactions of multiple heterogeneous agents to derive complex aggregate phenomena (Rodríguez-Arias et al., 2023; Savin, 2023). It promotes sustainability by analyzing socio-technical interactions, integrating sustainable practices, and formulating effective policies to enhance financial and environmental outcomes (Larrea-Gallegos et al., 2024).

ABM was chosen because of its ability to simulate the complex, non-linear interactions among diverse stakeholders and external factors in socio-technical systems (Kaniyamattam, 2022). This approach is particularly effective in modeling the interactions of heterogeneous agents, including government bodies, technology developers, manufacturing industries, and storage equipment providers, each with unique decision-making processes. Unlike traditional models, ABM captures emergent phenomena, which arise from micro-level behaviors and interactions to produce macro-level outcomes such as investment decisions and facility development (Railsback & Grimm, 2019). It can also evaluate multiple business models for hydrogen production which can reduce

production costs by approximately 5.6% allowing, for the exploration of flexible operational strategies that adapt to market conditions, potentially maintaining competitive hydrogen prices (Christensen et al., 2024). This ability makes ABM a preferred choice for addressing the multifaceted challenges of green hydrogen storage.

While ABM was ultimately chosen for this study, other modeling techniques were considered but deemed less suitable for the research objective. System Dynamics (SD) models are well-suited for analyzing feedback loops and aggregate-level behavior over time (Mousavi et al., 2023). However, SD models primarily operate at a macro-level and lack the ability to represent heterogeneous agents or their unique decision-making processes. This limitation made SD unsuitable for this study, which required modeling individual stakeholders' interactions and adaptive behaviors (Eden & Ackermann, 2021; Tiller et al., 2021). Discrete-Event Simulation (DES) is effective for modeling sequential and process-oriented systems, such as manufacturing workflows or logistical operations (Robinson, 2014). While it could potentially capture operational aspects of green hydrogen storage, DES is not designed to simulate emergent phenomena or the dynamic interactions between agents, which are central to this research (Moncion et al., 2010). DES typically operates within a static framework, making it challenging to adapt to changing (Jia et al., 2019). Optimization Models focus on finding the optimal solution for predefined objectives, such as minimizing costs or maximizing resource efficiency (Janssen & Ostrom, 2006). However, optimization models are inherently static and deterministic, lacking the flexibility to capture the adaptive, iterative decision-making processes of stakeholders (Weckenborg et al., 2024; Yu & Solvang, 2020).

ABM was preferred over these techniques because it could simulate the heterogeneity of agents, their adaptive behaviors, and the emergent system-level outcomes that arise from their interactions. This capability was critical for understanding the socio-technical challenges of green hydrogen storage adoption

To begin this phase, secondary data from academic literature was comprehensively analyzed to identify key decision variables relevant to green hydrogen storage. These variables included regional heterogeneity, political interference, economic recession, cross-investor differences, lack of digitalization and technological integration, and occupational health and safety concerns. By studying the interplay between these variables, the ABM framework was designed to model the interactions among actors, market agents, and external uncertainties, providing a dynamic representation of the system. The overview of our ABM is depicted in Figure 6, which categorizes variables into four interconnected domains:

- Actors: The government and technology developers, who shape policies and provide technological solutions.
- **Decisions:** Decisions are the identified challenges from literature that needs to be evaluated.
- External Factors and Uncertainties: These include supply chain disruptions, financial market volatility, and political instability, which exert significant influence on decision-making processes.
- **Criteria and Goals**: Challenges are evaluated based on their magnitude, long-term implications, and alignment with research objectives, with the ultimate goals being renewable energy integration, carbon neutrality, and technology resistance mitigation.



Figure 6: Agent based Model Overview (Author's Own Work, 2024)

3.1.2 NetLogo Simulation

NetLogo is specifically designed for agent-based simulations and is widely used in academic research for studying socio-technical systems (Wilensky, 1999). Other platforms, such as AnyLogic, Repast, and GAMA, were also considered for implementing the ABM. However, these platforms have limitations that made them less suitable for this study. While AnyLogic is a powerful tool capable of integrating multiple modeling paradigms (e.g., ABM, DES, and SD), it requires a steep learning curve and advanced programming skills, which were not necessary for this study's objectives (Borshchev & Grigoryev, 2013). Repast is another popular ABM platform but is primarily designed for Java-based programming, making it less accessible for researchers without advanced coding expertise (Barnes & Chu, 2010; Li-qun, 2011). GAMA offers advanced visualization and computational capabilities but is resource-intensive and requires significant customization, which was beyond the scope of this study (Grignard et al., 2013). NetLogo was selected because it offered the best balance of functionality, ease of use, and visualization capabilities, aligning with the study's objectives and available resources

NetLogo was selected as the implementation platform for the ABM due to its accessibility, versatility, and ability to model complex systems with minimal computational overhead. Its advantages include:

- Ease of Use: NetLogo provides an intuitive interface and a simplified programming language, making it easier to model and visualize complex systems without extensive programming expertise (Menárguez et al., 2018).
- **Visualization Capabilities**: The platform offers built-in visualization tools, enabling realtime observation of agent interactions and emergent behaviors, which are critical for understanding dynamic systems (Fernandez, 2020).
- **Community Support**: NetLogo has an extensive library of pre-built models and a strong user community, which facilitates learning and sharing of best (Cheng et al., 2023).
- Integration with Analytical Tools: Supports seamless integration with platforms like R and Python, enabling advanced data analysis, simulation experiments, and visualization of outputs (Salecker et al., 2019; Thiele & Grimm, 2010).

• **Customizable and Scalable:** Facilitates the modeling of both simple and complex systems with customizable agent interactions, while remaining computationally efficient for large-scale simulations (Selje et al., 2024).

3.2 Phase 2: Expert Validation and Prioritization Using AHP

The second phase of this research involved collecting primary data through semi-structured interviews with domain experts and applying the Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP) to refine and prioritize the decision variables identified in Phase 1. This phase integrated qualitative insights from experts with a quantitative decision-making framework, ensuring a robust evaluation of the challenges associated with green hydrogen storage. A critical component of this phase included validating the AHP results using sensitivity analysis and consistency ratio checks to ensure reliability and robustness.

3.2.1 Collection of Primary Data

The semi-structured interviews served as a foundational step in validating and enriching the decision variables identified during the literature review and ABM simulation. These interviews were designed to capture diverse expert perspectives on the challenges and challenges to green hydrogen storage adoption.

Experts were selected using purposive sampling to ensure representation from academia, industry, and the energy sector. A total of 17 experts participated, including professionals from organizations such as Oil and Gas Development Company Limited, Attock Refinery Limited, and Sustainable Development Policy Institute. A semi-structured approach allowed for open-ended responses while maintaining consistency across interviews. Questions centered on the relevance, impact, and interdependencies of decision variables, including political interference, regional heterogeneity, economic recession, cross-investor differences, occupational health and safety and lack of digitalization and technological integration. The experts confirmed the criticality of the identified decision variables and emphasized additional nuances, such as the importance of workforce training and public-private partnerships in overcoming challenges. These insights were crucial for informing the AHP process.

3.2.2 Applying Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP)

AHP was applied to systematically prioritize the decision variables based on the insights gathered from the interviews. AHP was chosen for its ability to structure complex, multi-criteria decision problems into a hierarchy, transforming qualitative judgments into numerical weights (T. L. Saaty, 1980). This method is particularly suitable for socio-technical challenges, where variables are interdependent, and stakeholder preferences vary significantly.

AHP was preferred over alternative techniques due to its ability to handle complex decisionmaking with interdependent criteria. TOPSIS (Technique for Order of Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution) was considered but deemed less suitable as it assumes independence between criteria, which does not align with the interconnected nature of decision variables in this study (K. Y. Hwang & C.L., 1995).WSM (Weighted Sum Model) was rejected because of its reliance on linear assumptions, which fail to capture the non-linear interactions in this context (Triantaphyllou, 2000). ELECTRE was not chosen as its reliance on threshold parameters introduced subjectivity, reducing transparency (Govindan & Jepsen, 2016). ANP (Analytic Network Process), while capable of modeling interdependencies, was not selected due to its computational complexity and qresource-intensive implementation (T. L. Saaty & Vargas, 2013). AHP was ultimately chosen for its rigorous validation methods (e.g., Consistency Ratio), quantification of qualitative judgments, and ability to integrate expert insights systematically.

Microsoft Excel (MS Excel) is used to solve AHP. MS Excel is commonly used for solving the AHP due to its ease of access and capability to manage complex calculations effectively (Padilla-Garrido et al., 2014). It allows users to input pairwise comparisons directly and compute the weights for each criterion based on their relative importance (Esen, 2023). Excel can also be utilized to verify the consistency of judgments, ensuring the decision-making process remains systematic and reliable.

The AHP process was conducted in the following steps:

1. Pairwise Comparison Matrix Construction: Experts compared decision variables pairwise based on their relative importance using a scale from 1 (equal importance) to 9 (extremely more important).

- **2. Priority Weight Calculation**: The relative importance of each variable was calculated, resulting in a ranked list of priorities.
- **3. Visual Representation of Results:** The results obtained were represented using graphs and charts for better visualization and understanding of results.

3.3 Validation of AHP Results

To ensure the robustness of the AHP results, two validation techniques were employed. The consistency ratio checks and sensitivity analysis provided a strong validation of the reliability and robustness of the models used in this study.

3.3.1 Consistency Ratio Check

The CR ensured that the expert judgments used to construct the pairwise comparison matrix were logical and reliable. A CR value below 0.1 confirmed the consistency of the judgments, enhancing confidence in the results. The Consistency Ratio (CR) is computed by dividing the CI by the Random Index (RI) as shown in equation 1;

$$CR = \frac{CI}{RI} \tag{1}$$

Where Consistency Index (CI) is calculated using equation 2:

$$CI = \frac{\lambda max - n}{n - 1} \tag{2}$$

The **Random Index** (**RI**) values are predefined and depend on the size of the matrix **n**. Table 4 shows RI values for common matrix sizes.

n (Matrix Size)	RI Value
1	0.00
2	0.00
2	0.58
<u>,</u>	0.00
4	
5	1.12
6	1.24
7	1.32
8	1.41
9	1.45
10	1.49

Table 4: Random Index (RI) values for matrices of various sizes (Adapted from Saaty, 1987).

Source: Saaty, R. W. (1987). The analytic hierarchy process—what it is and how it is used. Mathematical Modelling, 9(3–5), 161–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/0270-0255(87)90473-8

This final CR is well below the common threshold of 0.1 to 0.2 typically used to indicate acceptable consistency in AHP calculations (Sedghiyan et al., 2021). Low CR value strengthens the validity of the findings, ensuring robust identification of the challenges.

3.3.2 Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity of the priority weights was tested by adjusting the original pairwise comparison matrix. 5% Decrease (Factor 0.95) simulated the impact of underestimating the importance of variables.5% Increase (Factor 1.05) simulated the impact of overestimating the importance of variables. The analysis revealed proportional changes in priority weights, with no drastic deviations, demonstrating the robustness and stability of the AHP results.

The AHP analysis provided a structured prioritization of decision variables, integrating the qualitative insights from interviews with the quantitative rigor of pairwise comparisons. High-priority challenges, such as political interference and regional heterogeneity, were identified as critical challenges requiring immediate attention. The validation through consistency ratio and sensitivity analysis reinforced the reliability of the results. These findings served as a foundation for Phase 3, where the results were integrated into the Hybrid Validation Matrix for comprehensive evaluation.

3.3 Phase 3: Construction of the Hybrid Validation Matrix

The third phase of this research involved combining insights from the NetLogo simulation thresholds (developed in Phase 1) and the AHP weights (derived in Phase 2) to construct a comprehensive Hybrid Validation Matrix. This matrix was developed to compare and validate the outputs from both methods and to provide a more nuanced understanding of the prioritization of challenges associated with green hydrogen storage.

3.3.1 Why a Hybrid Validation Approach?

The hybrid approach was necessary to bridge the gap between the two methodologies—ABM (simulation-based insights) and AHP (expert-driven prioritization). While both methods offered valuable perspectives, their results needed to be integrated and compared to identify consistencies, discrepancies, and areas requiring further investigation. This hybrid validation process ensured a more robust and holistic evaluation of the decision variables by leveraging the strengths of both methodologies.

- 1. **NetLogo Thresholds**: These represent the threshold values for each decision variable, as identified through agent-based modeling in Phase 1. These values highlight the points at which each variable significantly impacts the system's dynamics.
- 2. **AHP Weights**: These are the priority rankings assigned to the same decision variables based on expert judgments in Phase 2. These weights provide a structured, stakeholder-driven perspective on the relative importance of each variable.

3.3.2 Construction of the Hybrid Validation Matrix

Threshold values from the NetLogo simulation were normalized to ensure comparability with AHP weights. The re-normalization process scaled these thresholds to a range between 0 and 1, consistent with the AHP weight scale. The priority weights calculated from the pairwise comparison matrix in Phase 2 were directly used. The gap between NetLogo thresholds and AHP weights for each variable was calculated using formula in equation 3;

$$Gap$$
 (Netlogo – AHP) = Normalized Netlogo Threshold – AHP Weight (3)

This gap represents the difference between the two methodologies' perspectives on each variable's relative importance. Both NetLogo and AHP results were ranked independently and alignment (or misalignment) between the rankings was determined and recorded.

3.3.3 Hybrid Validation Index Calculation

The Hybrid Validation Index (HVI) was calculated as a weighted combination of NetLogo thresholds and AHP weights as shown in equation 4. This index served as an integrative measure of each variable's overall importance.

Hybrid Validation Index = a. Normalized NetLogo Threshold + (1 - a). AHP Weight (4)

Here, α is a weighting factor assigned based on the relative confidence in each methodology. In this study, equal weights ($\alpha = 0.5$) were assigned to both methods (Y. Ma et al., 2023).

In hybrid validation frameworks, equal weights are often applied when combining two independent methods, particularly when they are perceived to offer equally important yet distinct perspectives (Vaidya & Kumar, 2006). Using equal weights as a baseline in multi-criteria decision-making (MCDM) applications unless strong evidence or justification exists for unequal weighting. Literature also supports the use of equal weighting in cases where no empirical justifications for unequal weights exist. Ho (2008) and Halog & Manik (2011) argue that equal weights provide a logical starting point in such scenarios, ensuring that both qualitative (AHP) and quantitative (NetLogo) methods are treated fairly. Furthermore, equal weighting is appropriate when both methods contribute equally to the study's research objectives (Caprioli et al., 2023). By assigning

equal weights, this study avoided potential biases and emphasized the importance of integrating both stakeholder-driven insights and simulation-based thresholds.

When integrating subjective expert opinions with simulation-based or empirical findings, equal weighting ($\alpha = 0.5$) ensures that both methods are treated fairly, reflecting an unbiased integration of perspectives. This approach is commonly used in hybrid decision-making models when combining qualitative and quantitative data (e.g., AHP, simulation results, or data-driven analytics). For instance, studies in fields such as energy planning and environmental management frequently adopt $\alpha = 0.5$ to achieve a balanced comparison between expert-based and systembased methods (Čeponis, 2021).

3.3.4 Visual Presentation of Results

The Hybrid Validation Matrix was visually analyzed to identify patterns, gaps, and trends:

- **Bar Graphs**: These were used to compare NetLogo thresholds, AHP weights, and the Hybrid Validation Index for each variable, highlighting areas of alignment or divergence.
- **Scatter Plots**: Correlations between NetLogo thresholds and AHP weights were visualized to quantify the degree of agreement between the two methods.

3.3.5 Impact of the Hybrid Validation Matrix

Hybrid Validation Matrix served as an essential analytical tool in understanding green hydrogen storage challenges by combining multiple data perspectives (Khan, 2024). The integration of simulation thresholds with expert-assigned weights created a comprehensive framework for evaluating key variables (Sadeghzadeh & Keivan, 2015). This methodological approach ensured the analysis captured both quantitative modeling results and qualitative expert knowledge, providing a robust foundation for understanding implementation challenges.

The matrix's strength lay in its ability to unite theoretical and practical insights, creating a balanced assessment of each variable's significance (De Tré et al., 2017). This dual perspective proved valuable in developing a more complete understanding of the challenges facing green hydrogen storage implementation in Pakistan's manufacturing sector.

Chapter 4: Data Analysis and Results

The data analysis was based on the comprehensive review of existing literature by the researcher, and it was further supported by the interview results and by using the ABM approach. The in-depth analysis of the literature provided compelling insights into understanding the role of economic recession, political interference, regional heterogeneity, cross-investor differences, OHS in impacting the energy sector.

The research methodology included a triangulation approach, combining qualitative and quantitative methods, to ensure the accuracy and validity of the findings (P. Zhou et al., 2006). This triangulation approach integrated three key dimensions: methodological triangulation (e.g., using ABM simulations alongside expert interviews), data triangulation (e.g., combining insights from literature reviews, interviews, and simulation outputs), and theoretical triangulation (e.g., drawing on adaptive management and system dynamics theories). This ensured a robust validation of the findings by examining the research problem from multiple angles and reducing potential biases. The results of the data analysis revealed critical thresholds and correlations among the identified challenges, demonstrating their interdependence and collective impact on the energy sector. Therefore, the Agent-Based Modeling approach can be an effective tool for understanding the dynamics of these challenges by simulating their interactions and impacts in a holistic manner. The findings suggest that addressing the identified variables requires integrated strategies to ensure operational resilience and sustainability. Furthermore, the analysis showed that the ABM approach provides valuable insights into the interdependencies and feedback loops within the system, allowing for a better understanding of how changes in one challenge can amplify or mitigate others and ultimately affect overall system performance (Khan et al., 2023). By employing an ABM approach, this study not only provides valuable insights into these interactions within a complex system but also highlights the importance of collaborative strategies and technological advancements to address challenges effectively.

Additionally, the findings demonstrate the effectiveness of the ABM approach in analyzing and addressing systemic challenges in the energy sector. The dynamic nature of these challenges necessitates ongoing adjustments and refinements to strategies, as highlighted by the Adaptive Management Framework (Hull, 2022). The ABM approach provides a valuable tool for

understanding and addressing these challenges (Lewis et al., 2023). It allows for the characterization and representation of complex feedback interactions, nonlinearity, delays, and causality within the system. By adopting an ABM approach, researchers and practitioners can capture the dynamic nature of these challenges, including feedback loops and causal relationships, enabling a deeper understanding of the underlying dynamics and complex interconnections at play. In conclusion, the ABM approach is a valuable tool for analyzing and addressing systemic challenges in the energy sector (Vuthi et al., 2022).

Phase 1: Agent Based Model(ABM)

High level framework of ABM interactions is shown in Figure 7. In this model, the primary actors are the **government** and **technology developers**, while the **market agents** are represented by the manufacturing and storage equipment industries. The available facilities encompass green hydrogen production plants, which play a pivotal role in the system. The interactions among these entities are depicted using arrows, illustrating the dynamic relationships within the model. These interactions revolve around key decision variables that influence the overall system dynamics. The government, as a central actor, introduces political interference, which affects both the storage equipment and manufacturing industries. This influence is bidirectional, reflecting the potential for varying outcomes. Additionally, the manufacturing and storage equipment industries are influenced by two critical variables: economic recession and regional heterogeneity, which shape investment decisions. These decisions, in turn, contribute to cross-investor differences and further regional disparities in decision-making. These interdependent factors collectively influence the establishment and operation of green hydrogen production facilities, highlighting the complexity of the decision-making ecosystem. The technology developers also play a significant role in the model. Their dual function involves contributing directly to the setup of green hydrogen facilities while simultaneously being associated with two additional variables: occupational health and safety and the lack of digitalization and technological integration. These variables, shaped by the actions of technology developers, further impact the development and functionality of the facilities. Together, this interconnected network of actors, market agents, decision variables, and facilities underscores the complexity of the system, emphasizing the intricate interdependencies that must be addressed to achieve effective green hydrogen storage implementation. This figure
represents interactions going inside Agent Based Model between different actors and market agents impacting investment decisions for plant (represented by facility in our model) set up.



Figure 7: Agent Based Model Interactions (Author's own work, 2024)

4.1 NetLogo Simulations

ABM built in Fig 2 was used as input in NetLogo and was simulated in a virtual environment. NetLogo simulation output offers critical insights into the challenges associated with green hydrogen storage implementation. These simulations exhibit three primary patterns providing a comprehensive framework for analyzing ABM. NetLogo simulations exhibit three primary patterns providing a comprehensive framework for analyzing ABM.

Cyclic Trends: Regular patterns or fluctuations that repeat over time without a fixed period (Chatterjee et al. ,2023).

Dynamic Trends: Continuous, non-repeating changes due to system interactions or external influences (Ovaskainen et al.,2020).

Stochastic Trends: Patterns influenced by randomness or probabilistic factors, inherently unpredictable (Chen et al. ,2023).

4.1.1 Economic Recession

The role of economic recession in influencing energy sector operations can be seen in Figure 8. The graph demonstrates the normalized threshold (0-1) over a simulation time of 1,000 seconds which implies 1000 iterations. The peaks and troughs represent the fluctuations in financial stability during the simulation period.

Economic Recession



Figure 8: Economic Recession Trend obtained from NetLogo Simulations (Author's own work, 2024)

The graph of economic recession depicts a **cyclic pattern** characterized by periodic fluctuations between peaks and troughs, which represent alternating phases of economic recovery and downturns. These trends reflect the inherent instability of financial systems, as seen in real-world economies. The **dynamic behavior** in the graph, represented by variations in the amplitude of the cycles, reflects the impact of external factors such as policy changes, market conditions, and technological advancements. The **stochastic trend**, visible in the irregular fluctuations, illustrates the unpredictable and complex nature of economic recessions. Overall, this simulation highlights the interconnected challenges posed by economic recessions, emphasizing the importance of adaptive financial models, robust policy interventions, and resilient technological strategies. The stochastic nature of the observed trends aligns with economic literature that emphasizes the complex and unpredictable nature of recessions. This irregularity suggests that even small changes in the initial conditions or behaviors of agents can produce amplified and unforeseen outcomes within the system. Such behavior underscores the non-linear dynamics inherent in economic systems.

From an ABM perspective, the graph validates the model's ability to simulate emergent dynamics and replicate realistic economic conditions. The alternating periods of economic recovery and downturns highlight the critical moments when financial stability either fosters system efficiency or disrupts it significantly. This supports the relevance of the ABM approach in capturing interdependencies and feedback loops within the energy sector's operations.

The threshold value for economic recession in NetLogo is 0.1945. This value represents the **critical point** at which economic recession begins to have a substantial impact on the system's dynamics. Below this threshold, the effects of economic recession on decision-making (e.g., investments in green hydrogen storage) may be minimal or manageable. However, once the value exceeds 0.1945, the system likely experiences significant disruptions, such as reduced investments, increased operational risks, or slowed progress toward storage facility implementation.

4.1.2 Regional Heterogeneity

The **cyclic pattern** observed in Figure 9 highlights initial stability, followed by a sharp rise and subsequent plateau, indicating recurring disparities in regional adaptability and resource allocation. The **dynamic behavior** is evident in the sharp rise, representing systemic shifts driven by uneven infrastructure development or policy interventions. The **stochastic trend**, characterized by early erratic fluctuations, points to the unpredictable attempts at regional standardization. The later plateau demonstrates persistent disparities, driven by complex regional challenges such as uneven energy access, technological gaps, or socio-political factors. Addressing these trends

requires tailored regional policies, equitable resource allocation, and collaborative frameworks to reduce disparities and enable balanced progress in green hydrogen adoption.

The graph of regional heterogeneity begins with relatively low fluctuations, indicating initial regional stability. However, after the midpoint of the simulation, a sharp and sustained rise is observed, followed by a plateau at high values. This trend suggests increasing disparities in regional adaptability or resource allocation as the system evolves. The plateau phase highlights persistent heterogeneity, indicating that attempts to standardize regional performance were either insufficient or ineffectively implemented. The sharp rise in the later phases of the simulation likely reflects external interventions or changing conditions that disproportionately benefited or disadvantaged certain regions. Such interventions could include uneven infrastructure development, policy adaptations, or resource distribution. This dynamic behavior points to the critical role of tailored regional strategies in addressing localized challenges and ensuring overall system balance. The earlier stochastic fluctuations represent initial attempts to align regional performance, as variations in alignment caused unpredictable results. However, the stability at higher values indicates entrenched disparities that are difficult to mitigate without targeted efforts. The normalized threshold value of 0.1223 derived from the NetLogo simulation highlights the critical point at which regional disparities become significant, necessitating immediate intervention.



Figure 9: Regional Heterogeneity obtained from NetLogo Simulations (Author's own work. 2024)

These findings emphasize the importance of customized approaches to infrastructure investment and policy implementation. Strategies that prioritize equitable resource distribution and address regional-specific needs can play a pivotal role in reducing heterogeneity and improving system-wide efficiency.

4.1.3 Political Interference

The graph in Figure 10 represents political interference where a pattern of steep peaks and valleys is followed by a gradual stabilization over time. This **cyclic behavior** highlights alternating phases of intense political intervention and periods of relative calm. The peaks indicate moments of heightened interference, likely due to sudden policy shifts or conflicts between stakeholders, while the valleys represent instances of reduced political disruptions. The **dynamic behavior** observed in the graph is particularly notable. Following the initial peak, the downward trend suggests a possible alignment in political priorities or the stabilization of governance structures. Such periods of reduced interference often correspond to collaborative policymaking or external pressures encouraging consistency in regulations. However, the resurgence of instability toward the end of the simulation signals underlying vulnerabilities in governance systems, potentially caused by new policy disagreements or external geopolitical factors. The **stochastic nature** of the trends aligns with literature on governance challenges, which often describe political dynamics as unpredictable and influenced by a multitude of external and internal factors. This unpredictability reinforces the need for robust governance frameworks that can adapt to changing political landscapes while minimizing disruptions to critical energy sector projects.



Figure 10: Political Interference Trend obtained from NetLogo Simulations (Author's own work, 2024)

The findings underscore the importance of fostering strong stakeholder alignment and governance mechanisms to mitigate the impacts of political interference. The normalized threshold value of **0.1388** from the NetLogo simulation highlights a critical point where political stability begins to have a noticeable impact on reducing disruptions within the system. Enhanced collaboration between government bodies and private entities can help establish consistent regulatory environments, reducing the frequency and intensity of disruptions. The simulation results emphasize the value of integrating adaptive governance strategies to sustain momentum in energy sector operations.

4.1.4 Lack of Digitalization

The graph in Figure 11 represents the lack of digitalization. This graph exhibits periodic fluctuations, characterized by rising and falling trends over the simulation period. This **cyclic pattern** reflects varying levels of digital readiness and intervention, highlighting the reflects uneven progress in digital transformation initiatives within the system. The **dynamic behavior** reflects oscillatory nature of the graph suggests that external factors, such as policy updates, technological advancements, and resource allocation, drive these variations. The sharp declines indicate successful periods of digital adoption and integration, while the subsequent rises suggest

challenges in sustaining these efforts due to systemic challenges or resource constraints. The **stochastic trends** observed align with literature on the uneven pace of digital adoption, particularly in developing economies, where technological progress is often hindered by infrastructure limitations, skill gaps, and policy inconsistencies. The irregular fluctuations underscore the complex and non-linear nature of digital transformation; as minor disruptions can lead to significant setbacks in achieving sustained progress.





Figure 11: Lack of Digitalization and Technological Integration Trend obtained from NetLogo Simulations (Author's own work, 2024)

The normalized threshold value of **0.0947** from the NetLogo simulation highlights the critical point at which digital integration begins to significantly improve system performance. This finding emphasizes the importance of targeted investments in infrastructure, workforce development, and policy frameworks to accelerate digitalization and ensure long-term benefits for the energy sector.

4.1.5 Cross-Investor Differences

The graph (Figure 12) illustrating cross-investor differences shows an initial plateau, followed by a sharp decline, and subsequent fluctuations over time. This **cyclic pattern** reflects the gradual convergence of investor priorities as collaborative frameworks and shared goals emerge within the system. The **dynamic behavior** of the graph indicates that the shifts in trends are influenced by factors such as policy alignment, market standardization, and external interventions. The sharp decline suggests significant progress in aligning investor interests, likely driven by collaborative decision-making processes or external regulatory pressures. However, the subsequent fluctuations highlight ongoing challenges in maintaining this alignment due to varying priorities and external economic conditions. The **stochastic nature** of the decline is consistent with literature on investor dynamics, which describes the complex interplay between individual and collective interests. As markets mature and shared goals become more prominent, misalignments reduce, resulting in greater operational stability. However, the persistence of fluctuations underscores the need for continued efforts to address emerging conflicts and ensure sustained alignment.



Figure 12: Cross-Investor Differences Trend obtained from NetLogo Simulations (Author's own work, 2024)

The normalized threshold value of **0.2597** derived from the NetLogo simulation emphasizes the critical point where investor alignment begins to have a significant impact on resource allocation and operational efficiency. This highlights the importance of establishing long-term collaborative strategies, fostering transparency, and promoting trust among investors to mitigate conflicts and enhance system performance.

4.1.6 Occupational Health and Safety (OHS)

The graph of Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) as shown in Figure 13 depicts recurring peaks and troughs. This reflects periodic cycles of heightened concern followed by temporary improvements in safety standards. These **cyclic nature** indicates the ongoing struggle to maintain consistent OHS compliance within the rapidly evolving context of green hydrogen projects. The variations in amplitude, as seen in the **dynamic behavior** of the graph, suggest that industry growth, enforcement of safety regulations, and the emergence of new operational risks significantly influence the trends. Sharp peaks in the graph correspond to moments of increased focus on safety, likely triggered by external audits or incidents, while the subsequent declines may reflect challenges in sustaining a robust safety culture. The **stochastic trends** observed align with the findings in OHS literature, which highlight the difficulties in embedding sustainable safety practices in emerging industries. These irregular fluctuations underscore the complex, non-linear nature of achieving long-term OHS improvements, particularly in industries characterized by rapid technological advancements and diverse workforce dynamics.

Lack of Digitalization



Figure 13: Occupational Health and Safety Trend obtained from NetLogo Simulations (Author's own work,2024)

The normalized threshold value of **0.1905** derived from the NetLogo simulation highlights a critical point where safety interventions begin to yield significant improvements in compliance

and risk mitigation. This underscores the importance of proactive measures, such as continuous training, investment in advanced safety technologies, and stringent regulatory enforcement, to address the inherent risks associated with green hydrogen projects.

The analysis emphasizes the need for a systemic approach to safety management, prioritizing not only compliance but also the development of a resilient safety culture capable of adapting to evolving risks. Enhanced collaboration between stakeholders, including regulators, industry leaders, and workers, will be crucial in sustaining long-term OHS improvements.

4.1.7 Combined Decision Variables

Variables demonstrates overlapping peaks and significant interconnections among the variables. The fluctuating trends highlight the mutual influence of variables as external shocks, such as policy shifts or market disruptions, amplify their interactions. This interconnectedness is a key characteristic of complex systems, where the behavior of one variable significantly impacts the others. Late-stage stabilization is evident in the reduced variability toward the end of the simulation. This pattern suggests that as challenges are addressed and stakeholder priorities converge, the system begins to approach equilibrium. Such stabilization reflects the effectiveness of adaptive strategies and collaborative frameworks in mitigating variability and fostering system resilience. The trends observed align with real-world dynamics of sustainable energy projects. The initial variability corresponds to challenges such as misaligned goals, resource constraints, and regulatory inconsistencies. However, as policies evolve and collaborative governance takes precedence, these challenges are gradually mitigated, resulting in improved synchronization among decision variables. This analysis emphasizes the importance of adaptive policies, strategic planning, and stakeholder collaboration to address the inherent complexities of interconnected systems. By fostering alignment and addressing challenges early, organizations can ensure smoother operations and sustainable outcomes in energy sector projects.

Table 5 provides a detailed analysis of the trends observed in NetLogo graphs for each decision variable. It also includes an interpretation of the implications posed by each trend.

Table 5: NetLogo Simulations Showing Variables' Fluctuation Trends

(110101 3 0 0 11 0 0 1K, 202 +)

Variable	Trend	Interpretation		
Economic Recession	Prolonged period of elevated values (high spike) followed by gradual decline	Significant and sustained influence for a substantial period before showing indications of weakening		
Political Interference	Significant oscillations, steep upward movements	Irregular but intense influence not sustained over time		
Cross-Investor Differences	Initial peak followed by an early and sustained decrease.	Initial high impact, followed by early decline and eventual stabilization with minor fluctuations		
Regional HeterogeneitySlightly elevated start, a drop in the middle, and a pronounced peak toward the endLack of DigitalizationSharp initial intensity, followed by a steady decline over time, and a minor resurgence towards the end		Initially reflects significant disparities, which decrease mid-way but a sharp rise at the end		
		Starts with high challenges, gradually decreases with adoption, but resurges slightly.		
Occupational Health and Safety	Initial peak, followed by a significant drop, and then another sharp rise	Starts strong, declines due to resource gaps, and resurges with renewed focus driven by regulatory actions.		

4.2 Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP)

In 2nd phase, the Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP) was employed to evaluate and prioritize the identified variables based on their significance. To gather qualitative insights for this study, approximately 17 semi-structured interviews were conducted with experts and stakeholders directly or indirectly associated with the energy sector. The participants were selected using purposive sampling, a method that ensured the inclusion of individuals with relevant expertise and experience in the domain of green hydrogen and energy systems. This approach was particularly

effective in capturing diverse perspectives and in-depth knowledge about the challenges and opportunities in the sector.

4.2.1 Population Estimation

The research population was strategically selected to ensure high-quality insights into green hydrogen storage implementation in Pakistan's manufacturing sector. Participants were required to be actively employed in Pakistan's energy sector, possess an exposure to hydrogen production and storage industries, and have a minimum of five years of relevant experience. This selection approach ensured that participants could provide informed perspectives grounded in both practical knowledge and historical understanding of industry developments. Their current employment in the energy sector, combined with specific hydrogen industry expertise and substantial experience, enabled them to offer comprehensive insights into the technical, operational, and implementation aspects of green hydrogen storage systems within the Pakistani context.

Modified Delphi with Sectoral Analysis was employed to estimate the population size of professionals involved in hydrogen storage. This involves evaluating the maximum population that can be supported in a given area, considering local resources and ecological balance (Harutyunyan, 2024). This structured communication technique gathers expert opinions to reach a consensus on population estimates, particularly useful in contexts with limited data, aligning with methodologies described in recent studies (Xu et al., 2022). The sources collectively justify the roundabout figure of 200–500 professionals, based on the active yet nascent state of hydrogen-related research and policy in Pakistan.

4.2.1.1 Delphi Method

The Delphi method is a structured communication technique that gathers expert opinions through multiple rounds of questionnaires, allowing for anonymous feedback and consensusbuilding to estimate population size and demographics effectively in crisis situations (Franc et al., 2023; Kondos et al., 2023). The Delphi method results were calculated on base of following assumptions as done by Sablatzky (2022) and Nasa et al. (2021):

• Expert Panel Selection assumes the selected panel accurately represents the diversity of academia, industry, and energy sector expertise in Pakistan.

- Conducted interviews with experts to gather insights on the number of professionals in the green hydrogen sector.
- Consensus-Based Estimate from multiple survey rounds converged on an estimated 300 experts.

This method estimated a population of around 300 experts of green hydrogen sector in Pakistan.

4.2.1.2 Sector Analysis Method

The sector analysis method for calculating population size involves a systematic approach that utilizes spatial data and statistical techniques to enhance accuracy. This method is particularly effective in urban planning and resource allocation, as it allows for a detailed understanding of population distribution across various sectors (Dai et al., 2024; Kosyakov & Sadykov, 2019). Sector Analysis method results were calculated on base of following assumptions as done by Yusuf et al. (2014):

- Academic Publications: ResearchGate studies on green hydrogen potential in Pakistan.
- Patents: Limited patent data reflecting an emerging field.
- Industry Reports: SDPI publications and details from Oracle Power and China Power projects.

This method estimated a population of around 400 experts of green hydrogen sector in Pakistan.

4.2.1.3 Overlap Calculation for Assumptions

The assumption of a **50% overlap** between Delphi and Sectoral estimates is based on the need to balance the potential duplication of experts across both methods while ensuring representation from both datasets.

Delphi Estimate (D): 300 experts

Sectoral Estimate (S): 400 experts

Overlap Percentage is assumed to be 50% of Delphi experts. Overlap is calculated by using equation 5;

$$Overlap(0) = 0.5 \times Delphi Estimate$$
 (5)

$$Overlap(0) = 0.5 \times 300 = 150 \, experts$$
 (6)

150 experts were common in both methods' estimation results as calculated in equation 6.

Equation 7 is used to calculate total number of experts after calculation of overlap between two methodologies;

$$Total \ Experts = Delphi \ Estimate \ + \ Sectoral \ Estimate \ - \ Overlap \tag{7}$$

$$Total Experts (without weightage) = 300 + 400 - 150 = 550$$
(8)

Total experts after removing overlap of findings and without assigning any weightage came out to be 550 (equation 8).

4.2.1.4 Weightage for Reliability

Both Delphi and Sectoral Analysis are assigned equal reliability (50%) as shown in equation 8, 9 and 10. Both methods have distinct strengths and limitations. By assigning equal reliability, the study avoids favoring one method over the other, ensuring that both contribute equally to the final population estimate. Delphi relies on iterative expert consensus, often reducing biases, while Sectoral estimates typically reflect broader stakeholder perspectives. Assigning 50% reliability allows both methodologies to complement each other.

Weighted Delphi

$$= 0.5 \times Delphi Estimate = 0.5 \times 300 = 150$$
(8)

Weighted Sectoral

$$= 0.5 \times Sectoral Estimate = 0.5 \times 400 = 200$$
(9)

Weighted Overlap

$$= 0.5 \times Overlap = 0.5 \times 150 = 75$$
(10)

Final Adjusted Estimate

$$= Weighted Delphi + Weighted Sectoral - Weighted Overlap$$
$$= 150 + 200 - 75 = 275$$
(11)

Total experts (with weightage) = 275 experts (Equation 11)

4.2.1.5 Final Population Weightage

- Without Weightage: 550 experts
- With Weightage: 275 experts

This calculation ensures a systematic approach to estimating the expert population, accounting for overlap and reliability of methods.

4.2.2 Sample Size Calculation

Following metrics are used to calculate the required sample size using the standard sample size formula shown in equation 12, ensuring the selected sample accurately represents the population under study. The formula applied is:

$$n_o = \frac{Z^2 \times P \times (1-P)}{E^2} \tag{12}$$

Where n_o = Required sample size

P = Population proportion

Z = Z - value (confidence level)

E = Margin of Error

Confidence Level: 90-95% (lower confidence for exploratory design)

Margin of Error: \pm 15% (reflects exploratory and emergent nature)

Population Proportion: 10%–20% (small due to niche expertise)

Sample size of 15 experts can be scientifically justified, especially for qualitative research focusing on emerging technologies which is aligned with literature also (Damanbagh & Alizadeh, 2024; Vuthi et al., 2022)

4.2.3 Primary Data Collection: Selection Criteria

The interviewees represented a mix of professionals from Oil and Gas Development Company Limited (OGDCL), Sustainable Development Policy Institute (SDPI), and Attock Refinery Limited (ARL), as well as experts from academia specializing in energy systems and policy research. The purposive selection ensured that participants were knowledgeable about key areas research areas, had exposure to R&D and energy sector and had a considerable work experience of at least 5 years in relevant field as done by Cioccolanti et al. (2021) and B. Thomas et al. (2022). Table 6 outlines the criteria for participant selection, including their work experience, role, and position within the company.

Code	Organization	Position	Role	Years of Experience
S1.	SDPI	Senior Research Associate	Lead Energy Unit	6+
S2.	SDPI	Senior Research Associate	anior Research Business Development Unit Associate	
S3.	SDPI	Associate Research Fellow	Head of Ecological Sustainability and Circular Economy	5+
A4.	ARL	Assistant Manager	Technical Services	15
A5.	ARL	Deputy Manager	Technical Services	19
A6.	ARL Manager		Technical Services	30
A7.	ARL Senior Engineer		Hydrogen Unit	10
08.	OGDCL	Manager HSEQ	Enterprise Risk Management	26+
O9.	OGDCL	Senior Officer	HSEQ Department	16
O10.	OGDCL	Senior Officer	Product Data Management	14
011.	OGDCL	Manager	Business Development	25
012.	OGDCL	Senior Engineer	Joint Venture and Business Development	15+
013.	OGDCL	Chief Engineer	Process and Plants Department	22
014.	OGDCL	Deputy Chief Engineer	HSEQ Department	15

015.	OGDCL	General Manager	HSEQ Department	25
N16.	NUST	Assistant Professor	USPCAS-E	5+
N17.	NUST	Assistant Professor	In charge of Sustainable Energy Analytics Lab	13

Table 6: Primary Data Collection Criteria (Author's own work, 2024)

The semi-structured interview format allowed for a balance between open-ended questions and guided discussions, enabling the participants to share their insights freely while ensuring the data remained relevant to the research objectives. The collected data were subsequently analyzed to identify recurring themes, trends, and challenges, forming a critical component of the study's findings and validation process. The results were processed using a structured methodology.

4.2.4 Pairwise Comparison Matrix

A pairwise comparison matrix was developed for all variables identified during the literature review and expert interviews. Each variable was compared with others based on its relative importance, and the values were assigned using the Saaty scale (1–9) (Movafaghpour, 2019). The identified variables of economic recession, political interference, cross-investor differences, regional heterogeneity, Occupational health and safety and digitalization and technological integration were compared with one another. The matrix is a square matrix ($n \times n$), where n is the number of variables. In this case there are 6 variables so the matrix will be 6×6 matrix. The comparison scale used is as follows:

1: Equal importance.

3: Moderate importance.

5: Strong importance

7: Very strong importance.

9: Extreme importance.

Reciprocal values (1/aij) are used for inverse comparisons. If a12 = 3, then a21 = 1/3. Diagonal elements (*aii*) are always 1 because a variable is equally important to itself.

Reciprocal property is defined by equation 13;

$$aij = \frac{1}{aij} \tag{13}$$

Table 7 shows pairwise comparison matrix calculated for AHP.

Variables	Economic Recession	Political Interference	Cross Investor Differences	OHS	Regional Heterogeneity	Lack of Digitalization
Economic Recession	1	1.314285714	2	4	8	13.33333333
Political Interference	0.760869565	1	1.75	3.5	7	11.666666667
Cross Investor Differences	0.5	0.571428571	1	2.4	4	6.666666667
OHS	0.25	0.285714286	0.4166666667	1	2	3.333333333
Regional Heterogeneity	0.125	0.142857143	0.25	0.5	1	2.1666666667
Lack of Digitalization	0.075	0.085714286	0.15	0.3	0.461538462	1

 Table 7: Pairwise Comparison Matrix (Author's own work, 2024)

The normalized matrix ensures all comparisons are standardized. Each column is divided by its sum, so the total of each column equals 1. The total for each column is calculated using formula in equation 14;

Column Sum for Variable
$$i = \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ji}$$
 (14)

Each element is divided by the respective column sum shown in equation 15:

$$a'ij = \frac{aij}{Column \, Sum \, for \, Variable \, j} \tag{15}$$

After entering the data gathered through semi structured interviews and doing the required computations, results shown in table 8 are obtained.

Variables	Economic Recession	Political Interference	Cross Investor Differences	OHS	Regional Heterogeneity	Lack of Digitalization
Economic Recession	0.368885325	0.386554622	0.359281437	0.341880342	0.356164384	0.349344978
Political Interference	0.280673617	0.294117647	0.314371257	0.299145299	0.311643836	0.305676856
Cross Investor Differences	0.184442662	0.168067227	0.179640719	0.205128205	0.178082192	0.174672489
OHS	0.092221331	0.084033613	0.074850299	0.085470085	0.089041096	0.087336245
Regional Heterogeneity	0.046110666	0.042016807	0.04491018	0.042735043	0.044520548	0.056768559
Lack of Digitalization	0.027666399	0.025210084	0.026946108	0.025641026	0.020547945	0.026200873

Table 8: Normalized Pairwise Comparison Matrix (Author's own work, 2024)

The priority vector gives the relative weight (Wi) of each variable. It is calculated as the row average of the normalized matrix.

$$\mathcal{W}i = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{n} a' i j}{n} \tag{16}$$

Wi = priority weight for variable and a'ij = normalized value.

Using equation 16, the relative weight for each variable is shown in table below. Ranks are assigned on the of relative weights in priority vector as shown in table 9.

Variables	Priority Vector	Rank
Economic Recession	0.360351848	1
Political Interference	0.300938085	2
Cross Investor Differences	0.181672249	3
OHS	0.085492112	4
Regional Heterogeneity	0.046176967	5
Lack of Digitalization	0.025368739	6

Table 9: Priority Vector (Author's own work, 2024)

Figure 14 illustrates the trends of the results obtained without normalization, whereas Figure 15 displays the trends and their corresponding values after normalization.



Figure 15: Normalized Weights from AHP Priority Vectors (Author's own work, 2024)

4.3 Validation of Results

Validity tests are essential components of any rigorous research methodology, ensuring that the results derived from the analytical process are credible, reliable, and applicable. In this study, validity tests play a pivotal role in assessing the robustness and accuracy of the methods used, thereby enhancing the overall trustworthiness of the findings. Two key validity tests applied are the Consistency Ratio (CR) and Sensitivity Analysis, each serving complementary purposes in evaluating the research framework. Since expert evaluations often involve subjective assessments, there is a potential for inconsistency in the prioritization of variables. The CR evaluates the degree of consistency by comparing the calculated consistency index (CI) with a random index (RI), derived from a matrix of random judgments. Similarly, sensitivity analysis This analysis helps to identify the extent to which the findings are dependent on the initial inputs, highlighting the most critical factors and potential vulnerabilities. By incorporating sensitivity analysis, the research framework ensures that the conclusions are not only valid under current conditions but also resilient to minor changes, thus enhancing their practical applicability and generalizability. Together, the CR and sensitivity analysis provide a comprehensive evaluation of the research framework's validity. The CR ensures that the expert judgments are logically sound, while sensitivity analysis confirms the stability of the results against potential variations. These tests collectively strengthen the methodological rigor of the study, ensuring that the findings are not only accurate but also robust and reliable for practical decision-making.

By integrating these validity tests at the outset, this research establishes a foundation of methodological soundness, providing stakeholders with confidence in the robustness and applicability of the results

4.3.1 Calculating Consistency Ratio

The Consistency Ratio (CR) is a critical metric in the Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP), utilized to evaluate the logical consistency of judgments made during the pairwise comparison of variables. The threshold for acceptable consistency, as proposed by Saaty, is CR < 0.1, indicating that the inconsistencies in the comparisons are within acceptable limits.

Consistency Index (CI) is calculated using equation 17;

$$CI = \frac{\lambda \max - n}{n - 1} \tag{17}$$

Where

 λ *max*: Maximum eigenvalue of the matrix.

n: Number of variables.

The value of CI calculated using this formula is put in **Consistency Ratio**(**CR**) formula shown in equation 18;

$$CR = \frac{CI}{RI} \tag{18}$$

RI: Random Index based on n (*RI* =1.24 for n =6)

For calculating λmax , the pairwise matrix is multiplied by the priority vector, then divided by the corresponding weight. The results are averaged to find λmax . After entering the required data, results were calculated as shown in equation 19 and 20;

$$CI = \frac{6.01355 - 6}{5} = 0.00271 \tag{19}$$

$$CR = \frac{0.00271}{1.24} = 0.00219 \tag{20}$$

Since CR < 0.1, the judgments are consistent. This confirms that the judgments made during the expert evaluation process were logical and coherent, validating the reliability of the input data used in the analysis. This not only validates the consistency of expert judgments but also enhances the reliability of the overall analytical framework. This aligns with the objective of delivering methodologically sound and actionable insights, reinforcing the validity of the findings presented by the researcher.

4.3.2 Sensitivity Analysis

Sensitivity Analysis evaluates how sensitive the final priority rankings are to changes in input values (judgments). For AHP, this typically involves adjusting the pairwise comparisons or the weights and observing the impact on the consistency ratio and rankings. This evaluates the robustness of the results by examining how changes in input data influence the outcomes. It involves systematically varying key parameters, such as weights or priorities, to assess the stability and reliability of the derived results. In this study, a 5% adjustment to the pairwise comparison matrix is applied during sensitivity analysis to explore the impact of minor variations in expert judgments. Formulas used are shown in equation 21 and 22;

Decreased Weights (5% Reduction): Decreased Weight = Original Weight
$$\times$$
 0.95 (21)

Increased Weights (5% Increase): Increased Weight = $Original Weight \times 1.05$ (22)

These formulas are used to evaluate the robustness of the model by slightly adjusting the original priority weights. The multiplication factor (0.95 or 1.05) represents a 5% decrease or increase. For each criterion, multiply the original weight by 0.95 to get the decreased weight and by 1.05 to get the increased weight.

Criteria	Original Weights	Decreased Weights (0.95)	Increased Weights (1.05)
Economic Recession	0.3604	0.3424	0.3784
Political Interference	0.3009	0.2859	0.3159
Cross Investor Differences	0.1817	0.1726	0.1908
OHS	0.0855	0.0812	0.0898

Table 10: Sensitivity Analysis (Decrease/ Increase by 5%) (Author's own work, 2024)

Regional Heterogeneity	0.0462	0.0439	0.0485
Lack of Digitalization	0.0254	0.0241	0.0267

Adjusted weights shown in table 10, directly replace the original weights for comparison. Recalculation is needed to observe whether changes in weights impact the relative priority rankings of criteria. This helps assess the sensitivity and robustness of the overall model. Comparison is done using the recalculated weights for all criteria under adjusted scenarios (increased and decreased) to the original rankings.



Figure 16 : Sensitivity Analysis (Author's own work, 2024)

The small perturbations in input judgments (weights) did not result in significant changes to the rankings which can be seen in Figure 16, indicating that the model is consistent and robust. The higher-ranked variables (Economic Recession and Political Interference) show a larger spread, reflecting greater sensitivity to weight changes. However, as priority decreases, the gap progressively narrows, suggesting that these variables have a smaller influence on the overall model results when slightly adjusted. This analysis helps to identify the extent to which the findings are dependent on the initial inputs, highlighting the most critical factors and potential vulnerabilities. By incorporating sensitivity analysis, the research framework ensures that the conclusions are not only valid under current conditions but also resilient to minor changes, thus enhancing their practical applicability and generalizability.

4.4 Hybrid Validation Matrix

4.4.1 Gap Analysis

The gaps between NetLogo thresholds and AHP weights reveal differences in emphasis as shown in Figure 17. Negative gaps are those who get a negative value after finding difference (e.g., for Economic Recession; 0.1945 - 0.3604 = -0.1659) as shown in table. Similarly, positive gaps are those who get a positive value after finding difference (e.g., for Lack of Digitalization; 0.0947 - 0.0254 = 0.0693). The gap for each variable was calculated using equation 3. The gaps (NetLogo Threshold–AHP Weight) reveal differences in emphasis:

- **Positive Gaps**: Indicate that NetLogo assigns higher importance (e.g., Cross Investor Differences, OHS).
- Negative Gaps: Show that AHP experts emphasize these variables more (e.g., Economic Recession, Political Interference).

These gaps underline the importance of a hybrid approach to balance simulation and expert-driven insights.



Figure 17: Gap Analysis (Author's own work, 2024)

4.4.2 Calculation Correlation between NetLogo thresholds and AHP weights

Correlation analysis plays a vital role in statistical methodology by providing a foundational framework for advanced analytical processes. As a statistical tool, it enables researchers to assess relationships between variables quantitatively, which is essential for accurate forecasting and informed decision-making in research contexts (Gleason et al., 2020). This analytical approach proves particularly valuable when researchers need to establish equivalency across different methodological approaches, as it provides a standardized way to compare and validate results from diverse studies.

The significance of correlation analysis extends beyond basic relationship assessment, as it serves as a critical tool for identifying underlying patterns and potential biases in research data (R. Shi & Conrad, 2009). This capability is especially important when researchers need to integrate data from multiple methodological sources. By establishing clear relationships between different data sets and methods, correlation analysis helps ensure that findings can be combined and

compared meaningfully, reducing the risk of methodological inconsistencies affecting research outcomes (Y. Shi et al., 2023).

Equation 23 is used to calculate correlation;

$$\gamma = \frac{\sum \left(\left(\left(x - mean(x) \right) \right) \cdot \left(y - mean(y) \right) \right)}{\sqrt{\sum \left(x - mean(x) \right)^2 \cdot \sum \left(y - mean(y) \right)^2}}$$
(23)

Where x = NetLogo Thresholds and y = AHP Weights

Correlation
$$(\gamma) = \frac{0.01663}{0.04166} = 0.3991$$
 (24)

Equation 24 shows that after calculations, correlation between findings of both methodologies came out to be 0.3991. This correlation value falls in the range of 0.3 to 0.5, indicating a weak positive relationship. This means that as NetLogo thresholds increase, there is a weak tendency for AHP weights to also increase. However, the relationship is not strong or consistent. The weak positive correlation suggests that the alignment between NetLogo thresholds (derived from simulations) and AHP weights (derived from expert judgments) is limited: NetLogo thresholds represent quantitative outcomes from an agent-based model (ABM) whereas AHP weights represent expert-based evaluations of variable importance. The weak relationship implies that the variables considered significant by experts do not perfectly align with the patterns observed in the simulation outcomes. This gap could highlight a discrepancy between model-based predictions and expert judgments, necessitating further investigation. Figure 18 graphically represents correlation between NetLogo and AHP results used data plots.



Figure 18: Correlation between NetLogo Thresholds and AHP Weights (Author's own work, 2024)

4.4.3 Integration of NetLogo and AHP Results

The Hybrid Validation Index (HVI) combines the insights from NetLogo thresholds (simulation-based) and AHP weights (expert-based) using the equation 25;

$$HVI = \frac{Netlogo\ threshold\ +\ AHP\ Weight}{2} \tag{25}$$

This equal-weighted approach ensures that both methodologies contribute equally to the hybrid results, minimizing bias from either simulation or expert judgments.

Decision Variables	Normalized NetLogo Thresholds	Normalized AHP Weights	Gap (NetLogo - AHP)	AHP Rank	NetLogo Rank	Rank Alignment	Hybrid Validation Index	Priority Category
Economic Recession	0.1945	0.3604	-0.1659	1	2	Not Aligned	0.27745	Very High
Political Interference	0.1388	0.3009	-0.1621	2	4	Not Aligned	0.21985	High
Cross Investor Differences	0.2597	0.1817	0.078	3	1	Not Aligned	0.2207	High
OHS	0.1905	0.0855	0.105	4	3	Not Aligned	0.138	Medium
Regional Heterogeneity	0.1223	0.0462	0.0761	5	5	Aligned	0.08425	Low
Lack of Digitalization	0.0947	0.0254	0.0693	6	6	Aligned	0.06005	Very Low

Table 11: Hybrid Validation Matrix (Author's own work, 2024)

The Hybrid Validation Matrix successfully integrates simulation and expert perspectives, providing a comprehensive prioritization of decision variables. Misalignments in ranks highlight the importance of using multiple validation methods. Consistency for low-priority variables enhances confidence in results. The results from table 11 indicate that economic recession and political interference emerged as the most critical variables, both showing a very high and high priority category, respectively, despite rank misalignment between the AHP and NetLogo results. Cross-investor differences and OHS showed rank misalignment, highlighting the complexity of these variables across different validation methods. In contrast, regional heterogeneity and lack of digitalization were ranked with lower priority and showed alignment between the AHP and NetLogo ranks, suggesting lower influence on green hydrogen storage adoption in the manufacturing sector. Consistency for low-priority variables enhances confidence in results. The trends are shown in Fig: 19.



Figure 19: Hybrid Validation Index Histogram (Author's own work, 2024)

Chapter 5: Discussion, Limitation and Conclusions

The discussion chapter serves as a critical analysis and interpretation of the research findings in light of the objectives set forth in this study. It bridges the gap between the results obtained and their implications for the broader context of green hydrogen storage systems, focusing on the identified social, technological, and policy challenges. This chapter delves into the meaning and significance of the findings by comparing them with existing literature and theoretical frameworks. It evaluates how the results align with or diverge from established studies, providing insights into emerging trends, opportunities, and challenges in green hydrogen storage systems. Furthermore, the chapter integrates expert perspectives from the interviews conducted, shedding light on the practical implications of these challenges in real-world scenarios.

Special attention is given to the interplay between agent-based modeling results and the qualitative insights obtained through the AHP. The discussion highlights the impact of key variables on the adoption and scalability of green hydrogen storage systems while addressing potential limitations of the research and avenues for future exploration. This comprehensive analysis forms the foundation for proposing actionable recommendations to address the identified challenges and foster the development of sustainable hydrogen energy solutions.

This discussion integrates global examples from both developed and developing countries, analyzing how energy sector challenges manifest differently across contexts. It also provides a comparative analysis of how developed countries successfully addressed similar issues, providing actionable insights for countries like Pakistan. The data analysis was based on the comprehensive review of existing literature by the researcher.

5.1 Final Rank Analysis

Economic Recession emerged as the highest-priority variable (HVI: 0.27745). AHP ranked also ranked economic recession as the most critical variable (Rank 1), reflecting the expert consensus that economic instability disrupts investment, planning, and overall system stability. However, NetLogo simulations ranked it second, suggesting that its influence, while significant, depends on interactions with other variables. This reflects its foundational role in destabilizing financial flows, reducing investor confidence, and disrupting long-term planning (Abdullahi & Abdullahi, 2024; Nieto-Chaupis, 2024). The cascading effects of economic instability amplify risks in other areas, such as political interference and investor alignment, creating a vicious cycle of uncertainty.

Political Interference, ranked High in priority (HVI: 0.21985), acts as both a direct obstacle and a catalyst for corruption, rent-seeking behavior, and governance instability (Eryanto et al., 2022). AHP also ranked it second, underlining its role in fostering policy instability, corruption, and governance issues that derail long-term projects. Experts argue that these factors erode institutional trust and create inefficiencies that compound over time (A. Aslam et al., 2023; Ogunode et al., 2024). However, NetLogo simulations ranked it fourth, suggesting that its immediate systemic impact might be less pronounced. In contexts like Pakistan, frequent shifts in political regimes lead to policy reversals, disrupted supply chains, and bureaucratic inefficiencies. Political rent-seeking, where key stakeholders leverage power for personal or partisan gain, diverts resources from productive uses.

Cross-Investor Differences is ranked as a high priority variable in Hybrid validation matrix and third by AHP, reflecting the systemic challenges arising from misaligned goals among stakeholders. NetLogo simulations, however, ranked this variable first, suggesting that in a dynamic system, investor misalignment creates the most immediate disruptions, directly affecting decision-making and resource allocation. In public-private partnerships or joint ventures, these differences often manifest in disputes over resource allocation, operational priorities, and profitsharing, leading to project delays and inefficiencies (Musenero et al., 2021). In Pakistan's energy sector, where multiple stakeholders with varying interests operate, such conflicts are common, further compounded by political and economic volatility as suggested by Liang et al. (2023) and Yasmeen et al. (2021).

OHS, ranked as a medium-priority variable (HVI: 0.138) and fourth in rank by AHP, is critical for ensuring workforce stability and operational continuity. While its systemic impact may appear less significant than economic or political factors, the neglect of OHS can lead to labor disruptions, increased accidents, and legal challenges, particularly in energy sectors as supported by literature (Gjorgjev & Byanov, 2022; Saraswaty, 2024). NetLogo ranked OHS slightly higher at third, suggesting that neglecting safety can cause immediate and visible disruptions, especially in labor-

intensive projects. In Pakistan, inadequate enforcement of safety standards poses significant risks, not only to workers but also to project timelines and budgets.

Regional Heterogeneity and Lack of Digitalization and technological integration, while categorized as low-priority variables in both the models, indirectly influence higher-priority challenges by creating inefficiencies across the system as backed by literature (Detemple & Wicht, 2024; Аралбаева, 2023) .Regional disparities in infrastructure and governance exacerbate coordination challenges, particularly in large-scale, multi-region projects. Similarly, the lack of digital infrastructure limits the ability to adopt innovative solutions and respond dynamically to emerging challenges.

The results of this study highlight the interdependent nature of challenges within the energy sector, emphasizing that no single variable operates in isolation which aligns with the literature (Laimon et al., 2022; Shahzad et al., 2023).

5.2 Social Challenges

5.2.1 Regional Heterogeneity

Regional heterogeneity plays a critical role in the success or failure of large-scale sustainability initiatives, including green hydrogen storage. The following discussion integrates key findings and examples from both developed and developing countries, along with real-world project outcomes, to illustrate how uneven regional conditions affect implementation.

Countries such as Germany and Norway have advanced green hydrogen hubs, benefiting from policy alignment, advanced infrastructure, and skilled labor (Larsgård, 2024). However, even within Europe, projects in Eastern regions often face delays due to limited infrastructure and policy inconsistencies. While green hydrogen development is prioritized in India, uneven energy access and resource constraints between urban and rural areas have slowed implementation (Panelli & Ali, 2024). These examples demonstrate how existing disparities—policy readiness, economic capacity, and infrastructure—directly influence the pace of green hydrogen adoption.

Fernández-González et al. (2022) highlight how heterogeneity in geological conditions caused unanticipated challenges in salt cavern integrity, delaying hydrogen storage projects and increasing costs. This showcases how natural regional variations create unique risks. Larsgård (2024) points out that a lack of harmonized policies across municipalities led to funding lapses and logistical inefficiencies in developing hydrogen hubs. In India and sub-Saharan Africa, limited renewable energy infrastructure, compounded by economic disparities, has led to delayed green hydrogen deployment, with resource-rich regions seeing progress while others stagnate (A. Raza et al., 2024).

Reducing the impact of regional disparities on green hydrogen projects requires a multifaceted approach that recognizes the unique challenges faced by different areas. One of the most pressing needs is **policy harmonization**. Without a unified framework, regions with stronger infrastructure and financial capabilities naturally advance faster, leaving less-developed areas behind. Another important strategy is implementing **targeted interventions**. Instead of spreading resources thinly, focusing on areas that lag behind can create a more balanced approach. Germany provides an excellent example of this, where targeted investment in underdeveloped areas has successfully reduced disparities. By prioritizing these regions, governments and organizations can ensure that the benefits of green hydrogen are accessible to all, rather than being confined to a few advanced areas. Lastly, **technological adaptations** are essential to overcome localized challenges. (Zoback & Smit (2023) argue that storage solutions must be tailored to specific regional conditions. For instance, regions with complex geology may benefit from shallow cavern storage instead of traditional methods. Such adaptations ensure that even areas with natural limitations can participate in the green hydrogen revolution. By addressing the unique needs of different regions, we can create a more inclusive and effective system.

5.2.2 Occupational Health and Safety (OHS): Workforce Vulnerabilities

OHS challenges (priority vector: 0.0855, HVI: 0.138) include weak safety regulations and limited automation, leading to frequent accidents and reduced workforce productivity.

The **Hub Power Plant** in Baluchistan reported multiple safety incidents due to outdated equipment and poor worker training (Yaqoob et al., 2024). Coal mines supplying power plants frequently experience fatal accidents, delaying projects and increasing costs (Pakistan Energy Outlook Report, 2022). The mining sector of South Africa improved safety by adopting ISO-
certified standards and incentivizing investments in safety technology, reducing fatal accidents by 30% over five years (Van Heerden et al., 2015).

Norway's offshore energy sector uses automation and robotics to minimize human exposure to hazardous tasks, significantly reducing workplace accidents (Johansen et al., 2023).

Pakistan should enforce strict regulations by adopting global safety standards and penalize noncompliance. tax breaks should be provided for companies that adopt safety technologies and training programs. Deploy Automation by drones and robots for hazardous tasks, as demonstrated by Norway.

5.3 Technological Challenges

5.3.1 Economic Recession: A Catalyst for Delays and Underfunding

Economic recessions were identified as the most critical challenge, with a priority vector of 0.3604 and Hybrid Validation Index (HVI) of 0.27745. Recessions lead to reduced investments, cost overruns, and delays in energy projects.

Pakistan's **Neelum-Jhelum Hydropower Project** suffered from repeated delays, with its cost ballooning from PKR 15 billion to PKR 500 billion due to economic downturns, currency devaluation, and inadequate funding mechanisms (Pakistan Energy Outlook Report,2022). Similarly, the COVID-19 pandemic diverted public funds away from renewable projects, delaying wind and solar developments (Y. Li et al., 2023). In Indonesia, the pandemic led to a 9.6% decrease in capital costs for renewable energy, indicating a shift in focus from long-term sustainability to immediate crisis management (Al Hasibi & Bawan, 2023).

During the 2008 financial crisis, Germany sustained its renewable energy momentum by issuing green bonds and offering low-interest loans through the **KfW Development Bank** (Zavadskas & Turskis, 2011). These tools provided financial stability to solar and wind energy projects. The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (2009) allocated \$90 billion for clean energy projects during the recession, spurring investments in solar and wind energy technologies (Alizadeh et al., 2020).

Pakistan can adopt similar solutions by diversifying funding sources, accessing climate funds and issuing green bonds to attract global investors focused on climate-resilient projects, leveraging platforms like the Green Climate Fund (GCF) to secure low-interest financing and encouraging domestic production of renewable energy equipment to mitigate currency fluctuation risks.

5.3.2 Lack of Digitalization: A Technological Gap

Lack of digitalization and technological integration was ranked as a low-priority variable (priority vector: 0.0254, HVI: 0.06005), but its transformative potential cannot be ignored. Pakistan's reliance on manual monitoring systems increases inefficiencies and operational delays.

The National Smart Grid Mission of India introduced digital tools to optimize electricity distribution, improving grid stability and reducing losses (Mythreyee & Anandan, 2024). The UK invested heavily in smart grid technologies, integrating distributed renewable energy sources and reducing transmission losses (Kiasari et al., 2024).Germany's digital tools for solar energy monitoring enhanced project transparency and increased investor confidence (Uzondu & Lele, 2024).

Collaboration with international technology providers to make digital solutions affordable, leveraging open-source software for energy planning and monitoring, and capacity-building programs to equip staff to use digital technologies effectively can help Pakistan modernize its energy sector.

5.4 Policy Challenges

5.4.1 Political Interference: A Challenge to Continuity

Political interference ranked as the second most significant barrier (priority vector: 0.3009, HVI: 0.21985). It disrupts long-term planning, deters investor confidence, and often results in stalled or abandoned projects.

The **Kalabagh Dam** of Pakistan has been stalled for decades due to political disputes between provinces, despite its potential to generate 3,600 MW of electricity (Ayaz & Farooq, 2020). Political lobbying in the **Thar Coal Power Project** has also delayed operations, with conflicting

interests between local governments and private stakeholders (Babar & Waleed, 2024). Inconsistent policies on feed-in tariffs for renewable energy projects have deterred international investors, delaying Bangladesh's transition to solar energy (Akash et al., 2024).

Denmark overcame political disputes in the energy sector by establishing a transparent and inclusive policy framework for offshore wind energy (Zavadskas & Turskis, 2011). By involving stakeholders and ensuring policy continuity, Denmark now generates over 40% of its electricity from wind power. Despite being a developing country, Ethiopia successfully insulated its energy projects from political interference by establishing an independent regulatory authority. This attracted \$1.8 billion in foreign investment for the **Grand Renaissance Dam** (Yihdego et al., 2017).

Similar to Ethiopia, creating autonomous energy bodies, Pakistan can ensure continuity and transparency. Adopting Denmark's inclusive policymaking approach can build investor trust and minimize political risks.

5.4.2 Cross-Investor Differences: Stakeholder Misalignment

Cross-investor differences (Priority vector: 0.1817, HVI: 0.2207) create delays and increase project costs. Misaligned goals and risk-sharing disputes are prevalent in Pakistan.

The **CPEC Energy Projects** have faced disputes between Chinese investors and the Pakistani government over tariff structures and risk-sharing mechanisms, delaying solar and coal power initiatives. India's renewable energy auctions have been disrupted by tariff disagreements between private developers and state governments, slowing project implementation (Sinha et al., 2011). The Netherlands centralized grid planning for offshore wind energy, ensuring equitable resource allocation and reducing conflicts among investors (Musial & Ram, 2010). Standardized contracts for geothermal energy projects in Indonesia aligned stakeholder priorities, streamlining development and minimizing delays.

Pakistan can resolve investor disputes by defining clear risk-sharing and revenue mechanisms for energy projects. Similar to the Netherlands, a centralized approach to grid access and resource allocation can reduce conflicts.

5.5 Cross-Cutting Insights for Pakistan

Policy stability is a crucial requirement for the development of Pakistan's energy sector. The recurring political disputes, such as those surrounding the Kalabagh Dam, highlight the detrimental impact of governance instability on energy projects. Despite its potential to generate 3,600 MW of electricity and address water management issues, the Kalabagh Dam has been stalled for decades due to inter-provincial disagreements. This lack of consensus has not only delayed progress but also discouraged local and foreign investors.

Establishing an independent regulatory framework, free from political interference, could provide the stability needed to move such projects forward while ensuring long-term planning and consistency in policy implementation. The lack of stable governments, corruption, and the involvement of powerful individuals in state-owned businesses have been significant impediments to the progress and success of energy projects in Pakistan. These systemic issues create an environment of uncertainty, mismanagement, and inefficiency, often resulting in delays, cost overruns, or the outright failure of critical infrastructure projects. Unstable governments have led to frequent policy shifts, making it challenging for long-term energy projects to achieve continuity. Successive governments in Pakistan have often altered or reversed energy policies to align with their political agendas, creating inconsistencies that deter both domestic and foreign investors. For example, renewable energy policies have suffered from abrupt changes in tariff structures and project approvals, causing significant delays and uncertainty. The lack of a stable governance framework has stalled critical projects, such as the Kalabagh Dam, which remains a victim of political disagreements despite its immense potential to address the country's water and energy needs. Corruption has been another pervasive issue, deeply embedded in Pakistan's energy sector. Large-scale projects often involve kickbacks, embezzlement, and favoritism, leading to misallocation of funds and poor-quality execution. For instance, the Nandipur Power Project, which was initially touted as a solution to Pakistan's energy crisis, became infamous for corruption scandals that inflated its costs and significantly delayed its operational timeline. Such practices not only waste public funds but also erode trust among investors and stakeholders. The involvement of powerful individuals and elites in state-owned energy businesses further exacerbates the problem. Many state-run enterprises are controlled by influential figures who prioritize personal or political gains over the public good. Nepotism in appointments, overstaffing, and misuse of

resources have rendered these entities inefficient and unprofitable. The monopolistic control of influential individuals in energy projects often results in inflated tariffs and limited transparency. In cases where vested interests conflict with national priorities, projects are delayed or halted altogether. This is evident in various CPEC-related energy initiatives, where disputes over tariff structures and revenue-sharing mechanisms between private investors and government officials have slowed progress. Addressing these challenges requires significant reforms. Establishing independent regulatory authorities free from political influence can ensure transparency and accountability in the energy sector. Anti-corruption measures, including strict oversight of project financing and implementation, must be enforced to curb embezzlement and favoritism. Furthermore, depoliticizing state-owned enterprises and introducing merit-based management can enhance their efficiency and profitability. By tackling these systemic issues, Pakistan can create a stable and transparent environment conducive to the successful execution of energy projects and sustainable development.

Pakistan's dependency on the International Monetary Fund (IMF) for economic stability has created significant challenges in prioritizing long-term sustainability initiatives, such as green hydrogen projects. The IMF's financial assistance packages often require the government to adopt fiscal consolidation measures, including subsidy cuts, austerity policies, and strict debt repayment schedules. These restrictions severely limit Pakistan's ability to allocate resources for innovative and capital-intensive projects like green hydrogen production, which require significant upfront investment in infrastructure, technology, and capacity building. Green hydrogen production and storage is currently an expensive endeavor, primarily due to the high costs of electrolyzers, which are critical for splitting water into hydrogen and oxygen. In a resource-constrained economy like Pakistan's, where the government struggles to manage existing energy challenges such as circular debt and power outages, prioritizing an emerging and costly technology is not feasible in the short term. Additionally, the lack of infrastructure for hydrogen storage, transportation, and distribution adds another layer of financial and logistical complexity. Despite these challenges, there is hope for future adoption if global advancements in green hydrogen technology drive down costs. Countries like Germany, Japan, and Australia are leading the way in scaling up green hydrogen production and storage, which is expected to reduce the cost of electrolyzers through economies of scale, technological innovation, and market competition. As these advancements make the

technology more affordable, Pakistan could explore green hydrogen as a viable option for meeting its energy and sustainability goals.

Furthermore, international collaboration and funding mechanisms could play a critical role in bridging the gap. For instance, technology transfer programs under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) or other global sustainability initiatives could provide Pakistan with the technical expertise and financial support needed to adopt green hydrogen in the future. Participation in regional or global hydrogen alliances could also help Pakistan access costeffective technologies and build partnerships with countries advancing in this field. In the short term, Pakistan can focus on preparatory measures to position itself for a potential hydrogen economy. This includes piloting small-scale green hydrogen projects, investing in research and development, and building technical expertise in renewable energy technologies. These initiatives would not require large-scale financial commitments but would prepare the groundwork for larger investments when economic conditions improve and global technology becomes more accessible. While green hydrogen remains a distant priority for Pakistan under current economic constraints, global advancements and cost reductions could make it a feasible option in the medium to long term. Until then, the government must focus on stabilizing its economy and preparing for future opportunities in the sustainable energy sector. Diversifying financing mechanisms is essential to reduce Pakistan's reliance on unstable foreign funding and to safeguard energy projects against economic downturns. The country's current dependence on international loans and grants makes its energy sector vulnerable to financial shocks. By issuing green bonds or leveraging international climate funds, Pakistan can create more sustainable and diversified funding streams. This approach can provide the necessary capital for renewable energy initiatives such as solar and wind projects, which have often been delayed due to budget constraints.

Regional heterogeneity in Pakistan, characterized by disparities in awareness, acceptance, administrative capacities, and geographical resources, has significantly impacted energy development. Provinces like Sindh and Punjab have advanced in renewable energy projects due to better governance and awareness, while regions like Baluchistan and KP face challenges from weak institutions, limited community acceptance, and underutilized resources. Geographical differences also exacerbate inequalities, with energy-rich provinces like Baluchistan lacking infrastructure and investment despite their potential. The 18th Amendment to Pakistan's

Constitution, passed in 2010, decentralized power, granting provinces autonomy over their resources. This has enabled provinces to tailor energy initiatives to their unique needs, reducing inter-provincial conflicts. For instance, Sindh has expanded wind energy, and KP has focused on small hydropower projects. While challenges persist, the 18th Amendment fosters hope for improved cooperation and equitable energy development. Collaborative efforts, supported by federal capacity-building and funding, can help address regional disparities and transform heterogeneity into a driver of progress.

Technology adoption offers significant potential to transform the efficiency of Pakistan's energy infrastructure. The lack of digital monitoring systems in power transmission and renewable energy projects leads to inefficiencies and delays. For example, outdated manual systems in the National Transmission and Dispatch Company (NTDC) contribute to frequent power outages and operational challenges. By investing in affordable digital technologies and training programs for workers, Pakistan can enhance transparency and optimize the management of energy resources. Digital solutions can streamline project monitoring and improve decision-making, ensuring timely project completion and better energy distribution.

Workforce safety is another critical area that requires immediate attention in Pakistan. Frequent safety incidents at facilities like the Hub Power Plant and in coal mines supplying energy plants reflect systemic issues in enforcing OHS standards. These incidents not only delay projects but also increase operational costs and reduce worker morale. A significant barrier to Pakistan's adoption of green hydrogen storage technology is the lack of a skilled workforce and limited awareness of OHS practices. The hydrogen industry requires specialized knowledge for handling complex processes, including electrolyzer operation, storage management, and transportation. However, the workforce in Pakistan often lacks the technical expertise needed for such advanced energy systems. This skills gap can result in inefficiencies and heightened safety risks. Hydrogen, while a promising clean energy solution, is highly flammable and can lead to catastrophic accidents if mishandled. Leaks, poor storage conditions, or inadequately trained personnel can result in severe explosions or fires, endangering lives and infrastructure. The lack of emphasis on OHS practices in Pakistan further exacerbates these risks, as safety measures are often undervalued due to limited awareness of the potential dangers. This mindset poses a significant challenge in an industry where even minor lapses can have disastrous consequences. To address this, workforce

training is crucial. Technical training programs must focus on equipping workers with the skills to operate and maintain hydrogen production and storage systems. Awareness campaigns on OHS practices should highlight the importance of safety protocols and the risks associated with hydrogen. Certification programs and partnerships with international organizations can further enhance workforce competency and ensure adherence to global safety standards. Building a skilled and safety-conscious workforce is essential for the successful and secure adoption of green hydrogen technology in Pakistan. Without such measures, the risks of accidents and inefficiencies may outweigh the benefits of this clean energy solution, making workforce development a critical priority alongside technological advancements. By enforcing strict OHS regulations, providing safety training, and incentivizing investments in modern safety technologies, Pakistan can reduce workplace accidents and improve productivity. Prioritizing worker safety will also foster a more reliable and sustainable energy workforce, ensuring that projects are completed efficiently and on time.

In Pakistan, a prevalent mindset within the industrial sector prioritizes survival over sustainability. Many industry leaders perceive sustainability initiatives, such as green energy projects, waste management systems, or emissions reductions, as luxuries that the country cannot afford in its current economic condition. This viewpoint is rooted in the nation's broader economic challenges, including high levels of debt, inflation, and energy crises, which compel businesses to focus on short-term survival strategies rather than long-term sustainability goals. A key factor reinforcing this mindset is the financial instability faced by Pakistan's industries. With rising operational costs, frequent power outages, and an unstable regulatory environment, many businesses are struggling to maintain profitability. Sustainability projects, which often require substantial upfront investments, are viewed as additional burdens rather than opportunities for growth or cost savings in the long run. This belief is particularly evident in energy-intensive sectors such as textiles, cement, and manufacturing, where the focus remains on minimizing production costs to stay competitive in local and international markets.

Studies have highlighted this mindset in Pakistan's industrial landscape. According to Lin (2018), the majority of businesses in Pakistan prioritize economic survival over environmental considerations, citing financial constraints and an unpredictable economic environment as the primary reasons. Similarly, Khan et al. (2020) note that while many industrialists recognize the

importance of sustainability, they believe it is a secondary priority compared to immediate survival needs, particularly in an economy plagued by energy crises and fiscal instability. This survival-over-sustainability mindset poses significant challenges to Pakistan's progress in achieving environmental goals and adopting modern green technologies like hydrogen production. However, addressing this requires a shift in policy and mindset. The government must create targeted incentives, such as subsidies for renewable energy adoption, tax breaks for green initiatives, or low-interest loans for sustainability projects, to encourage industries to integrate sustainable practices without compromising their economic stability. Furthermore, raising awareness about the long-term financial and environmental benefits of sustainability is crucial. Highlighting case studies where green investments have led to cost savings and improved efficiency can help reshape perceptions and demonstrate that sustainability is not a luxury but a necessity for long-term survival.

Pakistan's energy sector faces interconnected socio-economic, technological, and policy challenges. However, by learning from global best practices—such as Ethiopia's governance reforms, Kenya's digitalization initiatives, and Norway's safety standards—Pakistan can address these challenges and accelerate its transition to a sustainable energy future. International collaboration, capacity building, and innovative solutions tailored to local needs will be key to overcoming these challenges.

5.6 Practical Implications

The findings of this study offer a strategic roadmap for Pakistan's manufacturing sector to leverage green hydrogen storage technologies effectively while addressing key challenges. The results indicate that **economic recession** and **political interference** emerged as the most critical challenges, emphasizing the need of **financial stability** and **regulatory consistency** as foundational steps for large-scale development. From an **economic standpoint**, industries can benefit from mechanisms like **debt-for-climate swaps** and dedicated green energy investment funds, which can alleviate financial strain while enabling infrastructure expansion (Losos et al., 2024). Government-backed financial guarantees and risk-sharing models, such as **Minimum Revenue Guarantees and Revenue Caps**, can encourage industrial participation (Biancardi et al., 2024). By fostering transparency, building institutional capacity, and enhancing stakeholder

coordination, it is possible to mitigate the cascading effects of challenges and create a more resilient and sustainable energy storage system as confirmed by Lebedeva & Shkuropadska (2024) and Akinwale Omowumi Ishola et al., (2024). On the **technological front**, the results emphasize the importance of advancing storage technologies and modernizing infrastructure to improve operational efficiency. **R&D programs** for storage optimization and process automation is necessary. An automated energy monitoring and targeting system, compatible with ISO50001 and integrating SCADA and Soft-PLC technologies, can further optimize energy use and operational efficiency (Castro et al., 2013). **Regional implementation** strategies should be tailored by introducing **incentive packages**, localized infrastructure projects, and workforce capacity-building initiatives to ensure more balanced progress and optimize socio-economic benefits (Sarafinchan & Bilyk, 2022).

To address the pressing need for reducing global carbon emissions, the European Union (EU) has proposed the Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism (CBAM) (Zhong & Pei, 2024). This policy aims to mitigate carbon leakage and promote fair competition by imposing import taxes or offering export subsidies based on the carbon footprint of goods originating from countries with less stringent carbon policies. CBAM is expected to raise product prices in high-emission sectors, prompting industries to adopt cleaner technologies (Shidiq et al., 2024).

The process to finalize the Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism (CBAM) is almost complete. The European Commission's proposal includes key features like requiring importers to buy allowances tied to the EU's carbon pricing system (ETS) and calculating taxes based on the exporter's carbon emissions. It also plans to adjust for any carbon costs already paid by exporters in their own countries. Over the next ten years, free allowances will be gradually reduced and replaced by the CBAM. The funds collected through this mechanism will go into the EU budget to help tackle challenges from the COVID-19 pandemic and to support investments in green and digital technologies. CBAM will begin in October 2023 with a two-year transition phase, during which only reporting will be required. Full implementation, including the gradual phase-out of free allowances, is planned for the 2026–2034 period. This timeline ensures a structured rollout, allowing industries to adapt to the new requirements. This policy aims to reduce carbon emissions while encouraging a shift towards more sustainable practices (Bellora & Fontagné, 2023).

The legal impacts and risks of the Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism (CBAM) will depend on the method used for its implementation. The European Commission has proposed four main options (European Commission, 2020a):

- 1. Introducing a carbon tax that applies to both imported and domestic goods.
- 2. Implementing a carbon customs duty or tax specifically on imports.
- 3. Extending the EU Emissions Trading System (ETS) to include imports.
- Creating a separate system where importers must purchase carbon allowances at a price matching the EU's carbon market.

The choice among these approaches will influence how effective CBAM is, how it impacts trade, and whether it aligns with international regulations.

If implemented, CBAM could significantly reshape industrial practices, compelling industries to transition towards cleaner and more sustainable energy sources, such as green hydrogen, to remain competitive in global markets. By incentivizing such shifts, the policy could catalyze the adoption of green hydrogen storage, fostering innovation and reducing reliance on carbon-intensive processes. This aligns with the broader objective of decarbonizing industries and combating climate change effectively.

Green hydrogen storage could play a critical role in achieving these targets. The Paris Agreement is a legally binding international treaty on climate change. It was adopted by 196 Parties at the UN Climate Change Conference (COP21) in Paris, France, on December 12, 2015, and entered into force on November 4, 2016. Its main goal is to keep the global average temperature increase to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels, with an aim to limit the increase to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels. The agreement aims to strengthen nations' ability to address the impacts of climate change and align financial flows with low greenhouse gas emissions and climate-resilient pathways. To achieve these goals, adequate financial resources must be mobilized, along with new technology frameworks and expanded capacity building, particularly for developing and vulnerable countries. The Paris Agreement requires all Parties to regularly report on their emissions and implementation activities, and conduct a global stock-take every five

years to review collective progress and inform future individual actions (Abbass et al., 2022). It emphasizes that developed countries should take the lead in providing financial support to less developed and more vulnerable countries. For the first time, it also encourages voluntary contributions from other Parties.

The Framework for implementing the National Climate Change Policy for the period 2014-2030 aims to integrate climate-friendly policies into national and economic planning. Pakistan's "Vision 2025" sets out a long-term strategic plan for sustainable development, emphasizing climate action as a key priority. To support these goals, the Climate Finance Unit (CFU) has been established to facilitate sustained implementation of Pakistan's climate policy, its Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs), and programs under the Global Environment Facility (GEF) and Green Climate Fund (GCF). Additionally, the Prime Minister launched the "Clean Green Pakistan Movement," a nationwide initiative aimed at promoting environmentally friendly practices across all sectors. This movement aligns with Pakistan's Vision 2025 and the Power Policy 2015, which seek to enhance access to affordable, reliable, sustainable, and modern energy, in line with the SDGs (H. Aslam et al., 2020). In October 2021, Oracle Power announced its Green Hydrogen project in the Jhimpir Wind Corridor in Sindh, Pakistan. In March 2022, Oracle Power established a joint venture (JV) with His Highness Shaikh Ahmed Dalmook Al Maktoum to expedite the development of the project. The company has acquired 7,000 acres (28.3 km²) of land in the wind corridor of Jhimpir, which features an annual wind power generation capacity exceeding 50,000 MW and average wind speeds of up to 8 m/s. It has received a Letter of Intent (LOI) from the government, allowing the production of 1.2 GW of hybrid power. The project aims to generate approximately 55,000 tonnes of high-purity green hydrogen or 275,000 tonnes of green ammonia annually. This will potentially involve 400 MW electrolyzers, 500 MW wind power, 800 MW solar power, and adequate battery storage (Oracle Power, 2024).

From 1947 to the 1980s, agriculture was a cornerstone of Pakistan's economy, contributing significantly to output, employment, and trade. The country's early economic progress, starting in the 1950s, was largely supported by the 1960 Indus River basin agreement with India, which facilitated the construction of the Tarbela Dam and other key irrigation projects (Spielman & Malik, 2017). Pakistan's economy has historically relied on agriculture as a cornerstone, contributing approximately 23.37% to the GDP and employing 37.4% of the labor force (Statista,

2023). However, this sector faces significant challenges due to climate change and the ongoing energy crisis. Energy shortages directly impact agricultural productivity, exacerbating the economic strain on a country where agriculture is integral to livelihoods and food security. This dependency underscores the critical need for sustainable energy solutions and climate resilience strategies to support the sector. Moreover, the fertilizer industry emerges as a key area for implementing green hydrogen technology. Fertilizer production, particularly ammonia, is highly energy-intensive and traditionally reliant on natural gas. Transitioning to green hydrogen could enhance sustainability and efficiency in this sector, reducing greenhouse gas emissions and supporting environmental conservation. The production cost of green ammonia can be competitive with gray ammonia, especially when electricity prices are low. For instance, at RMB 0.1/kWh, green ammonia production costs can drop to RMB 1,115/t (Yue et al., 2024).

Other industries, such as the cement and steel sectors, also contribute significantly to environmental pollution. The cement industry accounts for about 5.3% of the global economy and consumes approximately 13% of the total industrial energy (Prachi Patel, 2024). However, this sector remains reliant on fossil fuels despite efforts to decarbonize through renewable energy and carbon capture technologies. Similarly, the steel industry predominantly produces secondary steel, involving the recycling of scrap metal. While less energy-intensive than primary production, it still contributes to environmental degradation. Green hydrogen adoption in these industries is limited, with the fertilizer sector presenting the most viable opportunity for meaningful impact. The challenges facing Pakistan's agriculture and industrial sectors highlight the need for integrated strategies to address energy shortages and climate change. Investing in renewable energy, fostering collaboration among stakeholders, and leveraging technologies like green hydrogen are essential steps toward building a resilient and sustainable economy.

Pakistan's economy is struggling with high inflation, low growth, and financial losses in government-owned businesses. Heavy debt, rising costs of loan repayments, expensive essential goods, and repeated failed IMF bailouts have worsened the situation (Naz & Riaz, 2024). The commitments of foreign aid for Pakistan have now surpassed the \$200 billion mark (Haque et al., 2024). While IMF programs have assisted Pakistan in achieving some of its short-term fiscal goals, they have also contributed to the decline in other economic indicators. These include rising inflation rates, reductions in social expenditures, and increased poverty levels (Ullah et al.,

2024).Debt-related challenges are seen as significant challenges to the growth of clean energy programs. External debt can limit renewable energy consumption, while key factors like institutional quality, educational spending, banking development, and economic growth are crucial for promoting green energy initiatives (Sadiq et al., 2024).Debt-for-nature swap financing is a method used to address environmental challenges in developing countries. It involves converting part of a country's foreign debt into funding for environmental conservation efforts, including projects like reforestation, habitat preservation, and wildlife protection (U. S. Ahmad et al., 2024). Strengthening domestic renewable energy markets and promoting international cooperation through initiatives such as debt-for-climate swaps could help ease the financial pressure on renewable energy investments. These efforts can provide additional resources and support for green energy projects, alleviating financial constraints and encouraging sustainable development.

Addressing ground-level business environment issues requires a multi-faceted approach aimed at simplifying regulatory procedures, reducing the time needed to obtain permits and licenses, and ensuring transparency to effectively tackle corruption. Additionally, improving the efficiency of customs and border clearance procedures is crucial for fostering a more seamless business operation. These efforts collectively aim to create a supportive and efficient environment where businesses can operate with reduced bureaucratic hurdles, increased transparency, and enhanced operational efficiency (Bibi et al., 2024).

To overcome the challenges associated with green hydrogen adoption, robust policy support is essential. Pakistan could look to international best practices for guidance, such as Germany's Renewable Energy Sources Act, which includes feed-in tariffs that support renewable energy projects, or Japan's Green Innovation Fund, which directly backs hydrogen technology development. The Australian Hydrogen Centre reports that utilizing existing gas infrastructure for hydrogen distribution can create significant economic value, support job creation, and enhance energy security, making it a viable model for regional development and green hydrogen adoption (Sharpe & Raman, 2024). By establishing similar hubs, Pakistan could develop centers of expertise and infrastructure, fostering investment and regional economic growth. Public-private partnerships also play a critical role in mobilizing the resources necessary for large-scale hydrogen projects, bridging the gap between government support and private sector innovation.

Suggested **implementation timeline** spans multiple phases, beginning with short-term goals (0-2 years) focused on establishing regulatory frameworks and initiating pilot projects, progressing through medium-term objectives (2-5 years) centered on scaling successful initiatives and expanding infrastructure networks, and culminating in long-term aims (5+ years) targeting full-scale implementation and operational optimization. Success metrics, represented by several key performance indicators, collectively assess the effectiveness and impact of the green hydrogen transition. These metrics encompass adoption rates, investment levels, safety performance, regional progress, and both economic and environmental outcomes.

5.7 Limitations

One limitation that became evident during the course of research is the lack of attention to the perception of sustainability within Pakistan's industries. While various challenges to the implementation of green hydrogen storage in Pakistan were identified, it should be initially address whether industries are genuinely prioritizing sustainability. In the context of Pakistan's economic struggles, where the primary focus is on survival, many stakeholders seem to perceive sustainability efforts, including carbon neutrality, as a luxury. This perception, particularly within industries, stems from the belief that Pakistan's emissions are relatively low, and thus, the country is not obliged to adopt sustainability practices to the same extent as developed nations. However, Pakistan, despite having relatively low per capita greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions—ranking 135th globally—faces high vulnerability to climate change, placing it 8th in global vulnerability rankings (Idris, 2024). This gap in research emerged after conducting interviews and analyzing the data, where it came to light that many participants were concerned more about immediate survival and profit rather than long-term environmental goals. The reluctance to focus on sustainability, especially in terms of carbon neutrality, is a critical aspect that needs to be considered. There is a disconnect between the need for environmental consciousness and the industry's immediate economic concerns, which could hinder the successful implementation of sustainable technologies like green hydrogen. This lack of prioritization of sustainability is a limitation in research that requires deeper exploration to fully understand the challenges and potential solutions for green hydrogen adoption in Pakistan. The issue is further compounded by the notion that the country's economic situation may not allow the luxury of focusing on global environmental concerns. The lack of awareness and willingness to prioritize sustainability among industries in Pakistan is a significant limitation when considering the adoption of sustainable technologies like green hydrogen.

Another notable limitation is the polarized perspectives observed between the private and government sectors regarding the challenges to green hydrogen storage in Pakistan. The private sector tends to adopt a more pessimistic view, emphasizing the difficulties and challenges posed by various challenges. This sector often assigns excessive weight to each perceived obstacle, reflecting a mindset that focuses heavily on the immediate risks and constraints. Conversely, the government sector holds a much more optimistic outlook, frequently underestimating or even overlooking the challenges, and instead focusing on the potential opportunities and benefits associated with green hydrogen adoption. This stark contrast in perspectives between the two sectors introduces a bias into the research, making it difficult to derive a balanced or comprehensive understanding of the real challenges may lie somewhere in between, and therefore require a more nuanced and integrated approach for effective policy formulation and decision-making. This limitation highlights the need for further investigation into the nuances and intermediate positions between these two extremes to develop a more accurate and balanced assessment of the challenges to green hydrogen storage in Pakistan.

A third limitation of this research is the lack of real-world application of green hydrogen in Pakistan. While hydrogen is used in various processes within the country, particularly in the industrial sector, there are currently no active green hydrogen projects. This absence of practical implementation means that much of the research relies on assumptions and theoretical frameworks, rather than actual case studies or real-world data. Consequently, the findings of this study may not fully reflect the challenges, opportunities, or dynamics that would arise when green hydrogen is actively adopted in Pakistan's context. The real-world situation could differ significantly from the theoretical assumptions made in this research, and further studies will be needed to validate these assumptions and better understand the practical feasibility and implications of green hydrogen adoption in Pakistan.

5.8 Conclusion

Green hydrogen is a growing field of research, primarily focused on supporting Affordable and Clean Energy (SDG 7) and Climate Action (SDG 13). Between 2016 and 2021, 50% of publications on this topic appeared in the top 10% of journals, reflecting the high quality of research and significant interest from leading academic publications (Raman et al., 2022). Pakistan's energy system planning also needs to account for long-term sustainability, focusing on improving efficiency, minimizing losses, and ensuring energy access for all. The "energy trilemma" – balancing security, affordability, and sustainability – is central to the country's energy strategy (Reza et al., 2024; Vandenberg, 2024). Macro-scale energy systems models, which incorporate temporal and spatial factors, are valuable tools, ensuring that investments in the energy system align with both immediate needs and long-term sustainability goals (Cevallos & Urquizo, 2024; H. Zhang et al., 2024).

The adoption of green hydrogen storage is a pivotal step toward achieving decarbonization and contributing to sustainable development. By transitioning to green hydrogen storage, Pakistan can substantially reduce the carbon footprint of its manufacturing sector while improving energy security and reducing dependence on imported fossil fuels. The adoption of green hydrogen also aligns with broader national goals of socio-economic development, job creation, and fostering technological innovation. However, to realize these benefits, Pakistan must address several challenges related to economic viability, political stability, technological readiness, and social acceptance.

This study used ABM to comprehensively analyze these challenges and to identify potential strategies to overcome them, thus contributing to the sustainable transformation of the manufacturing sector in Pakistan. Green hydrogen storage represents an environmentally sound alternative to conventional fossil fuels, with the capability to enhance energy security, promote sustainable practices in industry, and support socio-economic development. With the implementation of appropriate policies, investments, and technological advancements, green hydrogen storage can lead Pakistan towards a cleaner, more resilient, and sustainable future.

5.9 Future Research

Future research in the context of green hydrogen adoption in Pakistan should focus on understanding the underlying mindset of practitioners, which could provide critical insights into why sustainability is often not a primary concern. A key area of exploration is to conduct qualitative studies that examine the cultural, economic, and social factors influencing decisionmaking within both the private and public sectors. This research should aim to identify historical and economic narratives that might prioritize short-term survival and profit over long-term environmental goals, thus hindering the integration of sustainability into industry practices.

Additionally, future studies should assess the perception of long-term versus short-term objectives within Pakistani industries. This involves examining how industries weigh immediate financial concerns against long-term environmental benefits, particularly in the context of green technologies like hydrogen. Understanding the costs and perceived benefits associated with green hydrogen implementation, along with the factors that influence these perceptions, could help shift industry practices toward a more sustainable future.

References

- Abbass, K., Qasim, M. Z., Song, H., Murshed, M., Mahmood, H., & Younis, I. (2022). A review of the global climate change impacts, adaptation, and sustainable mitigation measures. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research 2022* 29:28, 29(28), 42539–42559. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11356-022-19718-6
- Abdin, Z. (2024). Shaping the stationary energy storage landscape with reversible fuel cells. *Journal of Energy Storage*, 86, 111354. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EST.2024.111354
- Abdulla, A., Hanna, R., Schell, K. R., Babacan, O., & Victor, D. G. (2021). Explaining successful and failed investments in U.S. carbon capture and storage using empirical and expert assessments. *Environmental Research Letters*, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ABD19E
- Abdullah, F. Bin, Arsalan Aqeeq, M., Iqbal, R., Abdullah, M., & Memon, F. S. (2024). Enhancing electricity distribution efficiency in Pakistan: A framework for progress and action. *Utilities Policy*, 88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jup.2024.101746
- Abdullahi, A. Y., & Abdullahi, A. Y. (2024). FINANCIAL CRISIS AND INSTABILITY. Journal of Advance Research in Business, Management and Accounting (ISSN: 2456-3544), 10(3), 39–45. https://doi.org/10.61841/ca6f7w38
- Abel, C. E., & Kenechukwu, C. G. (2024). Green Marketing and Sustainability: A Critical Review of Environmental, Consumer, Corporate, and Regulatory Perspectives. https://doi.org/10.20944/PREPRINTS202410.1495.V1
- Abidemi Obatoyinbo Ajayi, Chijioke Paul Agupugo, Chinonso Nwanevu, & Chuku Chimziebere Patience. (2024). Review of penetration and impact of utility solar installation in developing countries: policy and challenges. *International Journal of Frontiers in Engineering and Technology Research*, 7(2), 011–024. https://doi.org/10.53294/IJFETR.2024.7.2.0046
- Accastello, C., Cocuccioni, S., & Teich, M. (2022). The Concept of Risk and Natural Hazards. Protective Forests as Ecosystem-Based Solution for Disaster Risk Reduction (Eco-DRR). https://doi.org/10.5772/INTECHOPEN.99503

- Adebola Folorunso, Kehinde Olanipekun, Temitope Adewumi, & Bunmi Samuel. (2024). A policy framework on AI usage in developing countries and its impact. *Global Journal of Engineering and Technology Advances*, 21(1), 154–166. https://doi.org/10.30574/GJETA.2024.21.1.0192
- Ahmad, H., & Jamil, F. (2024). Investigating power outages in Pakistan. *Energy Policy*, 189. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENPOL.2024.114117
- Ahmad, U. S., Rahman, Z. ur, & Azam, M. (2024). Sustainability and Green Finance and its Relevance to Debt for Nature Swap Financing. *Palgrave Studies in Impact Finance*, 645– 671. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-65756-6_24
- Ahmed, M. (2023). Political Economy of Elite Capture and Clientelism in Public Resource Distribution: Theory and Evidence from Balochistan, Pakistan. *India Quarterly: A Journal of International Affairs*, 79(2), 223–243. https://doi.org/10.1177/09749284231165115
- Aissani, N., Guetarni, I. H. M., Chafaa, K., Rouidi, I., Merzougui, B., & Lounis, Z. (2024). Renewable energy for green Hydrogen production: experimentation and predictive tool. *Revue Des Énergies Renouvelables*. https://doi.org/10.54966/JREEN.V1I3.1292
- Aized, T., Rehman, S. M. S., & Sumair, M. (2021). Pakistan energy situation, policy, and issues. *Recent Advances in Renewable Energy Technologies: Volume 1*, 387–428. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-91093-4.00011-1
- Ajanovic, A., Sayer, M., & Haas, R. (2024). On the future relevance of green hydrogen in Europe. *Applied Energy*, *358*, 122586. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APENERGY.2023.122586
- Ajenikoko, G. A., Sanni, R. I. E., Omoyayo, I. A., Eboda, A. W., Olatinsu, S., Oyebamiji, S. E., & Ojekunle, P. (2022). Reliability Assessment of Power Distribution System Using Relative Customer Average Interruptions Duration Index Model. *Network and Complex Systems*, 14(0), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.7176/NCS/14-01
- Akash, F. A., Shovon, S. M., Rahman, W., Rahman, M. A., Chakraborty, P., & Monir, M. U. (2024). Greening the grid: A comprehensive review of renewable energy in Bangladesh. *Heliyon*, 10(5), e27477. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.HELIYON.2024.E27477

Akerstrom, M., Severin, J., Roczniewska, M., Jonsdottir, I. H., & Hadzibajramovic, E. (2024).

Examining preventive occupational health and safety management in the Swedish welfare sector–questionnaire development, its validity and reliability, and initial findings on employers' knowledge. *PLOS ONE*, *19*(11), e0311788–e0311788. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0311788

- Akinwale Omowumi Ishola, Olusegun Gbenga Odunaiya, & Oluwatobi Timothy Soyombo. (2024). Stakeholder communication framework for successful implementation of community-based renewable energy projects. *International Journal of Frontiers in Engineering and Technology Research*, 7(2), 025–043. https://doi.org/10.53294/IJFSTR.2024.7.2.0047
- Akomolehin, G. F., Nwankwo, S. O., Abiri-Franklin, S. O., Ogundipe, A. T., Okiki, P. A., Osukoya, O. A., Adeoye, A. O. M., Olarinde, S. E., Adeniran, A., Kayode, J. F., & Afolalu, S. A. (2024). Comparative Analysis of Cost Savings in the Utilization of Green Hydrogen Energy in Developing Countries. *International Conference on Science, Engineering and Business for Driving Sustainable Development Goals, SEB4SDG 2024*. https://doi.org/10.1109/SEB4SDG60871.2024.10630446
- Al Hasibi, R. A., & Bawan, E. K. (2023). An Analysis of the Impact of the Covid-19 Pandemic on the Implementation of Renewable Energy in the Supply of Electricity. *International Journal* of Sustainable Energy Planning and Management, 39, 3–21. https://doi.org/10.54337/IJSEPM.7659
- Aleha, A., Zahra, S. M., Memon, A. W., & Mahar, W. A. (2024). Measuring community disaster resilience in Southern Punjab: a study of 2022 floods in Pakistan. *Natural and Applied Sciences International Journal*, 5(1), 113–129. https://doi.org/10.47264/IDEA.NASIJ/5.1.8
- Alfasfos, R., Sillman, J., & Soukka, R. (2024). Lessons learned and recommendations from analysis of hydrogen incidents and accidents to support risk assessment for the hydrogen economy. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 60, 1203–1214. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2024.02.226
- Ali, M., Riaz, M., Koondhar, M. A., Akram, M. S., Guerrero, J. M., Vasquez, J. C., & Khan, B. (2023). Renewable energy sources-based hybrid microgrid system for off-grid electricity solution for rural communities. *Energy Science and Engineering*, 11(10), 3486–3499.

https://doi.org/10.1002/ESE3.1535

- Ali, N., Butzbach, O. K., Katohar, H. A., & Afridi, H. I. (2024). Structural and External Barriers to Pakistan's Economic Growth: Pathways to Sustainable Development. *World*, 5(4), 1120– 1129. https://doi.org/10.3390/WORLD5040056
- Ali, N., Karl Butzbach, O., Ali Katohar, H., Imran Afridi, H., Zulfiqar Ali Bhutto Campus, S., & Mirs, K. (2024). Structural and External Barriers to Pakistan's Economic Growth: Pathways to Sustainable Development. *World 2024, Vol. 5, Pages 1120-1129, 5*(4), 1120–1129. https://doi.org/10.3390/WORLD5040056
- Alizadeh, R., Soltanisehat, L., Lund, P. D., & Zamanisabzi, H. (2020). Improving renewable energy policy planning and decision-making through a hybrid MCDM method. *Energy Policy*, 137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2019.111174
- Alragabah, Y. A., & Ahmed, M. (2024). Impact assessment of critical success factors (CSFs) in public construction projects of Saudi Arabia. *Frontiers in Engineering and Built Environment*, 4(3), 184–195. https://doi.org/10.1108/FEBE-10-2023-0048/FULL/PDF
- Aouad, A., Almaksour, K., & Abbes, D. (2024). Storage management optimization based on electrical consumption and production forecast in a photovoltaic system. *Mathematics and Computers in Simulation*, 224, 128–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MATCOM.2023.10.007
- Arpino, F., Canale, C., Cortellessa, G., Dell'Isola, M., Ficco, G., Grossi, G., & Moretti, L. (2023).
 Green hydrogen for energy storage and natural gas system decarbonization: An Italian case study. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 49, 586–600. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2023.09.299
- Asghar, R., Sulaiman, M. H., Mustaffa, Z., Ullah, N., & Hassan, W. (2023). The important contribution of renewable energy technologies in overcoming Pakistan's energy crisis: Present challenges and potential opportunities. *Energy & Environment*, 34(8), 3450–3494. https://doi.org/10.1177/0958305X221134110
- Aslam, A., Zahra, S. F.-, Aslam, T., & Naseem, M. A. (2023). Political Interference and Bureaucratic Performance in Pakistan: A Perspective of Civil Servants. *Pakistan Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences*, 11(2). https://doi.org/10.52131/PJHSS.2023.1102.0407

- Aslam, H., Ahmed, V., Williamson, M., Rana, F., Zia, U. ur R., UN.ESCAP, & (SDPI), S. D. P.
 I. (2020). *Reform priorities for Pakistan's energy sector : perspectives in the backdrop of Paris Agreement*. https://repository.unescap.org/handle/20.500.12870/2901
- Aslami, M. M., Sadrina, S., & Fachri, M. R. (2024). Analysis of the Electric Power Distribution System Service Reliability Index at PLN Lancang Garam. JURNAL EDUNITRO Jurnal Pendidikan Teknik Elektro, 4(2), 59–66. https://doi.org/10.53682/EDUNITRO.V4I2.8567
- Asundi, A. (2015). *Thermochemical Water Splitting by Ceria*. http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2015/ph240/asundi1/
- Awais, M., & Wajid, M. T. (2024). (PDF) Comprehensive Analysis of Pakistan's Renewable Energy Landscape. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/378476425_Comprehensive_Analysis_of_Pakista n's_Renewable_Energy_Landscape
- Awasthi, A., Saxena, K. K., & Arun, V. (2020). Sustainability and survivability in manufacturing sector. *Modern Manufacturing Processes*, 205–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-819496-6.00011-7
- Ayaz, M., & Farooq, D. S. (2020). Water Crisis in Pakistan: A Historical Analysis of Kalabagh Dam. *Global Journal of Human-Social Science*, 20(D2), 33–39. https://socialscienceresearch.org/index.php/GJHSS/article/view/3214/4-Water-Crisis-in-Pakistan_html
- Babar, Z., & Waleed, K. (2024). Transitioning Away From Coal : An Orderly Retirement of Coal Power Plants in Pakistan. November.
- Baig, M. M. B., Yasin, M. O., & Haq, F. (2022). Comparative Analysis of Safety Management Systems in Large and Small Scale Textile Industries of Pakistan. *Annals of Human and Social Sciences*, 3(3), 179–186. https://doi.org/10.35484/AHSS.2022(3-III)17
- Baizholova, R., & Nuralina, K. (2024). IDENTIFYING REGIONAL INADEQUACIES AND ASSESSING THE ECONOMIC POTENTIAL AND COMPETITIVENESS OF THE REGION. *Education. Quality Assurance*, 2, 40–56. https://doi.org/10.58319/26170493_2024_2_40

116

- Barkhatov, V. D., Zaytseva, E. V., Lisanov, M. V., & Zhukov, I. S. (2022). Approaches to the Qualitative Assessment of the of Safety Barriers Performance at Oil and Gas Facilities. *Bezopasnost' Truda v Promyshlennosti*, 2022(12), 55–62. https://doi.org/10.24000/0409-2961-2022-12-55-62
- Barnes, D. J., & Chu, D. (2010). ABMs Using Repast and Java. Introduction to Modeling for Biosciences, 79–130. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-84996-326-8_3
- Bayssi, O., Nabil, N., Azaroual, M., Bousselamti, L., Boutammachte, N., Rachidi, S., & Barberis, S. (2024). Green hydrogen landscape in North African countries: Strengths, challenges, and future prospects. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 84, 822–839. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2024.08.277
- Beenstock, M., & Felsenstein, D. (2008). Regional Heterogeneity, Conditional Convergence and
 Regional Inequality. *Regional Studies*, 42(4), 475–488.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00343400701291500
- Bektaş, M. A., & Arpa, O. (2024). Hydrogen Fuel Cells: The Key to Clean Future. International Journal of Engineering Research and Development, 16(2), 798–812. https://doi.org/10.29137/UMAGD.1438229
- Bellora, C., & Fontagné, L. (2023). EU in search of a Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism. *Energy Economics*, 123, 106673. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENECO.2023.106673
- Bergman, M. (2012). Pragmatism as a Communication-Theoretical Tradition. *European Journal* of Pragmatism and American Philosophy, IV(1). https://doi.org/10.4000/EJPAP.785
- Berthet, E., Anquetil-Deck, C., Stadler, K., & Laurent, A. (2024). Towards reliable national social footprints: refining work-related injury and fatality metrics. *Discover Sustainability*, 5(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/S43621-024-00185-7/TABLES/1
- Bhardwaj, K. A. (2024a). Technological Advancements in Adopting Green Hydrogen in the Power and Energy Sector. 2017 IEEE Region 10 Symposium (TENSYMP), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1109/TENSYMP61132.2024.10752303
- Bhardwaj, K. A. (2024b). Technological Advancements in Adopting Green Hydrogen in the Power and Energy Sector. 2024 IEEE Region 10 Symposium, TENSYMP 2024.

https://doi.org/10.1109/TENSYMP61132.2024.10752303

- Bhardwaj, K. A. (2024c). Technological Advancements in Adopting Green Hydrogen in the Power and Energy Sector. 2017 IEEE Region 10 Symposium (TENSYMP), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1109/TENSYMP61132.2024.10752303
- Bhattacharya, H. (2022). Climate Justice Implications of the Relationship between Economic Inequality and Carbon Emissions in India. *Climate Justice in India*, 98–114. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009171908.006
- Biancardi, M., Bufalo, M., Di Bari, A., & Villani, G. (2024). A strategic options game approach to support PPP investment decisions under risk-sharing mechanisms. *Annals of Operations Research*. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10479-024-06155-6
- Bibi, H., Khan, S., Baloch, Z., & Benazir, S. (2024). CPEC At Crossroads: Assessing The Ten-Year Journey, Challenges, And Prospects For Sustainable Development In Pakistan. *Kurdish Studies*, 12(4), 410–416. https://doi.org/10.53555/KS.V12I4.2968
- BMUV: Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation, Nuclear Safety and Consumer Protection. (2022). https://www.bmuv.de/en/
- Bolz, S., Thiele, J., & Wendler, T. (2024). Regional capabilities and hydrogen adoption barriers. *Energy Policy*, 185, 113934. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENPOL.2023.113934
- Bonhomme, G., & Treiner, J. (2024). The impact of energy on the development of human societies and the global economy. *Reflets de La Physique*, 18–23. https://doi.org/10.1051/REFDP/2024S018
- Borshchev, A., & Grigoryev, I. (2013). *Big Book of Simulation Modeling AnyLogic Simulation Software*. https://www.anylogic.com/resources/books/big-book-of-simulation-modeling/
- Breeze, P. (2016). The Natural Gas Resource. *Gas-Turbine Power Generation*, 9–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804005-8.00002-1
- Brelsford, C., Lobo, J., Hand, J., & Bettencourt, L. M. A. (2017). Heterogeneity and scale of sustainable development in cities. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 114(34), 8963–8968.

https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1606033114/SUPPL_FILE/PNAS.1606033114.SAPP.PDF

- BRUNETTI, A. A. O., Kisunko, G., & Weder, B. S. (1997). Institutional obstacles to doing business : region-by-region results from a worldwide survey of the private sector. *Policy Research Working Paper Series*. https://ideas.repec.org/p/wbk/wbrwps/1759.html
- Buttner, W., Watson, C., Saur, G., Groth, K., Al-Douri, A., & Robinson, O. (2024). Increasing Reliability and Safety of Hydrogen Components - Reliability Data Collection. https://doi.org/10.2172/2337666
- Caprioli, C., Bottero, M., & De Angelis, E. (2023). Combining an agent-based model, hedonic pricing and multicriteria analysis to model green gentrification dynamics. *Computers, Environment and Urban Systems, 102*(101955). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compenvurbsys.2023.101955
- Castro, R. E., Libano, F. B., Chaves, L. F., & Hermes, J. G. (2013). Automated energy monitoring and targeting system ISO50001 compatible framework. *Proceedings of 2013 International Conference on Renewable Energy Research and Applications, ICRERA 2013*, 298–303. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICRERA.2013.6749769
- Catalina Spataru, C., Lv, X., Carvalho, P., Manta Nowbuth, M., & Ameli, N. (2024). *The role of big data and digitalization in energy transition and business sustainability*. Edward Elgar Publishing. https://www.elgaronline.com/edcollchap/book/9781035307494/book-part-9781035307494-12.xml
- Cecilia, A., Tost, R. M., & Ghasem, N. (2022). A Review of the CFD Modeling of Hydrogen Production in Catalytic Steam Reforming Reactors. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences 2022, Vol. 23, Page 16064*, 23(24), 16064. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS232416064
- Cellura, S., Mazza, A., Bompard, E. F., & Corgnati, S. P. (2022). Sustainability Assessment of Flywheel Energy Storage for Grid Applications. 2022 57th International Universities Power Engineering Conference: Big Data and Smart Grids, UPEC 2022 - Proceedings, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1109/UPEC55022.2022.9917658
- Čeponis, D. (2021). Research of machine and deep learning methods application for host-level intrusion detection and classification. *Research of Machine and Deep Learning Methods*

ApplicationforHost-LevelIntrusionDetectionandClassification.https://doi.org/10.20334/2021-008-M

- Cevallos, B., & Urquizo, J. (2024). Spatial national multi-period long-term energy and carbon planning scenarios in Ecuador's electric system. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 370, 122010. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVMAN.2024.122010
- Chancel, L. (2022). Global carbon inequality over 1990–2019. *Nature Sustainability 2022 5:11*, 5(11), 931–938. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-022-00955-z
- Chandrakala, P., Liz, A. S., Mane, V., Jeshurun, S. B., Sharma, G., Pardeshi, P. R., & Senthil kumar, R. (2024). Advanced Materials for Next-Generation Energy Storage Devices: A Focus on Efficiency and Cost Reduction. *E3S Web of Conferences*, *591*, 01001. https://doi.org/10.1051/E3SCONF/202459101001
- Chang, Q., Dempsey, D., & Huang, L. (2024). Investigation of Gas Behaviors in Caprock for Understanding Gas Leakage During Underground Hydrogen Storage. APOGCE 2024 - SPE Asia Pacific Oil and Gas Conference and Exhibition. https://doi.org/10.2118/221253-MS
- Cheilas, P. T., Daglis, T., Xidonas, P., Michaelides, P. G., & Konstantakis, K. N. (2024). Financial dynamics, green transition and hydrogen economy in Europe. *International Review of Economics & Finance*, 94, 103370. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IREF.2024.05.049
- Cheng, S., Giabbanelli, P., & Kuang, Z. (2023). Identifying the Building Blocks of Social Simulation Models: A Qualitative Analysis using Open-Source Codes in NetLogo. Annual Modeling and Simulation Conference.
- Chester, M. V., & Allenby, B. R. (2020). Perspective: The Cyber Frontier and Infrastructure. *IEEE* Access, 8, 28301–28310. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2020.2971960
- Chidire, A., Schifflechner, C., & Massier, T. (2023). Life cycle assessment of green hydrogen production via geothermal energy-driven electrolysis. 2023 IEEE PES Innovative Smart Grid Technologies Asia, ISGT Asia 2023. https://doi.org/10.1109/ISGTASIA54891.2023.10372686
- China. (2023). OECD Companion to the Inventory of Support Measures for Fossil Fuels: Country Notes. https://doi.org/10.1787/F23501B4-EN

- Chirosca, A. M., Rusu, E., & Minzu, V. (2024). Green Hydrogen—Production and Storage Methods: Current Status and Future Directions. *Energies*, 17(23), 5820–5820. https://doi.org/10.3390/EN17235820
- Chmielniak, T., Iluk, T., Stepien, L., Billig, T., & Sciazko, M. (2024). Production of Hydrogen from Biomass with Negative CO2 Emissions Using a Commercial-Scale Fluidized Bed Gasifier. *Energies* 2024, Vol. 17, Page 5591, 17(22), 5591. https://doi.org/10.3390/EN17225591
- Christensen, K., Ma, Z., & Jørgensen, B. N. (2024). Multi-agent Based Simulation for Investigating Electric Vehicle Adoption and Its Impacts on Electricity Distribution Grids and CO2 Emissions. Lecture Notes in Computer Science (Including Subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics), 14468 LNCS, 3–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-48652-4_1
- Christiano, L. J. (2017). The Great Recession: A Macroeconomic Earthquake. *Economic Policy Paper*. https://ideas.repec.org/p/fip/fedmep/17-1.html
- Chughtai, A., Aslam Uqaili, M., Hussain Mirjat, N., Shaikh, F., Ahmed Khatri, S., Ding, F., Qazi, S., Norense Osarumwense Asemota, G., & Mirjat, H. N. (2024). Demand-side management scenario analysis for the energy-efficient future of Pakistan: Bridging the gap between market interests and national priorities. *Frontiers in Energy Research*, 12, 1391973. https://doi.org/10.3389/FENRG.2024.1391973
- Chughtai, A., Uqaili, M. A., Mirjat, N. H., & Shaikh, F. U. (2023). Diagnosis of Energy Crisis of Pakistan and Assessment of DSM as Viable Solution. *Engineering Proceedings*, 46(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/ENGPROC2023046035
- Cioccolanti, L., Moglie, M., Mahkamov, K., Paksoy, H., Chen, C., Lin, J., Li, C., Guan, Y., Zhou, W., Abdullah, E., Mohd Radzi, M. A., Shafie, S., Alimuddin, Z., Yusof Idroas, M., Yew Heng, T., Azmier Ahmad, M., Azman Miskam, M., Kraitong, K., Wongsapai, W., ... Damronsak, D. (2021). Analysis of labour market needs for engineers with enhanced knowledge in sustainable renewable energy solutions in the built environment in some Asian countries. *E3S Web of Conferences*, 238. https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/202123807004

- Criollo, A., Minchala-Avila, L. I., Benavides, D., Ochoa-Correa, D., Tostado-Véliz, M., Meteab,
 W. K., & Jurado, F. (2024a). Green Hydrogen Production—Fidelity in Simulation Models for Technical–Economic Analysis. *Applied Sciences 2024, Vol. 14, Page 10720, 14*(22), 10720. https://doi.org/10.3390/APP142210720
- Criollo, A., Minchala-Avila, L. I., Benavides, D., Ochoa-Correa, D., Tostado-Véliz, M., Meteab,
 W. K., & Jurado, F. (2024b). Green Hydrogen Production—Fidelity in Simulation Models for Technical–Economic Analysis. *Applied Sciences 2024, Vol. 14, Page 10720, 14*(22), 10720. https://doi.org/10.3390/APP142210720
- Dai, H., Zhang, T., Miao, L., Chen, J., Liu, T., & Zhang, X. (2024). Spatialization Research of Statistic Population based on Multi-Source Geospatial Data. 21, 5415–5418. https://doi.org/10.1109/IGARSS53475.2024.10641468
- Damanbagh, S., & Alizadeh, H. (2024). Modeling obstacles to the realization of knowledge-based urban development. *Geographical Urban Planning Research (GUPR)*, 11(4), 67–89. https://doi.org/10.22059/JURBANGEO.2024.366572.1868
- Das, S. (2023). Data Analysis of Factors Contributing to the Adoption of Green Hydrogen.

 Https://Doi.Org/10.1177/10704965231211588,
 32(4),
 444–465.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/10704965231211588
- Davey, R. (2024). *The Different Types of Hydrogen: An Overview*. https://www.azocleantech.com/article.aspx?ArticleID=1894
- Davies, E., Ehrmann, A., & Schwenzfeier-Hellkamp, E. (2024). Safety of Hydrogen Storage Technologies. *Processes*, 12(10), 2182–2182. https://doi.org/10.3390/PR12102182
- Davim, J. P. (2024). Manufacturing. International Journal of Manufacturing, Materials, and Mechanical Engineering, 13(1). https://doi.org/10.4018/IJMMME.360710
- De Felice, F., & Petrillo, A. (2021). An interdisciplinary framework to define strategies for digitalization and sustainability: Proposal of a 'digicircular' model. *IET Collaborative Intelligent Manufacturing*, 3(1), 75–84. https://doi.org/10.1049/CIM2.12013
- de Fine Licht, K., & Folland, A. (2024). Redefining 'sustainability': A systematic approach for defining and assessing 'sustainability' and 'social sustainability.' *Theoria (Sweden)*.

https://doi.org/10.1111/THEO.12568

- De Laurentis, C., & Pearson, P. J. G. (2021). Policy-relevant insights for regional renewable energy deployment. *Energy, Sustainability and Society*, 11(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13705-021-00295-4/TABLES/2
- De Tré, G., Zadrozny, S., Sotirov, S., & Atanassov, K. (2017). Using index matrices for handling multiple scenarios in decision making. *Proceedings of the 21st International Conference on Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets*, 23(2), 103–110. http://hdl.handle.net/1854/LU-8521471
- Denham, T. (2020). Societal Problems as Public Bads. *Housing, Theory and Society*, *37*(3), 380–381. https://doi.org/10.1080/14036096.2019.1660052
- Detemple, J., & Wicht, A. (2024). Uncovering Regional Inequalities in Digitalization: A Multifaceted Measurement for Germany. *Measurement Instruments for the Social Sciences*, 6, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.5964/MISS.13387
- Dincer, I., & Ishaq, H. (2022). Geothermal Energy-Based Hydrogen Production. *Renewable Hydrogen Production*, 159–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-85176-3.00003-2
- Ding, C., Ke, J., Levine, M., & Zhou, N. (2024). Potential of artificial intelligence in reducing energy and carbon emissions of commercial buildings at scale. *Nature Communications 2024* 15:1, 15(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-024-50088-4
- Dokas, I., Panagiotidis, M., Papadamou, S., & Spyromitros, E. (2022). The Determinants of Energy and Electricity Consumption in Developed and Developing Countries: International Evidence. *Energies* 2022, Vol. 15, Page 2558, 15(7), 2558. https://doi.org/10.3390/EN15072558
- Duc, K. N., Thai, P. N., Nguyen, C. D., Dinh, T. K. O., Nguyen, T. M. P., & Truong, Q. D. (2024).
 Regional Heterogeneity in Livelihood Strategies and Its Implications for Household Welfare:
 A Panel Data Analysis of Rural Vietnam. *Agris On-Line Papers in Economics and Informatics*, 16(3), 75–91. https://doi.org/10.7160/AOL.2024.160306
- Duncan, I. J., & Wang, H. (2014). Estimating the likelihood of pipeline failure in CO2 transmission pipelines: New insights on risks of carbon capture and storage. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 21, 49–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJGGC.2013.11.005

- Eckert, J., Huber, S., Klein, C., & Zwergel, B. (2024). New Evidence on the Investor Group Heterogeneity in the Field of Sustainable Investing. https://doi.org/10.2139/SSRN.4699013
- Eden, C., & Ackermann, F. (2021). Modelling Stakeholder Dynamics for Supporting Group Decision and Negotiation: Theory to Practice. *Group Decision and Negotiation*, 30(5), 1001– 1025. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10726-021-09745-Y/FIGURES/11
- El Kholti, R., Soltani, S., Durand, P., & El Kholti, A. (2024). P-407 CALCULATING DATA FOR NATIONAL OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY NATIONAL PROFILES IN ACCORDANCE WITH ILO RECOMMENDATION 197. Occupational Medicine, 74(Supplement_1), 0–0. https://doi.org/10.1093/OCCMED/KQAE023.1086
- Eryanto, D., van Eeden Jones, I., & Lasthuizen, K. (2022). The troubling impact of political interference in Indonesian public sector institutions on ethical leadership credibility. *International Journal of Public Leadership*, 18(4), 319–336. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPL-10-2021-0056/FULL/XML
- Esen, H. (2023). ANALYTICAL HIERARCHY PROCESS PROBLEM SOLUTION. Analytic Hierarchy Process - Models, Methods, Concepts, and Applications [Working Title]. https://doi.org/10.5772/INTECHOPEN.1001072
- Fagan, M. L. (2024). Greening supply chains. Supply Chain Management, 196–222. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781035329601.00018
- Fan, Z. (2024a). The Role of Hydrogen in Achieving Sustainable Energy Systems: Challenges and Opportunities. *Highlights in Science, Engineering and Technology*, 116, 237–240. https://doi.org/10.54097/BKF70M20
- Fan, Z. (2024b). The Role of Hydrogen in Achieving Sustainable Energy Systems: Challenges and Opportunities. *Highlights in Science, Engineering and Technology*, 116, 237–240. https://doi.org/10.54097/BKF70M20
- Fan, Z. (2024c). The Role of Hydrogen in Achieving Sustainable Energy Systems: Challenges and Opportunities. *Highlights in Science, Engineering and Technology*, 116, 237–240. https://doi.org/10.54097/BKF70M20
- FAO publications catalogue 2024. (2024). https://doi.org/10.4060/CD2332EN

- Fatima, S., & Zeeshan, M. (2024). Energy potential assessment and geospatial site suitability analysis for crop residue-based power plants in Pakistan. *Sustainable Production and Consumption*, 45, 488–508. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SPC.2024.01.023
- Fawad Saleem Satti, Muhammad Awais Munawar, Danish Rafaqat, Danish Zahoor, & Khurrum Shehzad Quraishi. (2024). Exploring the potential of biohydrogen as a sustainable energy solution for Pakistan: A review of production processes and policy challenges. *International Journal of Science and Research Archive*, 13(1), 2663–2669. https://doi.org/10.30574/IJSRA.2024.13.1.1966
- Fazal, R., Rehman, S. A. U., & Bhatti, M. I. (2022). Graph theoretic approach to expose the energyinduced crisis in Pakistan. *Energy Policy*, 169, 113174. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENPOL.2022.113174
- Federal Gazette. (2021). https://na.gov.pk/uploads/documents/1625235552_468.pdf
- Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Climate Action Contact / Federal Government. (n.d.). Retrieved December 29, 2024, from https://www.bundesregierung.de/breg-en/federalgovernment/ministries/ministry-for-economic-affairs-and-climate-action
- Fernández-González, R., Puime-Guillén, F., & Panait, M. (2022). Multilevel governance, PV solar energy, and entrepreneurship: the generation of green hydrogen as a fuel of renewable origin. *Utilities Policy*, 79, 101438. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JUP.2022.101438
- Fernandez, R. J. (2020). Simulating Complex Traffic Intersection Dynamics using an Agent-Based Modelling Framework on the NetLogo Platform. *ViXra*.
- Flick, U. (2022). An Introduction to Qualitative Research. 1–100.
- Franc, J., Hung, K., Pirisi, A., & Weinstein, E. (2023). Analysis of Delphi Study Seven-Point Linear Scale Data by Parametric Methods–Use of the Mean and Standard Deviation. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*, 38(S1), s30–s31. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1049023X23001188
- Gbededo, M. A., Liyanage, K., & Garza-Reyes, J. A. (2018). Towards a Life Cycle Sustainability Analysis: A systematic review of approaches to sustainable manufacturing. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 184, 1002–1015. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2018.02.310

- Gill, A. R., Rasheed, N., Abrarulhaq, M., & Akram, F. (2022). An Estimation of the Multidimensional Energy Poverty Index in Pakistan. 2022 International Conference on Innovation and Intelligence for Informatics, Computing, and Technologies, 3ICT 2022, 58– 63. https://doi.org/10.1109/3ICT56508.2022.9990754
- Gjorgjev, M., & Byanov, I. (2022). Impact of Investments in Healthy and Safe Working Conditions on Increasing Productivity and Effectiveness of Light and Heavy Industry Enterprises in the Republic of North Macedonia Compared To the Republic of Germany. *Socio-Economic Analyses*, 13(2), 222–230. https://doi.org/10.54664/RDRE4774
- Gleason, C. R., Ji, Q. C., & Wickremsinhe, E. R. (2020). Evaluation of correlation between bioanalytical methods. *Bioanalysis*, 12(6), 419–426. https://doi.org/10.4155/BIO-2020-0019
- Global Wind Report 2022 Global Wind Energy Council. (2022). https://gwec.net/global-wind-report-2022/
- Gondal, I. A., Masood, S. A., & Amjad, M. (2017). Review of geothermal energy development efforts in Pakistan and way forward. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 71, 687– 696. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSER.2016.12.097
- Gordienko, D. M., & Shebeko, Y. N. (2022). Fire and Explosion Safety of Hydrogen Energy Facilities. *Безопасность Труда в Промышленности*, 2022(2), 7–12. https://doi.org/10.24000/0409-2961-2022-2-7-12
- Govindan, K., & Jepsen, M. B. (2016). ELECTRE: A comprehensive literature review on methodologies and applications. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 250(1), 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EJOR.2015.07.019
- Gradillas, M., & Thomas, L. D. W. (2025). Distinguishing digitization and digitalization: A systematic review and conceptual framework. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 42(1), 112–143. https://doi.org/10.1111/JPIM.12690
- Green Hydrogen Oracle Power. (2024). https://oraclepower.co.uk/green-hydrogen/
- Greig, C. (2023). *Chris Greig* / *Princeton Environmental Research*. https://environmenthalfcentury.princeton.edu/experts/chris-greig

- Grignard, A., Taillandier, P., Gaudou, B., Vo, D. A., Huynh, N. Q., & Drogoul, A. (2013). GAMA
 1.6: Advancing the Art of Complex Agent-Based Modeling and Simulation. *Lecture Notes in Computer Science (Including Subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics)*, 8291 LNAI, 117–131. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-44927-7_9
- Gusev, A. L., Gafarov, A. M., Suleymanov, P. H., Habibov, I. A., Malikov, R. K., Hasanov, Y. H., Levina, A. I., Mikheev, P., & Ufa, R. A. (2024). Some aspects of reliability prediction of chemical industry and hydrogen energy facilities (vessels, machinery and equipment) operated in emergency situations and extreme conditions. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 86, 482–510. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2024.07.462
- HABIB, S., IQBAL, K. M. J., AMIR, S., NASEER, H. M., AKHTAR, N., REHMAN, W. U., & KHAN, M. I. (2021). RENEWABLE ENERGY POTENTIAL IN PAKISTAN AND BARRIERS TO ITS DEVELOPMENT FOR OVERCOMING POWER CRISIS / The journal of contemporary issues in business and government. https://cibgp.com/au/index.php/1323-6903/article/view/1547
- Hydropower Status Report. (2022.).https://www.hydropower.org/publications/2022-hydropowerstatus-report
- Hakaki, A., Shafiei Nikabadi, M., & Heidarloo, M. A. (2021). An optimized model for open innovation success in manufacturing SMES. *RAIRO - Operations Research*, 55(6), 3339– 3357. https://doi.org/10.1051/RO/2021161
- Hakovirta, M. (2023). Socioeconomic Aspects of Climate Change in Cities and Municipalities. *Springer Climate*, *Part F1826*, 143–156. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-45202-4_8
- Halog, A., & Manik, Y. (2011). Advancing Integrated Systems Modelling Framework for Life Cycle Sustainability Assessment. Sustainability 2011, Vol. 3, Pages 469-499, 3(2), 469–499. https://doi.org/10.3390/SU3020469
- Han, P., Zeng, N., Zhang, W., Cai, Q., Yang, R., Yao, B., Lin, X., Wang, G., Liu, D., & Yu, Y. (2021). Decreasing emissions and increasing sink capacity to support China in achieving carbon neutrality before 2060. http://arxiv.org/abs/2102.10871

- Haque, N. U., Mehmood, S., Jalil, H. H., Shabbir, A., & Baneen, S. U. U. (2024). Foreign Aid Donors And Consultants: Analyzing Pakistan's Foreign Aid Inflows And Its Outcomes. *Https://Pide.Org.Pk/.*
- Haris, M., & Yang, Q. (2023a). Investigating the Moderating Role of Political Factors on Internal Success Factors and Project Success: Empirical Evidence from Pakistan. *Sustainability 2023, Vol. 15, Page 8910, 15*(11), 8910. https://doi.org/10.3390/SU15118910
- Haris, M., & Yang, Q. (2023b). Investigating the Moderating Role of Political Factors on Internal Success Factors and Project Success: Empirical Evidence from Pakistan. *Sustainability 2023*, *Vol. 15, Page 8910*, 15(11), 8910. https://doi.org/10.3390/SU15118910
- Harutyunyan, N. A. (2024). ASSESSMENT OF DEMOGRAPHIC CAPACITY IN THE CONTEXT OF SPATIAL PLANNING. Proceedings of the YSU C: Geological and Geographical Sciences, 58(2 (263)), 114–124. https://doi.org/10.46991/PYSU:C.2024.58.2.114
- Hassan, Q., Algburi, S., Sameen, A. Z., Salman, H. M., & Jaszczur, M. (2023). Green hydrogen:
 A pathway to a sustainable energy future. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 50, 310–333. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2023.08.321
- Hassan, Q., Algburi, S., Sameen, A. Z., Salman, H. M., & Jaszczur, M. (2024). Green hydrogen: A pathway to a sustainable energy future. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 50, 310–333. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2023.08.321
- He, W., & Tang, C. (2024). Navigating the Complex Landscape of Global Economics: The Role of Political Decisions and Institutional Frameworks. *Advances in Economics, Management and Political Sciences*, 100(1), 35–40. https://doi.org/10.54254/2754-1169/100/20241101
- Hermesmann, M., Tsiklios, C., & Müller, T. E. (2023). The environmental impact of renewable hydrogen supply chains: Local vs. remote production and long-distance hydrogen transport. *Applied Energy*, 351. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APENERGY.2023.121920
- Ho, W. (2008). Integrated analytic hierarchy process and its applications A literature review.
 European Journal of Operational Research, 186(1), 211–228.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EJOR.2007.01.004

- Hornuf, L., Stenzhorn, E., & Vintis, T. (2022). Are sustainability-oriented investors different? Evidence from equity crowdfunding. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, 47(6), 1662–1689. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10961-021-09896-9/TABLES/10
- Hosseini, S. E., & Wahid, M. A. (2016). Hydrogen production from renewable and sustainable energy resources: Promising green energy carrier for clean development. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 57, 850–866. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSER.2015.12.112
- Hull, R. B. (2022). Adaptive Management. *The Routledge Companion to Environmental Ethics*, 717–726. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315768090-70
- Hwang, H. J., & Hwang, S. H. (2024). Developing an internet of things system for hydrogen leak detection at hydrogen refueling stations integrating LoRa and global positioning system. *Edelweiss Applied Science and Technology*, 8(5), 1582–1593. https://doi.org/10.55214/25768484.V8I5.1874
- Hwang, K. Y., & C.L. (1995). Multiple Attribute Decision Making: An Introduction, Sage, Thousand Oaks, CA. In *Sage Publications Thousand Oaks CA* (Vol. 104). Sage publications.
- *Hydrogen Insights* 2022 / *Hydrogen Council.* (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2025, from https://hydrogencouncil.com/en/hydrogen-insights-2022/
- Ibrahim, A. S., Lanhui, A. W., Salihu, H., & Gani, M. (2019). (PDF) An Analysis on the Causes and Effects of Recent Economic Recession on the Nigerian Economy. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/331979353_An_Analysis_on_the_Causes_and_Effects_of_Recent_Economic_Recession_on_the_Nigerian_Economy
- Idris, S. (2024). Climate Change. Advances in Environmental Engineering and Green Technologies Book Series, 111–135. https://doi.org/10.4018/979-8-3693-2845-3.CH007
- Ikumapayi, O. M., Laseinde, O. T., Ting, T. T., Afolalu, S. A., Adetunla, A. O., & Ogedengbe, T.
 S. (2024). A Study on the Utilization of Green Hydrogen Energy An Overview. *International Conference on Science, Engineering and Business for Driving Sustainable Development Goals*, *SEB4SDG*2024. https://doi.org/10.1109/SEB4SDG60871.2024.10630136

Integrated Energy Planning for Sustainable Development -Pakistan Energy Outlook Report 2021-
2030 Ministry of Planning, Development & Special Initiatives Government of Pakistan (GoP). (2022). chromeextension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://www.pc.gov.pk/uploads/report/IEP_ Outlook_Final.pdf

- IRENA. (2021). Renewable Energy Statistic 2021. Renewable Energy Statistic 2021, 56(December 2021), 1–460. www.irena.org
- Jackson, P., & Holm, L. (2024). Social and economic dimensions of food sustainability a background paper for the Nordic Nutrition Recommendations. *Food & Nutrition Research*, 68. https://doi.org/10.29219/FNR.V68.10450
- Jamali, M. A., Agheem, M. H., Lashari, R. A., Markhand, A. H., Qureshi, A. L., Thebo, G. M., Haq, A. U., & Wali Arain, A. Y. (2024). Evaluation of subsurface geothermal groundwater aquifers at Southern Kirthar Range Sindh province Pakistan through the application of vertical electrical sounding. *Mehran University Research Journal of Engineering and Technology*, 43(4), 91–91. https://doi.org/10.22581/MUET1982.3063
- Janjua, J. I., Anwer, O., & Saber, A. (2023). Management Framework for Energy Crisis & Shaping Future Energy Outlook in Pakistan. 2023 IEEE Jordan International Joint Conference on Electrical Engineering and Information Technology, JEEIT 2023, 312–317. https://doi.org/10.1109/JEEIT58638.2023.10185730
- Janssen, M. A., & Ostrom, E. (2006). *Empirically Based, Agent-based models on JSTOR*. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26265994
- Jawwad Riaz, F. N. (2024). SOCIO- POLITICAL IMPACTS AND CHALLENGES OF URBANIZATION ON PAKISTAN. Pakistan Journal of International Affairs, 7(2). https://doi.org/10.52337/PJIA.V7I2.1057
- Jayaprabakar, J., Sri Hari, N. S., Badreenath, M., Anish, M., Joy, N., Prabhu, A., Rajasimman, M., & Kumar, J. A. (2024). Nano materials for green hydrogen production: Technical insights on nano material selection, properties, production routes and commercial applications. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 52, 674–686. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2023.06.109

- Jia, N., You, Y., Lu, Y., Guo, Y., & Yang, K. (2019). Research on the Search and Rescue Systemof-Systems Capability Evaluation Index System Construction Method Based on Weighted Supernetwork. *IEEE Access*, 7, 97401–97425. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2929235
- Johansen, T., Blindheim, S., Torben, T. R., Utne, I. B., Johansen, T. A., & Sørensen, A. J. (2023). Development and testing of a risk-based control system for autonomous ships. *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, 234, 109195. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RESS.2023.109195
- Johnston, M. P. (2014). Secondary Data Analysis: A Method of which the Time Has Come. *Qualitative and Quantitative Methods in Libraries*, *3*(3), 619–626. https://www.qqmljournal.net/index.php/qqml/article/view/169
- Jung, C. S., Lee, D. W., & Park, K. S. (2009). Can investor heterogeneity be used to explain the cross-section of average stock returns in emerging markets? *Journal of International Money* and Finance, 28(4), 648–670. https://ideas.repec.org/a/eee/jimfin/v28y2009i4p648-670.html
- Kalchschmid, V., Erhart, V., Angerer, K., Roth, S., & Hohmann, A. (2023). Decentral Production of Green Hydrogen for Energy Systems: An Economically and Environmentally Viable Solution for Surplus Self-Generated Energy in Manufacturing Companies? *Sustainability*, 15(4), 2994–2994. https://doi.org/10.3390/SU15042994
- Kaniyamattam, K. (2022). 71 Agent-Based Modeling: A Historical Perspective and Comparison to Other Modeling Techniques. *Journal of Animal Science*, 100(Supplement_3), 32–33. https://doi.org/10.1093/JAS/SKAC247.062
- Kanwal, S., Mehran, M. T., Hassan, M., Anwar, M., Naqvi, S. R., & Khoja, A. H. (2022). An integrated future approach for the energy security of Pakistan: Replacement of fossil fuels with syngas for better environment and socio-economic development. *Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 156, 111978–111978. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSER.2021.111978
- KEA KOREA ENERGY AGENCY. (2022). https://www.energy.or.kr/en/main/main.do
- KHAN, A. H. (2024). EFFECTIVE DECISION MAKING USING DATA ANALYTICS. INTERANTIONAL JOURNAL OF SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH IN ENGINEERING AND

MANAGEMENT, 08(04), 1-5. https://doi.org/10.55041/IJSREM32598

- Khan, A., Hussain, I., & Khan, N. (2024). Impact of Energy Crisis on Developed and Developing Countries: A Comparative Review. *Https://Services.Igi-Global.Com/Resolvedoi/Resolve.Aspx?Doi=10.4018/979-8-3693-0618-5.Ch014*, 288–315. https://doi.org/10.4018/979-8-3693-0618-5.CH014
- Kitts, K. (1995). Defining National Security: The Nonmilitary Aspects (REVIEW). Presidential Quarterly Studies, 25(4), 845–846. https://books.google.com/books/about/Defining_National_Security.html?id=shxDOnuVcyY C
- Khan, M. S., & Khan, A. A. (2023). Household air pollution: A dire need of awareness in Pakistan. *Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association*, 73(10), 2142–2142. https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.9404
- Khatri, S. A., Mirjat, N. H., Harijan, K., Uqaili, M. A., Shah, S. F., Shaikh, P. H., & Kumar, L. (2022). An Overview of the Current Energy Situation of Pakistan and the Way Forward Towards Green Energy Implementation. *Energies*, 16(1), 423–423. https://doi.org/10.3390/EN16010423
- Kiasari, M., Ghaffari, M., & Aly, H. H. (2024). A Comprehensive Review of the Current Status of Smart Grid Technologies for Renewable Energies Integration and Future Trends: The Role of Machine Learning and Energy Storage Systems. *Energies 2024, Vol. 17, Page 4128,* 17(16), 4128. https://doi.org/10.3390/EN17164128
- Kilinc-Ata, N., & Dolmatov, I. A. (2023). Which factors influence the decisions of renewable energy investors? Empirical evidence from OECD and BRICS countries. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 30(1), 1720–1736. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11356-022-22274-8/TABLES/8
- Kim, S., Park, J., & Lee, J. H. (2024). Integrating solid direct air capture systems with green hydrogen production: Economic synergy of sector coupling. https://arxiv.org/abs/2406.00665v3

Kipāne, A., & Vilks, A. (2023). Research of Adverse Social Effects and Prevention Challenges in

the Context of Sustainable Societal Development. *European Journal of Sustainable Development*, 12(4), 198. https://doi.org/10.14207/EJSD.2023.V12N4P198

- Komala, C. R., Basha, M. M., Farook, S., Niranchana, R., Rajendiran, M., & Subhi, B. (2024). Smart Energy Systems-Integrated Machine Learning, IoT, and AI Tools. *Https://Services.Igi-Global.Com/Resolvedoi/Resolve.Aspx?Doi=10.4018/979-8-3693-2351-9.Ch011*, 201–229. https://doi.org/10.4018/979-8-3693-2351-9.CH011
- Komorowski, P., & Grzywacz, M. (2023). Green hydrogen in Africa: opportunities and limitations. *Journal of Management and Financial Sciences*, 50, 61–79. https://doi.org/10.33119/JMFS.2023.50.4
- Kondos, N. A., Barrett, J., McDonall, J., & Bucknall, T. (2023). A Delphi study to obtain consensus on medical emergency team (MET) stand-down decision making. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 32(21–22), 7873–7882. https://doi.org/10.1111/JOCN.16859
- Kosyakov, S. V., & Sadykov, A. M. (2019). Regional population distribution statistical method based on base station coverage sector gridding. *Geo-Spatial Information Science*, 18(4), 183– 192. https://doi.org/10.1080/10095020.2015.1128696
- Kourougianni, F., Arsalis, A., Olympios, A. V., Yiasoumas, G., Konstantinou, C., Papanastasiou,
 P., & Georghiou, G. E. (2024). A comprehensive review of green hydrogen energy systems. *Renewable Energy*, 231, 120911. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RENENE.2024.120911
- KOVTUNENKO, Y., & LOZAN, A. (2024). Digitalization for ensuring innovative development of the enterprise. *Economics. Finances. Law*, 9/2024, 17–20. https://doi.org/10.37634/EFP.2024.9.4
- Kumar, A., Khan, F., & Dudhe, R. (2023). A Review of Green Hydrogen for Economical and Feasible Alternate Aligning with net-zero. 2023 Advances in Science and Engineering Technology International Conferences, ASET 2023. https://doi.org/10.1109/ASET56582.2023.10180439
- Laimon, M., Yusaf, T., Mai, T., Goh, S., & Alrefae, W. (2022). A systems thinking approach to address sustainability challenges to the energy sector. *International Journal of Thermofluids*, 15, 100161. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJFT.2022.100161

- Lakshmi, S., Patil, P., G C [†], P., Siddiqua, A., Vinothini E [†], R., Asangi, H., & Misra, S. (2024). Climate Change and Its Consequences: A Deep Dive into Agricultural Productivity and Economic Stability. *International Journal of Environment and Climate Change*, 14(9), 796– 815. https://doi.org/10.9734/IJECC/2024/V14I94457
- Lamb, W. F., Wiedmann, T., Pongratz, J., Andrew, R., Crippa, M., Olivier, J. G. J., Wiedenhofer, D., Mattioli, G., Khourdajie, A. Al, House, J., Pachauri, S., Figueroa, M., Saheb, Y., Slade, R., Hubacek, K., Sun, L., Ribeiro, S. K., Khennas, S., De La Rue Du Can, S., ... Minx, J. (2021). A review of trends and drivers of greenhouse gas emissions by sector from 1990 to 2018. *Environmental Research Letters*, *16*(7), 073005. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ABEE4E
- Larrea-Gallegos, G., Marvuglia, A., Navarrete Gutiérrez, T., & Benetto, E. (2024). A computational framework for modeling socio-technical agents in the life-cycle sustainability assessment of supply networks. *Sustainable Production and Consumption*, 46, 641–654. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SPC.2024.03.008
- Larsgård, L. V. (2024). Innovation Policy and Development of Hydrogen Hubs in Norway. https://www.duo.uio.no/handle/10852/111928
- Laugs, G. A. H., Benders, R. M. J., & Moll, H. C. (2024). Maximizing self-sufficiency and minimizing grid interaction: combining electric and molecular energy storage for decentralized balancing of variable renewable energy in local energy systems. *Renewable Energy*, 229. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RENENE.2024.120703
- Leal Filho, W., Salvia, A. L., Vasconcelos, C. R. P., Anholon, R., Rampasso, I. S., Eustachio, J. H. P. P., Liakh, O., Dinis, M. A. P., Olpoc, R. C., Bandanaa, J., Aina, Y. A., Lukina, R. L., & Sharifi, A. (2022). Barriers to institutional social sustainability. *Sustainability Science 2022* 17:6, 17(6), 2615–2630. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11625-022-01204-0
- LEBEDEVA, L., & SHKUROPADSKA, D. (2024). Determinants of energy system resilience. *Scientia Fructuosa*, 155(3), 23–41. https://doi.org/10.31617/1.2024(155)02
- Lewis, E., Burrell, D. N., Nobles, C., Ferreras-Perez, J., Richardson, K., Jones, A. J., & Jones, L. A. (2023). Cybercrime and Cybersecurity Challenges in the Automotive Industry Utilizing

 Agent-Based
 Modeling
 (ABM).
 Https://Services.Igi

 Global.Com/Resolvedoi/Resolve.Aspx?Doi=10.4018/979-8-3693-1634-4.Ch008,
 134–159.

 https://doi.org/10.4018/979-8-3693-1634-4.CH008

Li-qun, D. (2011). Comparison of Agent-based Simulation Platforms. Computer Simulation.

- Li, C., & Wu, D. (2024). Innovation and future development direction of hydrogen fuel cell vehicles. *Highlights in Science, Engineering and Technology*, 116, 53–59. https://doi.org/10.54097/A8N0CR21
- Li, H., Pang, B., Zhu, F. H., Sun, X. L., Xu, J. X., & Wang, S. (2022). [Comparative Energy Consumption Structure and Mode between China and Major Energy-Consuming Countries Under the Background of Carbon Emission Reduction]. *Huan Jing Ke Xue= Huanjing Kexue*, 43(11), 5294–5304. https://doi.org/10.13227/J.HJKX.202112065
- Li, L., Ma, S., Zheng, Y., Ma, X., & Duan, K. (2022). Do regional integration policies matter? Evidence from a quasi-natural experiment on heterogeneous green innovation. *Energy Economics*, 116, 106426. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENECO.2022.106426
- Li, W., & Zhang, R. (2010). Corporate Social Responsibility, Ownership Structure, and Political Interference: Evidence from China. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 96(4), 631–645. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10551-010-0488-Z/METRICS
- Li, Y., Meng, Y., & Zhong, H. (2023). Unintended consequences of COVID-19 public policy responses on renewable energy power: evidence from OECD countries in the EU. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International*, 30(16), 46503. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11356-023-25427-5
- Liang, X., Qianqian, D., Tanai, B., & Shinwari, R. (2023). On the conflict of natural resources hypothesis in Pakistan. *Resources Policy*, 85, 103809–103809. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RESOURPOL.2023.103809
- Lima Abreu, N., da Cruz Ribeiro, E. S., de Sousa, C. E. S., Maués Moraes, L., de Oliveira, J. V. C., de Abreu Faria, L., Cláudia Ruggieri, A., da Silva Cardoso, A., Faturi, C., do Rêgo, A. C., & da Silva, T. C. (2024). Land use change and greenhouse gas emissions: an explanation about the main emission drivers Translated

title: Mudanças de uso da terra e emissão de gases de efeito estufa: uma explanação sobre os principais drivers de emissão . *Ciência Animal Brasileira*, 25. https://doi.org/10.1590/1809-6891V25E-77646E

- Linnerud, K., & Holden, E. (2015). Investment barriers under a renewable-electricity support scheme: Differences across investor types. *Energy*, 87, 699–709. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENERGY.2015.05.048
- Liu, Q., Li, F., Dong, S., Cheng, H., Liang, L., & Xia, B. (2024). Spatial-temporal heterogeneity of sustainable development goals and their interactions and linkages in the Eurasian continent. *Sustainable Production and Consumption*. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SPC.2024.06.007
- Liu, X., & Song, G. (2024). Development status of coal industries in the worlds major coalproducing countries. *Journal of The South African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy*, 124(7), 383–386. https://doi.org/10.17159/2411-9717/1504/2024
- Liu, Y., & Rui, Z. (2022). A Storage-Driven CO2 EOR for a Net-Zero Emission Target. Engineering, 18, 79–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENG.2022.02.010
- Losos, E. C., Pfaff, A., & Pimm, S. L. (2024). Tackling debt, biodiversity loss, and climate change. *Science*, *384*(6696), 618–621. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.ADO7418
- Ma, N., Zhao, W., Wang, W., Li, X., & Zhou, H. (2024). Large scale of green hydrogen storage: Opportunities and challenges. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 50, 379–396. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2023.09.021
- Ma, Y., Yeh, A. B., & Chen, J. T. (2023). Simultaneous Confidence Regions and Weighted Hypotheses on Parameter Arrays. *Methodology and Computing in Applied Probability*, 25(2), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11009-023-10030-5
- Machín, A., Cotto, M. C., Díaz, F., Duconge, J., Morant, C., & Márquez, F. (2024). Environmental Aspects and Recycling of Solid-State Batteries: A Comprehensive Review. *Batteries*, 10(7), 255–255. https://doi.org/10.3390/BATTERIES10070255
- Maka, A. O. M., & Mehmood, M. (2024). Green hydrogen energy production: current status and potential. *Clean Energy*, 8(2), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/CE/ZKAE012

- Makki, M., Butt, F. A., Akash, S. A., Petrova, K., & Naeem, S. A. (2024). Fragile Geographies and the Climate-Conflict Nexus: Investigating Climate-Induced Security Risks, Migration, and Inequality in Balochistan, Pakistan. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1177/03043754241291728*. https://doi.org/10.1177/03043754241291728
- Masod, M. Y. Bin, & Zakaria, S. F. (2024). Artificial Intelligence Adoption in the Manufacturing Sector: Challenges and Strategic Framework. *International Journal of Research and Innovation in Social Science*, VIII(X), 150–158. https://doi.org/10.47772/IJRISS.2024.81000013
- Masoud, Y. (2023). The effects of political interference on procurement performance in the parastatal organizations in Dar es Salaam Region. *International Journal of Research In Business and Social Science*, 12(2), 158–169. https://doi.org/10.20525/IJRBS.V12I2.2419
- Mazurek, J., & Mielcová, E. (2013). The evaluation of economic recession magnitude: Introduction and application. *Prague Economic Papers*, 2, 182–205. https://doi.org/10.18267/J.PEP.447
- Menárguez, F. J. M., Hortal, J. C., & Alarcón, A. A. (2018). (PDF) Anatomizing NetLogo. Some advices on how to consider a programmable environment for designing inhabited landscapes (2018) / Francesc Josep Morales Menárguez. https://typeset.io/papers/anatomizing-netlogosome-advices-on-how-to-consider-a-3fhd5jt2mo
- METI Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry. (2021). https://www.meti.go.jp/english/
- Metwally, E. M., Fattah, M. K., & Zahran, A. A. (2024). Environmental Emissions Performance for Energy Transition in Cement Industrial Sector from Natural Gas to Energy Fuel Mix Case Study: Cement Company in Egypt. *International Journal of Environmental Studies and Researches*, 3(2), 57–65. https://doi.org/10.21608/IJESR.2024.359292
- Mili, S., & Martínez-Vega, J. (2019). Accounting for Regional Heterogeneity of Agricultural Sustainability in Spain. Sustainability 2019, Vol. 11, Page 299, 11(2), 299. https://doi.org/10.3390/SU11020299
- Mirza, Z., & Munir, D. (2023). Conflicting interests, institutional fragmentation and opportunity structures: an analysis of political institutions and the health taxes regime in Pakistan. *BMJ*

Global Health, 8(Suppl 8), e012045. https://doi.org/10.1136/BMJGH-2023-012045

- Mngomezulu, S. (2020). Political Interference in the Administration of Service Delivery in UMLALAZI Local Municipality of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *Journal of Economics and Behavioral Studies*, 12(1), 38–45. https://doi.org/10.22610/JEBS.V12I1(J).3003
- Mohamed, A. N., & Abdulle, A. Y. (2024). Rebuilding Somalia's Manufacturing Industry: Assessing Critical Determinants and Pathways for Economic Development. *International Journal of Sustainable Development and Planning*, 19(7), 2587–2595. https://doi.org/10.18280/IJSDP.190715
- Moncion, T., Amar, P., & Hutzler, G. (2010). (*PDF*) Automatic characterization of emergent phenomena in complex systems. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228444001_Automatic_characterization_of_emer gent_phenomena_in_complex_systems
- Monyei, C. G., & Jenkins, K. E. H. (2018). Electrons have no identity: Setting right misrepresentations in Google and Apple's clean energy purchasing. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 46, 48–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ERSS.2018.06.015
- Morton, S., & Cook, A. (2022). Embrace the complex context. *How Do You Know If You Are Making a Difference?*, 60–75. https://doi.org/10.51952/9781447361954.CH005
- Mousavi, S. H., Kavianpour, M. R., Alcaraz, J. L. G., & Yamini, O. A. (2023). System Dynamics
 Modeling for Effective Strategies in Water Pollution Control: Insights and Applications. *Applied Sciences 2023, Vol. 13, Page 9024, 13*(15), 9024.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/APP13159024
- Movafaghpour, M. A. (2019). An efficient nonlinear programming method for eliciting preference weights of incomplete comparisons. *Journal of Applied Research on Industrial Engineering*, 6(2), 131–138. https://doi.org/10.22105/JARIE.2019.169901.1078
- Mubarak, M. F., Evans, R., & Tello, E. A. (2024). Manufacturing in Industry 4.0: A Scoping Review of Open Innovation Practices and Future Research. 2024 IEEE Technology and Engineering Management Society, TEMSCON LATAM 2024. https://doi.org/10.1109/TEMSCONLATAM61834.2024.10717814

- Muhammad, F., Qayyum, A., Bawazir, A. A., Jan, M., & Ahmed, N. (2024). Assessing the Tri-Dimensional Nexus of Energy, Environment, and Economic Growth in Pakistan: An Empirical Study. *International Journal of Energy Economics and Policy*, 14(4), 329–343. https://doi.org/10.32479/IJEEP.16128
- Musenero, L., Baroudi, B., & Gunawan, I. (2021). Application of Dual Concern Theory in Elucidating Conflict Behavior in Infrastructure Public-Private Partnership Projects. *Journal* of Construction Engineering and Management-Asce, 147(7), 04021061. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)CO.1943-7862.0002099
- Musial, W., & Ram, B. (2010). Large-Scale Offshore Wind Power in the United States: Assessment of Opportunities and Barriers. https://doi.org/10.2172/990101
- Mythreyee, M., & Anandan, N. (2024). Analysis of distributed smart grid system on the national grids. *Bulletin of Electrical Engineering and Informatics*, 13(5), 2991–3000. https://doi.org/10.11591/EEI.V13I5.6331
- Nasa, P., Jain, R., & Juneja, D. (2021). Delphi methodology in healthcare research: How to decide its appropriateness. World Journal of Methodology, 11(4), 116–129. https://doi.org/10.5662/WJM.V11.I4.116
- National Disaster Management Authority (NDMA). (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2025, from https://www.ndma.gov.pk/publication_by_category/2
- Natural Gas Production. (2022). *Oil and Energy Trends*, 47(10), 20–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/OET.4_12793
- Naz, F., & Riaz, J. (2024). The Nexus of Political Instability and Economic Uncertainty in Islamic Republic of Pakistan: A Way Forward. *Al-NASR*, 3(3), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.53762/ALNASR.03.03.E01
- Nieto-Chaupis, H. (2024). Recession From Declination of Economic Activities Dictated by Conditional Probabilities. *International Conference on Electrical, Computer, and Energy Technologies, ICECET 2024.* https://doi.org/10.1109/ICECET61485.2024.10698661
- Niu, Z., & Zhou, X. (2023). Political uncertainty and corporate sustainability: how does official turnover affect environmental investment. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Accounting & Economics*,

30(5), 1184–1203. https://doi.org/10.1080/16081625.2022.2067200

- Ogunode, N. J., Edinoh, K., & Agbade, O. P. (2024). Political Interference and Tertiary Institutions in Nigeria. *Indonesian Journal of Social Development*, 1(3), 9. https://doi.org/10.47134/JSD.V1I3.2117
- Oluwadayomi Akinsooto, Olorunshogo Benjamin Ogundipe, & Samuel Ikemba. (2024). Strategic policy initiatives for optimizing hydrogen production and storage in sustainable energy systems. *International Journal of Frontline Research and Reviews*, 2(2), 001–021. https://doi.org/10.56355/IJFRR.2024.2.2.0022
- Onalaja, O., Olufisayo, A.-I. O., Abdullahi, Y., & Taofeek, L. A. (2024). Hydrogen Fuel Cell Technology and Its Applications: A Review . https://doi.org/10.36227/TECHRXIV.170421621.10747750/V1
- Oreggioni, G. D., Monforti Ferraio, F., Crippa, M., Muntean, M., Schaaf, E., Guizzardi, D., Solazzo, E., Duerr, M., Perry, M., & Vignati, E. (2021). Climate change in a changing world: Socio-economic and technological transitions, regulatory frameworks and trends on global greenhouse gas emissions from EDGAR v.5.0. *Global Environmental Change*, 70, 102350. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GLOENVCHA.2021.102350
- Oryani, B., Koo, Y., Rezania, S., & Shafiee, A. (2021). Barriers to renewable energy technologies penetration: Perspective in Iran. *Renewable Energy*, 174, 971–983. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RENENE.2021.04.052
- Osman, A. I., Nasr, M., Eltaweil, A. S., Hosny, M., Farghali, M., Al-Fatesh, A. S., Rooney, D. W., & Abd El-Monaem, E. M. (2024). Advances in hydrogen storage materials: harnessing innovative technology, from machine learning to computational chemistry, for energy storage solutions. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 67, 1270–1294. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2024.03.223
- Osselin, F., Soulaine, C., Fauguerolles, C., Gaucher, E. C., Scaillet, B., & Pichavant, M. (2022). Orange hydrogen is the new green. *Nature Geoscience*, 15(10), 765–769. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41561-022-01043-9
- Padilla-Garrido, N., Aguado-Correa, F., Cortijo-Gallego, V., & López-Camacho, F. (2014).

Multicriteria decision making in health care using the analytic hierarchy process and Microsoft Excel. *Medical Decision Making : An International Journal of the Society for Medical Decision Making*, *34*(7), 931–935. https://doi.org/10.1177/0272989X14534533

- Pakistan GDP distribution across economic sectors 2023 / Statista. (n.d.). Retrieved January 12, 2025, from https://www.statista.com/statistics/383256/pakistan-gdp-distribution-acrosseconomic-sectors/
- Palmer, O., Radet, H., Camal, S., & Girard, R. (2024). Long-term investment and energy procurement risk management under uncertainty for an electrolytic green hydrogen producer. https://arxiv.org/abs/2407.21574v1
- Panelli, M., & Ali, T. (2024). Adopting Green Hydrogen by Finnish and Italian Companies: Drivers and Barriers. https://osuva.uwasa.fi/handle/10024/18198
- Pantskhava, E., & Jishkariani, M. (2024a). Green hydrogen the key to a sustainable energy future: (socio-economic benefits). *Georgian Scientists*, 6(2), 345–354. https://doi.org/10.52340/gs.2024.06.02.36
- Pantskhava, E., & Jishkariani, M. (2024b). Green hydrogen the key to a sustainable energy future: (socio-economic benefits). *Georgian Scientists*, 6(2), 345–354. https://doi.org/10.52340/gs.2024.06.02.36
- Peimani, H. (2022). CONVERGING ENVIRONMENTAL NECESSITIES AND ENERGY REQUIREMENTS: PRODUCING RENEWABLE ENERGY AND HYDROGEN FOR ECONOMIC REVITALIZATION AND GROWTH IN THE POST-COVID-19 PANDEMIC. INDIAN JOURNAL OF APPLIED BUSINESS AND ECONOMIC RESEARCH, 3(1), 137–164. https://doi.org/10.47509/IJABER.2022.V03I01.09
- Peiró, J. M., Bravo-Duarte, F., González-Anta, B., & Todolí-Signes, A. (2024). Supervisory performance in telework: the role of job demands, resources, and satisfaction with telework. *Frontiers in Organizational Psychology*, 2, 1430812. https://doi.org/10.3389/FORGP.2024.1430812
- Peng, Y., Ahmad, S. F., Irshad, M., Al-Razgan, M., Ali, Y. A., & Awwad, E. M. (2023). Impact of Digitalization on Process Optimization and Decision-Making towards Sustainability: The

Moderating Role of Environmental Regulation. Sustainability 2023, Vol. 15, Page 15156, 15(20), 15156. https://doi.org/10.3390/SU152015156

- Peter, D., Peter, M., Peter, P., & Yacob, P. (2024). Navigating sustainable manufacturing practices in small and medium-sized enterprises: Empirical evidence from an emerging economy. *International Social Science Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1111/ISSJ.12539
- Pham, A., Li, C., & Bui, Q. (2024). Assessing the heterogeneous impacts of energy consumption on human development of G7 by employing advanced quantile panel data estimation. *Gondwana Research*, 127, 211–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GR.2023.08.001
- Pingkuo, L., & Junqing, G. (2024). Comparative analysis on the development potential of green hydrogen industry in China, the United States and the European Union. *International Journal* of Hydrogen Energy, 84, 700–717. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2024.08.298
- Prachi Patel. (2024). Could cement and steel team up to cut emissions? *C&EN Global Enterprise*, *102*(17), 3–3. https://doi.org/10.1021/CEN-10217-LEADCON
- Preziuso, D., & Odonkor, P. (2024). A Framework for Agent-Based Models to Consider Energy Justice Through Technology Adoption. 515–521. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-49179-5_35
- Pu, H., Zhang, J., Liang, C., Hersam, M. C., Rowan, S. J., Chen, W., Chaudhuri, S., Ainsworth, E. A., Lee, D., Claussen, J., Chen, Y., Willett, R., Dunn, J. B., & Chen, J. (2024). A Sustainable Manufacturing Paradigm to Address Grand Challenges in Sustainability and Climate Change. *ACS Sustainable Resource Management*, 1(11), 2334–2337. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACSSUSRESMGT.4C00361
- Qiao, W., Huang, E., Guo, H., Liu, Y., & Ma, X. (2022). Barriers Involved in the Safety Management Systems: A Systematic Review of Literature. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 2022, Vol. 19, Page 9512, 19*(15), 9512. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJERPH19159512
- Raghavendra Rao, A. V., Srividya, R., Sravani Sameera, V., Bethi, B., Prasad, K. S. N. V., Srinivas, T., Ganesh, B., & Praveen, B. V. S. (2024). Chapter 12 Safety first: managing hydrogen in production, handling, and applications. *Sustainable Hydrogen Energy*, 275–304.

https://doi.org/10.1515/9783111246475-012

- Railsback, S. F. ., & Grimm, V. (2019). Agent-based and individual-based modeling : a practical introduction. 340.
- Rajan, Sukhmanpreet Singh Virk, Loveleen Kaur, & Dr. Rajbir Kaur. (2024). Development and Implementation of a "Virtual Team Coordination Application" for Enhanced Remote Work Efficiency. *International Journal of Scientific Research in Computer Science, Engineering and Information Technology*, 10(6), 302–307. https://doi.org/10.32628/CSEIT241051065
- Rajendran, R. K., Mohana, P. T., Immanuel V., A., Blessing N. R., W., Chitrarasu, K., Vetrivel, S., Paulraj, A. K. J., & Kokila, S. S. (2024). The Intersection of Technology and Social Sustainability. *Practice, Progress, and Proficiency in Sustainability*, 457–470. https://doi.org/10.4018/979-8-3693-6298-3.CH017
- Raman, R., Nair, V. K., Prakash, V., Patwardhan, A., & Nedungadi, P. (2022). Green-hydrogen research: What have we achieved, and where are we going? Bibliometrics analysis. *Energy Reports*, 8, 9242–9260. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EGYR.2022.07.058
- Ramli, N. A., & Munisamy, S. (2015). Eco-efficiency in greenhouse emissions among manufacturing industries: A range adjusted measure. *Economic Modelling*, 47, 219–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econmod.2015.02.034
- Rand, W. (2024). Agent-Based Modelling in Marketing. *The Oxford Handbook of Agent-Based Computational* https://doi.org/10.1093/OXFORDHB/9780197668122.013.8
- Rasool, S. F., Chin, T., Wang, M., Asghar, A., Khan, A., & Zhou, L. (2022). Exploring the role of organizational support, and critical success factors on renewable energy projects of Pakistan. *Energy*, 243. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENERGY.2021.122765
- Rasul, M. G., Hazrat, M. A., Sattar, M. A., Jahirul, M. I., & Shearer, M. J. (2022). The future of hydrogen: Challenges on production, storage and applications. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 272, 116326. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENCONMAN.2022.116326
- Rauner, S., Piontek, F., Soergel, B., & Luderer, G. (2024). The impact of energy sector pollution on human development and inequality amidst climate change. *Environmental Research*

Letters, 19(9). https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/AD6B39

- Ray-Chaudhuri, R. (2013). Institutional and infrastructural challenges to India's development. *International Affairs Forum*, 4(1), 74–78. https://doi.org/10.1080/23258020.2013.827497
- Raza, A., Mahmoud, M., Arif, M., & Alafnan, S. (2024). Underground hydrogen storage prospects in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. *Fuel*, 357, 129665. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FUEL.2023.129665
- Raza, M. A., Aman, M. M., Abro, A. G., Tunio, M. A., Khatri, K. L., & Shahid, M. (2022). Challenges and potentials of implementing a smart grid for Pakistan's electric network. *Energy Strategy Reviews*, 43. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ESR.2022.100941
- Razmi, A. R., Hanifi, A. R., & Shahbakhti, M. (2023). Design, thermodynamic, and economic analyses of a green hydrogen storage concept based on solid oxide electrolyzer/fuel cells and heliostat solar field. *Renewable Energy*, 215. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RENENE.2023.118996
- Reza, M., Setiawan, A. A., & Waluyo, J. (2024). Energy Transition Analysis and Climate Action Strategy in the Power Sector: A Case Study of the Java-Bali System. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 2828(1). https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/2828/1/012004
- Riaz, M. N., & Perdhana, M. S. (2024). Challenges in implementing renewable energy initiatives in Pakistan. *Https://Wjarr.Com/Sites/Default/Files/WJARR-2024-3042.Pdf*, 24(1), 581–584. https://doi.org/10.30574/WJARR.2024.24.1.3042
- Risco-Bravo, A., Varela, C., Bartels, J., & Zondervan, E. (2024). From green hydrogen to electricity: A review on recent advances, challenges, and opportunities on power-tohydrogen-to-power systems. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 189, 113930. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSER.2023.113930
- Robinson, S. (2014). *Simulation: the practice of model development and use*. 367. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/324678715_Simulation_The_Practice_of_Model_ Development_and_Use_2nd_edition
- Rodrigues de Oliveira, B., & Duarte, M. A. Q. (2024). Automatic and Semi-automatic Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP). *Trends in Agricultural and Environmental Sciences*, e240009–

e240009. https://doi.org/10.46420/TAES.E240009

- Rogelj, J., Luderer, G., Pietzcker, R. C., Kriegler, E., Schaeffer, M., Krey, V., & Riahi, K. (2015). Energy system transformations for limiting end-of-century warming to below 1.5 °C. *Nature Climate Change*, 5(6), 519–527. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2572
- Rogger, & Oliver, D. (2018). The consequences of political interference in bureaucratic decision

 making :
 evidence
 from
 Nigeria.

 https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents reports/documentdetail/655741534339259848/the-consequences-of-political-interference

 in-bureaucratic-decision-making-evidence-from-nigeria
- Roussafi, F. (2021). Regional development trajectories of renewable energy: Evidence from French regions. *Energy Strategy Reviews*, 35, 100639. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ESR.2021.100639
- S. N. Shah, Manzoor, S., & Asim, D. M. (2022). Impact of Industrial Pollution on Our Society. *Pakistan Journal of Science*, 73(1). https://doi.org/10.57041/PJS.V73I1.646
- Saadat, S., Hussain, I., & Faisal, M. (2021). Modeling and forecasting of principal minerals production. Arabian Journal of Geosciences, 14(9), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12517-021-07135-X/METRICS
- Saaty, R. W. (1987). The analytic hierarchy process—what it is and how it is used. *Mathematical Modelling*, 9(3–5), 161–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/0270-0255(87)90473-8
- Saaty, T. L. (1980). Saaty, T.L. (1980) The Analytic Hierarchy Process Planning, Priority Setting, Resources Allocation. Mcgraw-Hill, New York. - References - Scientific Research Publishing. https://www.scirp.org/reference/ReferencesPapers?ReferenceID=1895817
- Saaty, T. L., & Vargas, L. G. (2013). Decision Making with the Analytic Network Process. 195. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7279-7

- Sablatzky, T. (2022). Delphi Method. *Hypothesis: Research Journal for Health Information Professionals*, 34(1). https://doi.org/10.18060/26224
- Sadeghzadeh, & Keivan. (2015). Analytic for data-driven decision-making in complex highdimensional time-to-event data. https://doi.org/10.17760/D20195338
- Sadiq, M., Talbi, B., Ghosh, S., & Bashir, M. F. (2024). How does external debt and governance quality impact renewable energy consumption: novel policy insights from BRICS countries. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International*, 31(30), 43049–43065. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11356-024-33846-1
- Safarzyńska, K., & van den Bergh, J. C. J. M. (2022). ABM-IAM: optimal climate policy under bounded rationality and multiple inequalities. *Environmental Research Letters*, 17(9), 094022. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/AC8B25
- Saha, P., Akash, F. A., Shovon, S. M., Monir, M. U., Ahmed, M. T., Khan, M. F. H., Sarkar, S. M., Islam, M. K., Hasan, M. M., Vo, D. V. N., Aziz, A. A., Hossain, M. J., & Akter, R. (2024). Grey, blue, and green hydrogen: A comprehensive review of production methods and prospects for zero-emission energy. *International Journal of Green Energy*, 21(6), 1383–1397. https://doi.org/10.1080/15435075.2023.2244583
- Salecker, J., Sciaini, M., Meyer, K. M., & Wiegand, K. (2019). The nlrx r package: A nextgeneration framework for reproducible NetLogo model analyses. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 10(11), 1854–1863. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13286
- Saqib, N. (2024). Assessing the Efficacy of Renewable Energy Policies in Mitigating Carbon Emissions. *Non Human Journal*, 1(01), 11–14. https://doi.org/10.70008/NHJ.V1I01.14
- Sarafinchan, A. H., & Bilyk, R. R. (2022). Socio-economic principles of the functioning of economic entities of territorial communities. *Regional Economy*, 4(106), 27–32. https://doi.org/10.36818/1562-0905-2022-4-3
- Saraswaty, A. (2024). The impact of occupational health and safety (ohs) policies on employees' psychological well-being in soppeng city. *Publicus*, 2(2), 315–325. https://doi.org/10.30598/PUBLICUSVOL2ISS2P315-325
- Savin, I. (2023). Agent-based modelling. Elgar Encyclopedia of Ecological Economics, 1-7.

https://doi.org/10.4337/9781802200416.CH01

- Sedghiyan, D., Ashouri, A., Maftouni, N., Xiong, Q., Rezaee, E., & Sadeghi, S. (2021). Prioritization of renewable energy resources in five climate zones in Iran using AHP, hybrid AHP-TOPSIS and AHP-SAW methods. *Sustainable Energy Technologies and Assessments*, 44. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SETA.2021.101045
- Selje, T., Islam, R., & Heinz, B. (2024). An Assessment of Agent-Based Modelling Tools for Community-Based Adaptation to Climate Change. *Applied Sciences 2024, Vol. 14, Page* 11264, 14(23), 11264. https://doi.org/10.3390/APP142311264
- Shahbaz, M., Liaqat, B. Bin, & Ali, A. (2024). Effects of Climate Change on Natural Calamities in Pakistan: A Case Study of 2022 Flood. *Global Regional Review*, *IX*(III), 54–63. https://doi.org/10.31703/GRR.2024(IX-III).06
- Shahzad, S. J. H., Ferrer, R., & Bouri, E. (2023). Systemic Risk in the Global Energy Sector:
 Structure, Determinants and Portfolio Management Implications. *Https://Doi.Org/10.5547/01956574.44.6.Ssha*, 44(6), 211–242.
 https://doi.org/10.5547/01956574.44.6.SSHA
- Sharma, M., Tyagi, V., Kouser, R., Kumari, K., Chopra, K., & Kothari, R. (2024). Green Hydrogen and Climatic Change: Current Status and Future Outlook. ACS Symposium Series, 31–54. https://doi.org/10.1021/BK-2024-1474.CH002
- Sharpe, O., & Raman, K. (2024). The Australian Hydrogen Centre feasibility studies for achieving 10 and 100% renewable hydrogen in South Australia and Victoria. *Australian Energy Producers Journal*, 64(2), S191–S196. https://doi.org/10.1071/EP23216
- Shayed, A. U., Azim, K. S., Jafor, A. H. M., Hossain, M. A., Nikita, N. A., & Khan, O. U. (2024). Sustainable Business Practices for Economic Instability: A Data-Driven Approach. *Deleted Journal*, 2(5). https://doi.org/10.62127/AIJMR.2024.V02I05.1096
- Sherin, A. (2023). Beyond COP: Pakistan's evolving role in a global climate context. KHYBERMEDICALUNIVERSITYJOURNAL,15(4),208–210.https://doi.org/10.35845/KMUJ.2023.23522
- Shi, R., & Conrad, S. A. (2009). Correlation and regression analysis | Request PDF.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/253643934_Correlation_and_regression_analysis

- Shi, Y., Chongyi, E., Zhang, Z., Peng, Q., Zhang, J., Yan, W., & Xu, C. (2023). Comparison and significance of grain size parameters of the Menyuan loess calculated using different methods. *Open Geosciences*, 15(1). https://doi.org/10.1515/GEO-2022-0474
- Shidiq, M., Htet, H., Abdullah, A., Rakhiemah, A. N., Pradnyaswari, I., Margenta, I. D. R., & Suryadi, B. (2024). Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism (CBAM) Implementation on Reducing Emission in the ASEAN Energy Sector. *IOP Conference Series*, 1395(1), 012035– 012035. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/1395/1/012035
- Shin, J. E. (2022). Hydrogen Technology Development and Policy Status by Value Chain in South Korea. *Energies* 2022, Vol. 15, Page 8983, 15(23), 8983. https://doi.org/10.3390/EN15238983
- Signori, S. (2020). Socially Responsible Investors: Exploring Motivations and Ethical Intensity. 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-00001-1_5-1
- Sikandar, M., & Chaudary, A. (2023). Pakistan's External Debt Unsustainability and the Required Approach. *Policy Perspectives*, 20(1), 61–76. https://doi.org/10.13169/POLIPERS.20.1.RA4
- Singha, S., & Singha, R. (2024). Cross-Disciplinary Collaborations and Partnerships for Sustainability Education: Including Community-Based Learning, Industry Partnerships, and International Collaborations. *Https://Services.Igi-Global.Com/Resolvedoi/Resolve.Aspx?Doi=10.4018/978-1-6684-9859-0.Ch002*, 17–37. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-6684-9859-0.CH002
- Sinha, A., Neogi, S., Lahiri, R. N., Chowdhury, S., Chowdhury, S. P., & Chakraborty, N. (2011). Smart grid initiative for power distribution utility in India. *IEEE Power and Energy Society General Meeting*. https://doi.org/10.1109/PES.2011.6038943
- Skare, M., Qian, Y., Xu, Z., & Gou, X. (2024). Energy justice and gaps in sustainable development: A convergence testing and clustering study. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 192, 114166. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSER.2023.114166
- Soltanzadeh, A., Zarei, E., Mahdinia, M., & Sadeghi-Yarandi, M. (2024). An integrated approach to assess safety and security risks in chemical process industries. *Journal of Loss Prevention*

in the Process Industries, 90, 105344. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JLP.2024.105344

- Spatolisano, E., & Pellegrini, L. A. (2024). Sustainable Green Hydrogen Transport: A Systematic Framework for the Design of the whole Supply Chain. *Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Foundations of Computer-Aided Process Design FOCAPD 2024*, 3, 591–597. https://doi.org/10.69997/SCT.102015
- Spielman, D. J., & Malik, S. J. (2017). Chapter 13. Summing Up: Policy and Investment Priorities for Agriculture and the Rural Economy in Pakistan. Agriculture and the Rural Economy in Pakistan. https://doi.org/10.9783/9780812294217-016
- Sukma, A., & Saragih, H. (2017). INDUCTIVE REASONING IN MARKETING RESEARCH TO RESPOND THE FUTURE MARKET CHALLENGES.
- Suwa, Y. (2024). Studies on the safe application techniques of high-pressure hydrogen gas. Journal of Physics: Conference Series, 2812(1). https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/2812/1/012002
- Sven Ove Hansson, Risk PhilPapers. (n.d.). Retrieved December 29, 2024, from https://philpapers.org/rec/HANR-2
- Tale, V., & Rege, P. P. (2024). A Comprehensive Study of Techno Economic Viability (TEV) Report of Various Projects. *Indian Scientific Journal Of Research In Engineering And Management*, 08(10), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.55041/IJSREM37724
- Tanveer, A., Song, H., Faheem, M., Daud, A., & Naseer, S. (2021). A Step towards Environment Degradation Mitigation in the Manufacturing Sector of Pakistan: Do Energy Consumption, Foreign Direct Investment, and Financial Development Matter? Evidence from Symmetric and Asymmetric ARDL Approach. https://doi.org/10.21203/RS.3.RS-392119/V1
- Tashakkori, A., & Teddlie, C. (2010). SAGE Handbook of Mixed Methods in Social & amp; amp; Behavioral Research. SAGE Handbook of Mixed Methods in Social & Behavioral Research. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781506335193
- Tayab, M., Al Suwaidi, H., Lari, M., Kumar, P., & Shah, V. (2024). Navigating through Operations Excellence, Process Safety and Sustainability in Upstream & Comparison Segments of Oil & Comparison Segments of Responsibility to Prevent Incidents. ADIPEC.

https://doi.org/10.2118/222010-MS

The Danish Energi Agency / Energistyrelsen. (2022). https://ens.dk/en

- The Hydrogen Energy Transition Edition 1 By Daniel Sperling and James S. Cannon Elsevier Inspection Copies. (n.d.). Retrieved December 30, 2024, from https://educate.elsevier.com/book/details/9780126568813
- Thiele, J. C., & Grimm, V. (2010). NetLogo meets R: Linking agent-based models with a toolbox for their analysis. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 25(8), 972–974. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVSOFT.2010.02.008
- Thomas, B., Murphy, L., & Miller, C. (2022). A Comparative Analysis of Energy And Health Sector Firm R&D Activity in Wales. *International Journal Of Scientific Advances*, 3(6). https://doi.org/10.51542/IJSCIA.V3I6.1
- Thomas, L. P. (2013). Coal resources and reserves. *The Coal Handbook: Towards Cleaner Production*, *1*, 80–106. https://doi.org/10.1533/9780857097309.1.80
- Tiller, R. G., Destouni, G., Golumbeanu, M., Kalantari, Z., Kastanidi, E., Lazar, L., Lescot, J. M., Maneas, G., Martínez-López, J., Notebaert, B., Seifollahi-Aghmiuni, S., Timofte, F., de Vente, J., Vernier, F., & de Kok, J. L. (2021). Understanding Stakeholder Synergies Through System Dynamics: Integrating Multi-Sectoral Stakeholder Narratives Into Quantitative Environmental Models. *Frontiers in Sustainability*, 2. https://doi.org/10.3389/FRSUS.2021.701180
- *Toyota Set New Standards in 2021 Toyota USA Newsroom*. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2025, from https://pressroom.toyota.com/toyota-set-new-standards-in-2021/
- Trachte, U., & Fumey, B. (2024). Applications Stationary | Uninterruptible power supply and backup power with fuel cells and batteries. *Reference Module in Chemistry, Molecular Sciences and Chemical Engineering*. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-96022-9.00163-8
- Triantaphyllou, E. (2000). *Multi-criteria Decision Making Methods: A Comparative Study.* 44. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-3157-6
- Triantoro, A., Akhtar, M. Z., Khan, S., Zaman, K., Khan, H. U. R., Pathath, A. W., Mahmad, M.

A., & Sertoglu, K. (2023). Riding the Waves of Fluctuating Oil Prices: Decoding the Impact on Economic Growth. *International Journal of Energy Economics and Policy*, *13*(2), 34–50. https://doi.org/10.32479/IJEEP.14158

- Tunio, S. (2024). Exploring Environmental Sustainability Practices and Its Dimensions Perspective on SMEs in Pakistan. *Https://Services.Igi-Global.Com/Resolvedoi/Resolve.Aspx?Doi=10.4018/979-8-3693-2699-2.Ch002*, 24–48. https://doi.org/10.4018/979-8-3693-2699-2.CH002
- Ul Arafeen, Q., Ahsan Rizvi, S., Imran Hanif, M., & Nayyar Ali, S. (2018). Multi-Dimensional Effect of Oil Pricing On Pakistan Economy: A Case of Study. *IBT Journal of Business Studies*, 14(2), 209–220. https://doi.org/10.46745/ILMA.JBS.2018.14.02.17
- Ullah, N., Khan, F., Khan, S. A., & Islam, Z. (2024). Balancing Fiscal Stability and Social Welfare: The IMF's Influence on Pakistan's PTI and PDM Governments. *Social Science Review Archives*, 2(2), 1154–1164. https://doi.org/10.70670/SRA.V2I2.166
- Ur Rehman, S. A., Cai, Y., Mirjat, N. H., Walasai, G. Das, Shah, I. A., & Ali, S. (2017). The Future of Sustainable Energy Production in Pakistan: A System Dynamics-Based Approach for Estimating Hubbert Peaks. *Energies 2017, Vol. 10, Page 1858, 10*(11), 1858. https://doi.org/10.3390/EN10111858
- Uzondu, N. C., & Lele, D. D. (2024). Comprehensive analysis of integrating smart grids with renewable energy sources: Technological advancements, economic impacts, and policy frameworks. *Engineering Science & Technology Journal*, 5(7), 2334–2363. https://doi.org/10.51594/ESTJ.V5I7.1347
- V, M. K. (2024). Political Economy of Manufacturing: Conventional and Nonconventional Practices in the Global Context. *REST Journal on Emerging Trends in Modelling and Manufacturing*, 3(4), 204–208. https://doi.org/10.46632/JEMM/3/4/19
- Vaidya, O. S., & Kumar, S. (2006). Analytic hierarchy process: An overview of applications. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 169(1), 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EJOR.2004.04.028

Valkama, E., Tzemi, D., Esparza-Robles, U. R., Syp, A., O'Toole, A., & Maenhout, P. (2024).

Effectiveness of soil management strategies for mitigation of N2O emissions in European arable land: A meta-analysis. *European Journal of Soil Science*, 75(3), e13488. https://doi.org/10.1111/EJSS.13488

- Vallejos-Romero, A., Cordoves-Sánchez, M., Cisternas, C., Sáez-Ardura, F., Rodríguez, I., Aledo, A., Boso, Á., Prades, J., & Álvarez, B. (2022). Green Hydrogen and Social Sciences: Issues, Problems, and Future Challenges. *Sustainability 2023, Vol. 15, Page 303, 15*(1), 303. https://doi.org/10.3390/SU15010303
- Van Heerden, M., Kleingeld, M., & Vosloo, J. C. (2015). Improving DSM project implementation and sustainability through ISO standards. *International Conference and Utility Exhibition on Green Energy for Sustainable Development*, 2015-Septe, 123–128. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICUE.2015.7280257
- Vandenberg, E. (2024). Asset management and risk based process safety management approaches to the energy trilemma. *Australian Energy Producers Journal*, 64(2), S289–S293. https://doi.org/10.1071/EP23070
- Verma, N. M. P., & Dutta, V. (2013). Understanding Recession: Conceptual Arguments and US Adjustments. *Recession and Its Aftermath: Adjustments in the United States, Australia, and* the Emerging Asia, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-81-322-0532-6_1
- Vuthi, P., Peters, I., & Sudeikat, J. (2022). Agent-based modeling (ABM) for urban neighborhood energy systems : literature review and proposal for an all integrative ABM approach. *Energy Informatics*, 5(S4). https://doi.org/10.1186/S42162-022-00247-Y
- Waheed, S., Waheed, H., Malik, R., & Ghaffar, A. (2022). The Impact of Post-Covid-19 Economic Recession on Public Perception of Climate Change and Environmental Behavior in Pakistan. *Review of Economics and Development Studies*, 8(3), 223–231. https://doi.org/10.47067/READS.V8I3.459
- Wakeel, M., Hayat, T., Shah, N. S., Iqbal, J., Haq Khan, Z. U., Shah, G. M., & Rasool, A. (2023). Biogas Energy Resources in Pakistan Status, Potential, and Barriers. *Utilities Policy*, 84, 101643. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JUP.2023.101643
- Wang, G., & Blondeau, J. (2024). Optimal combination of daily and seasonal energy storage using

battery and hydrogen production to increase the self-sufficiency of local energy communities. *Journal of Energy Storage*, *92*, 112206–112206. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EST.2024.112206

WBA - Worldbioenergy. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2025, from https://www.worldbioenergy.org/

- Weckenborg, C., Schumacher, P., Thies, C., & Spengler, T. S. (2024). Flexibility in manufacturing system design: A review of recent approaches from Operations Research. *European Journal* of Operational Research, 315(2), 413–441. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EJOR.2023.08.050
- Wickramasinghe, Y. W. H., & Zhang, L. (2022). Life Cycle Assessment of Sensible, Latent and Thermochemical Thermal Energy Storage Systems for Climate Change Mitigation – A Systematic Review. *Journal of Energy Technologies and Policy*, 12(5), 2022. https://doi.org/10.7176/JETP/12-5-02
- Wiese, A., Luke, R., Heyns, G. J., & Pisa, N. M. (2015). The integration of lean, green and best practice business principles. *Journal of Transport and Supply Chain Management*, 9(1), 10. https://doi.org/10.4102/JTSCM.V9I1.192
- Wilensky, U. (1999). Wilensky, U. (1999) NetLogo. Center for Connected Learning and Computer-Based Modeling. Northwestern University, Evanston. - References - Scientific Research https://www.scirp.org/reference/referencespapers?referenceid=2351983
- Wins, A., & Zwergel, B. (2014). Comparing Those Who Do, Might and Will Not Invest in Sustainable Funds - A Survey Among German Retail Fund Investors. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/SSRN.2443721
- *World Development Report 2022: FINANCE for an Equitable Recovery.* (n.d.). Retrieved December 29, 2024, from https://www.worldbank.org/en/publication/wdr2022
- *World Development Report 2022: FINANCE for an Equitable Recovery.* (2022). https://www.worldbank.org/en/publication/wdr2022
- World Energy Outlook 2021 Analysis IEA. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2025, from https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2021
- World Energy Outlook 2021 Analysis IEA. (2021). https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-

outlook-2021

- World Energy Outlook 2022 Analysis IEA. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2025, from https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2022
- Wu, L., Sun, L., Chang, Q., Zhang, D., & Qi, P. (2022). How do digitalization capabilities enable open innovation in manufacturing enterprises? A multiple case study based on resource integration perspective. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2022.122019
- Xie, Z., Jin, Q., Su, G., & Lu, W. (2024). A Review of Hydrogen Storage and Transportation: Progresses and Challenges. *Energies 2024, Vol. 17, Page 4070, 17*(16), 4070. https://doi.org/10.3390/EN17164070
- Xu, C., Jing, F., Lu, Y., Ni, Y., Tucker, J., Wu, D., Zhou, Y., Ong, J., Zhang, Q., & Tang, W. (2022). Summarizing methods for estimating population size for key populations: a global scoping review for human immunodeficiency virus research. *AIDS Research and Therapy*, 19(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/S12981-022-00434-7
- Yadav, K., Alsalami, Z., Kala Priydarshini, G., Vaidya, P. R., Thirumani Thangam, V., Kshirsagar, K., & Sujatha, M. S. (2024). Exploring the Potential of Flow Batteries for Large-Scale Energy Storage Systems. *E3S Web of Conferences*, 591, 01009–01009. https://doi.org/10.1051/E3SCONF/202459101009
- YANG, M., ZHANG, P., ZHANG, L., & HAO, Y. (2020). The de-coal process and its driving forces in Beijing. JOURNAL OF NATURAL RESOURCES, 35(11), 2783. https://doi.org/10.31497/ZRZYXB.20201117
- Yaqoob, M., Asghar, W., & Anwar, S. (2024). Weak Occupational Health & Safety (OHS)
 Compliance in the Manufacturing Sector in Pakistan: Recommendations for Improvement. *Journal of Development and Social Sciences*, 5(2), 11–18.
 https://doi.org/10.47205/JDSS.2024(5-II)02
- Yasmeen, H., Tan, Q., Ali, S., & Ismail, H. (2021). Managing environmental quality in Pakistan through sustainable development of energy–economy–environment (3E): insights from graph model of conflict resolution (GMCR). *Management of Environmental Quality: An*

International Journal, 32(5), 1095–1111. https://doi.org/10.1108/MEQ-10-2020-0242/FULL/HTML

- Yihdego, Z., Rieu-Clarke, A., & Cascão, A. E. (2017). The grand ethiopian renaissance dam and the Nile Basin: Implications for transboundary water cooperation. *The Grand Ethiopian Renaissance Dam and the Nile Basin: Implications for Transboundary Water Cooperation*, *October*, 1–224. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315160122
- Yilmaz, F. (2024). Design and performance analysis of hydro and wind-based power and hydrogen generation system for sustainable development. Sustainable Energy Technologies and Assessments, 64, 103742. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SETA.2024.103742
- Yu, H., & Solvang, W. D. (2020). A fuzzy-stochastic multi-objective model for sustainable planning of a closed-loop supply chain considering mixed uncertainty and network flexibility. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 266, 121702. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2020.121702
- Yue, W., Haijun, Z., Xiwen, S., Boyan, C., & Xuerui, Z. (2024). Research on the Approach and Challenges of Green Ammonia as Hydrogen Carrier. ADIPEC. https://doi.org/10.2118/223022-MS
- Yusuf, F., Martins, J. M., & Swanson, D. A. (2014). Elements of Demographic Analysis. *Methods of Demographic Analysis*, 59–95. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-6784-3_4
- Zafar, M. R., & Raja, M. Y. S. (2022). The Challenge of Energy Transition and Energy Security Needs of Pakistan in 21st Century. *Global Foreign Policies Review*, V(I), 11–23. https://doi.org/10.31703/GFPR.2022(V-I).02
- Zavadskas, E. K., & Turskis, Z. (2011). Multiple criteria decision making (MCDM) methods in economics: An overview. *Technological and Economic Development of Economy*, 17(2), 397–427. https://doi.org/10.3846/20294913.2011.593291
- Zhang, D., Yang, Q., & You, Y. (2024). Progress of Optimization in Manufacturing Industries and Energy System. *Processes*, 12(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/PR12050953
- Zhang, H., Heir, E., Nisi, A., & Tomasgard, A. (2024). *Modelling and analysis of multi-timescale uncertainty in energy system planning*. http://arxiv.org/abs/2409.00227

- Zhang, J., & Li, J. (2024). Revolution in Renewables: Integration of Green Hydrogen for a Sustainable Future. *Energies*, *17*(16), 4148–4148. https://doi.org/10.3390/EN17164148
- Zhong, J., & Pei, J. (2024). Carbon border adjustment mechanism: a systematic literature review of the latest developments. *Climate Policy*, 24(2), 228–242. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2023.2190074
- Zhou, B., Liang, B., & Bie, L. (2024). The impact of macroeconomic policy uncertainty on microenterprise investment efficiency—Empirical evidence from China. *PLOS ONE*, 19(6), e0304667. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0304667
- Zhou, P., Ang, B. W., & Poh, K. L. (2006). Decision analysis in energy and environmental modeling: An update. *Energy*, 31(14), 2604–2622. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2005.10.023
- Zoback, M., & Smit, D. (2023). Meeting the challenges of large-scale carbon storage and hydrogen production. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 120(11). https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.2202397120
- Zolina, S. A., Kopytin, I. A., & Reznikova, O. B. (2019). "Сланцевая революция" в сша как главный драйвер перестройки мирового рынка нефти. *Outlines of Global Transformations: Politics, Economics, Law, 12*(6), 71–93. https://doi.org/10.23932/2542-0240-2019-12-6-4
- Zuck, A., & Tsafrir, D. (2023). Degrading Data to Save the Planet. HotOS 2023 Proceedings of the 19th Workshop on Hot Topics in Operating Systems, 61–69. https://doi.org/10.1145/3593856.3595896
- Аралбаева, Г. Г. (2023). Problems of introduction of digital technologies in public administration and provision of public services in the region. Экономика и Предпринимательство, 10(147), 651–655. https://doi.org/10.34925/EIP.2022.147.10.124